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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good

          3  morning. My name is Leroy Comrie. I'm acting as

          4  Chair of the Landmarks Committee. Today is Tuesday,

          5  May 1st. We're having our Landmarks hearing dealing

          6  with Calendar Item LU 0431-2007, Application No.

          7  20075299 HKQ, N-070369 HKQ, pursuant to Section 3020

          8  of the Charter, concerning designation list No. 386,

          9  LP2172 by the Landmarks Preservation Commission of

         10  the Sohmer and Company Piano Factory Building in

         11  Council District 22. This item has been requested to

         12  be laid over.

         13                 Now we will be moving into an

         14  oversight hearing regarding Duffield Street hearing

         15  regarding Duffield Street and the Downtown Brooklyn

         16  Research Study dealing with the Underground

         17  Railroad.

         18                 With that, I want to announce the

         19  Council members that are here. We're joined by

         20  Council Member John Liu from Queens, Council Member

         21  Tish James from Brooklyn, Council Member Charles

         22  Barron from Brooklyn, Council Member Rosie Mendez

         23  from Manhattan and Council Member Minority Leader

         24  James Oddo from Staten Island.

         25                 Good morning, colleagues. With that,
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          2  we will move right into testimony from the City.

          3  Yes, we have the mic on in the other room, so those

          4  people that we would like to hear, and if you don't

          5  want to stand we will be, you can listen in the

          6  other room if you choose to until about 12:15 when

          7  the other hearing starts, so you do not have to

          8  stand. But since there is another hearing that's

          9  already been scheduled to start at 12:15, I was not

         10  able to finagle moving into that room,

         11  unfortunately. So, if anyone would like to not stand

         12  and still listen to the hearing, you can go into the

         13  other room.

         14                 At this present time, we will hear

         15  from New York City Department of Economic

         16  Development Corp., Mr. Thomas McKnight, Vice

         17  President, Ms. Linda, or Linh Do, Senior Vice

         18  President, AKRF, for New York City Economic

         19  Development and Kate Collignon. Excuse me for

         20  mangling your name. You can come to the desk at this

         21  time. We've been joined by Land Use Chair Council

         22  Member Melinda Katz. And you can begin your

         23  presentation as soon as you're ready. Remember to

         24  turn the light off so that the mic can be on.

         25                 MS. COLLIGNON: Good morning. My name
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          2  is Kate Collignon, and I am the Senior Vice

          3  President for Special Projects with the New York

          4  City Economic Development Corporation. I appreciate

          5  the opportunity to address the Council this morning.

          6                 In 2004, EDC joined other City

          7  agencies in bringing before the City Council a ULURP

          8  application for rezoning and other actions, related

          9  to a major economic development initiative in

         10  Downtown Brooklyn.

         11                 The plan sought to create jobs by

         12  providing new opportunities for development and to

         13  enhance the overall environment in Downtown Brooklyn

         14  for local residents. A key component of the plan was

         15  a one-acre public park on Willoughby Street between

         16  Duffield and Gold Streets for public parking below.

         17                 During Council review assertions were

         18  made that certain properties affected by the plan

         19  played an historic role in the Underground Railroad.

         20  When the Council approved the plan in June 2004, the

         21  City committed to additional research in response to

         22  these claims, and since that time, the consultant

         23  firm AKRF, Inc., has conducted an exhaustive

         24  research study, with the participation of a peer

         25  review committee comprised of 12 historians and
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          2  academics.

          3                 The research consisted of three

          4  components: Research of historic records and

          5  evaluation of physical site characteristics of the

          6  buildings, and recording of oral traditions that

          7  might be relevant in determining whether the subject

          8  properties have potential connection to the

          9  Underground Railroad.

         10                 The two-and-a-half-year research

         11  study, the most extensive ever documented in the

         12  City is now complete. It has not confirmed a history

         13  of Underground Railroad activity at the sites in

         14  question. However, the study has provided extensive

         15  documentation of the substantial history of

         16  Underground Railroad activity throughout the larger

         17  Downtown Brooklyn neighborhood. The City is now

         18  prepared to move forward with plans approved for

         19  creation of Willoughby Square, and to work with the

         20  Council going forward to appropriately commemorate

         21  Underground Railroad activity within the larger

         22  area.

         23                 I am pleased to be able to join you

         24  today to discuss the details of the research effort

         25  and the findings detailed in the report. The report
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          2  itself has been provided to the Committee in advance

          3  of the hearing, and I will note for the record, is

          4  also available to the general public on line at

          5  EDC's website.

          6                 I am joined today by Tom McKnight,

          7  Vice President for Special Projects at EDC, and Linh

          8  Do, Senior Vice President at AKRF, who is the

          9  principal in charge of the City.

         10                 Linh is prepared to present the

         11  details of the study and then Tom will describe next

         12  steps, and then the three of us will be open to

         13  answering questions you may have about the research.

         14  Thank you.

         15                 MS. DO: Good morning, Council

         16  members. This study is an expanded research effort

         17  conducted as part of the Downtown Brooklyn

         18  Development Project. For background, during the

         19  public review of the Draft Environmental Impact

         20  Statement for the Downtown Brooklyn Plan, the

         21  property owners of 227-233 Duffield Street and 436

         22  Gold Street, also known as Willoughby Square, came

         23  forward at the public hearing and stated that their

         24  buildings had been used for Underground Railroad

         25  activities.
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          2                 Since the Downtown Brooklyn area was

          3  well known to have been home to an active

          4  abolitionist movement and no documentary evidence

          5  was provided at the time to support the specific

          6  claims, additional historic research was undertaken

          7  to see whether any such association could be found

          8  and those results were to be included in the Final

          9  Environmental Impact Statement. The FEIS publicly in

         10  April 2004 noted no documentable association where

         11  the Underground Railroad was found for the three

         12  properties, and further stated that the potential

         13  existence of tunnels under the buildings, and any

         14  corroborating artifacts could not be determined

         15  without further testing.

         16                 The FEIS noted that a visual

         17  inspection of the building interiors was needed to

         18  ascertain the existence of other artifacts and a

         19  continuous soil borings would need to be undertaken.

         20                 If the soil borings indicated a

         21  potential for archeological sensitivity, then a

         22  Stage 1B testing would be performed. As part of the

         23  public approvals, the Land Use went through a public

         24  review process that included a hearing at the City

         25  Council.
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          2                 While the Council approved the

          3  Downtown Brooklyn Plan, it requested that the City

          4  continue further researching the property owner's

          5  claims.

          6                 A letter presented to the Council

          7  requested that the research be expanded to include

          8  four additional sites that were claimed to have

          9  historic connections to the Underground Railroad.

         10  The results of the expanded research would then be

         11  presented at a City Council Landmarks Subcommittee

         12  Hearing.

         13                 The research objective was determined

         14  whether a significant association with the

         15  Underground Railroad could be documented for any of

         16  the subject properties. As you can see here, the

         17  properties are located on Block 146, bounded by

         18  Duffield Street on the West, Willoughby Street to

         19  the north, Gold Street to the east, and Fulton

         20  Street to the South. They are 223 Duffield Street,

         21  225, 227, 231, 233, 235 Duffield Street, and 436

         22  Gold Street is the last piece on the right.

         23                 The AKRF team has undertaken a good

         24  faith effort to conduct a rigorous and thorough

         25  research study. It is one of the most detailed
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          2  research endeavors on the Underground Railroad in

          3  New York City.

          4                 After two years of research, I am

          5  here today to present the details of the Board's

          6  findings.

          7                 The framework of the report was to

          8  conduct research on subject sites for the period of

          9  significance using methodologies developed in

         10  concert with peer review members. And to evaluate

         11  the significance of the sites using existing

         12  criteria, which I will discuss shortly.

         13                 The peak period of abolitionist

         14  activity occurred between 1830 and 1865 with the end

         15  of the Civil War. The enactment of the Fugitive

         16  Slave Act of 1850 made it possible for the federal

         17  government to assist in the recapture and return of

         18  fugitives. This made it difficult for freedom

         19  seekers to stay in urban areas. It is believed that

         20  New York City was more active during this period in

         21  the harboring and moving through of freedom seekers.

         22                 For this research study, the period

         23  of significance starts at 1847 and 1848, this is

         24  when subject properties were first developed. Prior

         25  to this time they were undeveloped blocks.
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          2                 We reviewed the building construction

          3  and alteration histories to determine whether they

          4  still retained the physical integrity for the period

          5  of significance, and to also evaluate claims of

          6  anomalous architecture and structural features that

          7  were directly linked to the Underground Railroad.

          8                 We reviewed the owner and residency

          9  history to the extent possible, and what, if any,

         10  records exist of owners and residents possible

         11  connections to abolitionist churches and

         12  anti-slavery societies.

         13                 And lastly, what information on the

         14  building's histories could be drawn from oral

         15  traditions? Were there any additional research needs

         16  that need to be followed up on that couldn't be

         17  found in the regular document records?

         18                 This next slide lists the 17

         19  different sources that the research report

         20  consulted. They included City agencies, they

         21  included City directories and registers, archival

         22  information, newspapers, genealogical websites, and

         23  societies, church records, religious societies and a

         24  number of collective papers and memoirs from noted

         25  abolitionists.
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          2                 For this study we also reached out to

          3  over 200 people, organizations and institutions. At

          4  this time, I would like to clarify certain

          5  mischaracterizations from the last hearing on the

          6  nature of consultation and outreach.

          7                 As part of our research, our

          8  historians contacted representatives from a number

          9  of agencies, organizations and institutions to

         10  obtain information.

         11                 Among them included the Schomburg

         12  Center, the Weeksville Society and the Bridge Street

         13  Church. Perhaps because the study was in its

         14  infancy, the recollection of outreach may have been

         15  lost with some of the contact persons at these

         16  institutions. In particular --

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We are not

         18  going to tolerate comments. We'll put people out.

         19  It's going to be a long hearing as it is. There are

         20  over 30 people that have signed up to speak. So,

         21  anyone that starts giggling is going out the room.

         22  And I just want you to know, I did a three and a

         23  half hour hearing yesterday, and that went well. I'm

         24  not in the mood to play games today. Respect each

         25  other in this room.
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          2                 MS. DO: In particular, Christopher

          3  Moore of the Schomburg Center expressed concern that

          4  AKRF attributed statements to him when he had no

          5  recollection of having been contacted by AKRF.

          6  Following Mr. Moore's claim that he had not been

          7  contacted by our staff members, we provided Mr.

          8  Moore with the details of his conversation with our

          9  historian. In a follow-up letter Mr. Moore responded

         10  that while he did not recall the conversation, the

         11  information we attributed to him was consistent with

         12  his remarks and he agreed that a misunderstanding

         13  had taken place.

         14                 AKRF has never mischaracterized or

         15  misrepresented our outreach and we have detailed

         16  contact logs that support this.

         17                 While AKRF has a staff of historians

         18  for certain projects which supplement our in-house

         19  expertise with a wider pool of experts. As part of

         20  this research effort, we reached out to local

         21  historians and representatives of local historical

         22  societies, academics specializing in

         23  African-American history and the Underground

         24  Railroad, and representatives of the New York State

         25  Free Trail Commission.
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          2                 These representatives who we refer to

          3  as peer reviewers review the scope of research and

          4  the data collected, gave feedback on any research

          5  issues, required further data collection, or

          6  additional resources.

          7                 They also reviewed and commented on

          8  the draft and final research reports and drafted

          9  findings on the final report. This slide lists the

         10  12 peer reviewers.

         11                 In alphabetical order they start with

         12  Leslie Alexander, an Assistant Professor in the

         13  Department of History at Ohio State University; Dr.

         14  Raymond Dobard of the Department of Art at Howard

         15  University; James Driscoll, a local historian and

         16  co-author of Angels of Deliverance. He is also

         17  associated with the Queens Historical Society. Dr.

         18  Leslie Harris, an Associate Professor of the

         19  Department of History at Emory University; Richard

         20  Hourahan, also a local historian. He is also the

         21  co-author of Angles of Deliverance and he is

         22  associated with the Queens Historical Society.

         23  Andrew P. Jackson, Executive Director of the

         24  Langston Hughes Community Library and Cultural

         25  Center. He is also a member of the New York State
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          2  Freedom Trial Commission. Dr. Marilyn Pettit. She is

          3  the Vice President for Collections at the Brooklyn

          4  Historical Society. Dr. Cheryl LaRoche, who is an

          5  Adjunct Professor at the Department of History at

          6  the Georgetown University. She was invited to be a

          7  peer reviewer at the request of the property owners.

          8  Milton Sernett, Professor Emeritus at Syracuse

          9  University and also a member of the New York State

         10  Freedom Trail Commission. Dr. Judith Wellman.  She

         11  is associated with SUNY Oswego (phonetic). She is

         12  also the developer of what we'll term the Wellman

         13  Scale, later on in this presentation. Dr. Craig

         14  Wilder, Professor at Dartmouth University in the

         15  Department of History; and Dr. A.J. Williams-Myers,

         16  a Professor of Black Studies at SUNY New Paltz. Dr.

         17  Williams-Myers is also a New York State Freedom

         18  Trail Commission Member.

         19                 All of our peer reviewers have had

         20  extensive experience in either Underground Railroad

         21  research, abolitionists, and African-American

         22  history.

         23                 In terms of the criteria for

         24  significance, the report considered several existing

         25  criterias in evaluation of the seven sites potential
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          2  eligibility for designation. These included:

          3                 - National Historic Landmark.

          4                 - The Underground Railroad Resources

          5  in the US Theme Study sponsored by the National Park

          6  Service.

          7                 - The National Underground Railroad

          8  Network to Freedom Program, also sponsored by the

          9  National Park Service; and lastly

         10                 - the multiple property nomination to

         11  the National Register of Historic Places. This is

         12  also known as the "Wellman Scale."

         13                 The Wellman Scale is basically a one

         14  to five rating scale that separates sites that can

         15  reliably identified as having an association with

         16  the Underground Railroad from those that cannot or

         17  require more research.

         18                 A little bit more about the Wellman

         19  Scale. This scale has been used by New York State's

         20  Underground Railroad Heritage Trail Designation

         21  Forum. The sites that receive a rating of four or

         22  five should be considered significantly documented

         23  to warrant nomination to the National Register.

         24                 In terms of the rankings. A rating of

         25  one means it's probably not involved. A rating of
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          2  two, some possibility of involvement. Either an

          3  owner's name may have appeared on a list of people

          4  who attended an Anti-Slavery Convention, or signed

          5  an Anti-Slavery petition. But there has been no

          6  clear evidence of association with the Underground

          7  Railroad.

          8                 A rating of three, of quite possibly

          9  involved, where there is considerable evidence of an

         10  owners consistent and long-term commitment to

         11  abolitionism, but no positive evidence of

         12  Underground Railroad involvement.

         13                 Four, almost certainly involved with

         14  a considerable documentary evidence of an owner or

         15  residence abolitionist activities, strong local

         16  association of sites often carry through oral

         17  tradition with the Underground Railroad, as well as

         18  census or cemetery records that may list the place

         19  of birth and strongly suggest that these

         20  African-Americans were born in slavery.

         21                 And lastly, certainly involved, where

         22  there is a strong local association of the person to

         23  the site, and that it is combined with primary

         24  evidence with documentation such as a diary. It's

         25  also recorded by someone directly involved, which is
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          2  oral history.

          3                 So, these were the ratings that we

          4  used in terms of the evaluation of our studies. In

          5  terms of fair context, the Underground Railroad

          6  heritage trail sites in New York State, here are

          7  three main examples, the Gerrit Smith Estate in

          8  Madison County, Seth Emgate's House in Wyoming

          9  County, and Plymouth Church here in Brooklyn. Here

         10  we have supporting documentation that includes that

         11  includes diaries with accounts of assistance to

         12  freedom seekers. Written family traditions that can

         13  be verified through newspapers and other records,

         14  and then there are also accounts in letters to

         15  abolitionist newspapers.

         16                 In addition to that, as part of

         17  another element in determining eligibility, is

         18  whether the structures have retained fiscal

         19  integrity, which is the ability of a property to

         20  convey its importance through either its location,

         21  its design, its setting, its materials, its feeling

         22  and its association.

         23                 New York City and Brooklyn were

         24  important sites of Underground Railroad assistance,

         25  as can be seen in the freedom journals of Henry
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          2  Hyland Garnett, Jay W.C. Pennington, Harriet Jacobs,

          3  Ann Maria Weems, and Frederick Douglas. As is shown

          4  here, a number of sites in the Downtown Brooklyn and

          5  surrounding area have been reported to have

          6  connections with the Underground Railroad, either of

          7  sites of active abolitionist movement or having

          8  served as stations on the Underground Railroad.

          9                 Among them include Plymouth Church,

         10  Brooklyn Friends Meeting House, Bridge Street

         11  Church, as well. And you'll note on there that those

         12  are also landmarked properties.

         13                 In addition, a number of persons

         14  prominently associated with the abolitionist

         15  movement or the Underground Railroad activities

         16  lived in Downtown Brooklyn and the larger Brooklyn

         17  area. And this included Lewis Tappan, Martha Mont

         18  Lord (phonetic) and Marianne James Tredwell, as well

         19  as William Harned.

         20                 To answer the property owner's

         21  identification of architectural and structural

         22  anomalies, including the presence of tunnels

         23  connecting the homes and sub-cellar features used to

         24  hide freedom seekers, we reviewed historic map

         25  surveys and archival Department of Building filings
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          2  to determine the potential level of alterations of

          3  the seven properties.

          4                 The project also retained Michael

          5  Devonshire, a principal at Yonhurd Portney

          6  (phonetic), an architectural firm. He is also an

          7  architectural historian who was the restoration

          8  director at Weeksville. To undertake an independent

          9  assessment of the anomalous sub cellar features, and

         10  the potential existence of a tunnel underneath the

         11  sidewalks of Duffield Street.

         12                 A site inspection tour of six out of

         13  the seven buildings was conducted, and that report

         14  has been included in appendix D of the study.

         15                 The next seven slides will quickly

         16  detail the construction history for each of the

         17  seven buildings.

         18                 223 Duffield Street we believe was

         19  originally constructed between 1846 and 1848.

         20  Originally it was a wood structure with a wood front

         21  and back extensions. We assume that the foundations

         22  of the building are still the same. In the 1880s an

         23  additional story was added. Early 1900s a concrete

         24  lined coal chute was constructed at the front

         25  facade. Between 1915 and 1938 there were a number of
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          2  other replacements and extensions built.

          3                 The anomalous feature was identified

          4  in the historic construction review as being a

          5  ventilation while located at the rear of the cellar.

          6  The 225 Duffield Street, our records indicate that

          7  it was originally constructed between 1847 and 1950.

          8  By 1941, the original structure had been replaced by

          9  this existing structure here.

         10                 There have been significantly altered

         11  walls at the cellar level, based on the historic

         12  construction inspection. For 227 Duffield Street, we

         13  believe that the building was original constructed

         14  some time between 1848 and 1850. The current

         15  structure is assumed to be the same one on the site.

         16                 Between 1915 and 1938, the wooden

         17  front portion was replaced by a two brick extension,

         18  which you see there. Between 1912 and 1936,

         19  Department of Building records indicate a number of

         20  alterations.

         21                 Additionally, the anomalous feature

         22  that was identified in the historic construction

         23  review is being identified as a ventilation well

         24  located at the rear facade of the cellar.

         25                 For 231 Duffield Street the original
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          2  building was constructed in 1850. Department of

          3  Building records indicate that there was an

          4  alteration permit in the mid-1940s, and then between

          5  1950 and '69 a one-story front extension was built.

          6  This was the only site that was not available as

          7  part of the historic construction review

          8  inspections.

          9                 233 Duffield Street. The original

         10  building was constructed some time between 1848 and

         11  1850, and we believe that the current structures

         12  assume to be the same. In the 1880s an additional

         13  story was added, 1922, Department of Buildings'

         14  records indicate an alteration permit.

         15                 The historic construction review

         16  identified two anomalous features as being an

         17  altered ventilation well located at the rear facade

         18  of the cellar, a ventilation shaft at the front of

         19  the facade that is concealed by newer construction,

         20  only one anomalous feature was identified. An

         21  eight-by-eight area on the floor of the front of the

         22  cellar, which has not been covered with concrete.

         23  The soil within this area is well compacted, and

         24  although this area is the anomalous feature of the

         25  cellar, the disturbed conditions of the soil in this
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          2  area result in questionable archeological value.

          3                 In addition, 233 Duffield Street was

          4  identified earlier in the FEIS as being potentially

          5  eligible for designation as a New York City

          6  landmark, and listing for the State and National

          7  Register. The designation is based more on its age

          8  as a wood framed structure, and its determination is

          9  not related to any potential Underground Railroad

         10  association.

         11                 235 Duffield Street was originally

         12  constructed in 1847. In 1880, it was raised to three

         13  stories with a basement. In the early 1900s, the

         14  building was refaced. The bay front and the cornice

         15  and the two-story extension was added. And

         16  throughout the 1920s the Department of Buildings

         17  indicate a number of alterations.

         18                 And lastly, 436 Gold Street. It was

         19  believed to be built some time between 1855 and

         20  1865, and we assume that the current structure is

         21  probably the same.

         22                 The reason for that is that we've had

         23  some contradictory -- the maps aren't quite so

         24  clear. Possible that the structure was built after

         25  1864, but before the surveyors' map of August 1865.
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          2  In 1867, the tax records indicate it was a two and a

          3  half stories, by the late 19th century, the building

          4  was raised to three stories.

          5                 1880s, there was a significant

          6  modification to expand the rear facade and possibly

          7  the front facade. The building has been

          8  significantly modified twice, and we believe that it

          9  pretty much has removed all of the original

         10  construction elements.

         11                 Now, in order to address the

         12  potential that 19th century maps indicated a tunnel

         13  connecting the houses being studied, we consulted

         14  with the Sanborn Company, Sanborn Map Company.

         15  According to the Sanborn Map representative, the

         16  dash lines that indicate the open portions, which

         17  are typically wooden but can be made of other

         18  materials, two parallel dash lines can also indicate

         19  a tunnel, but in such cases, usually there is an arc

         20  at the end of the line and a notation with tunnel.

         21                 The dash line shown here, and

         22  unfortunately I can't find my laser pointer, the

         23  dash lines that you see in front of 223 and 227

         24  Duffield Street in the historic maps, are also shown

         25  in other historic maps where the buildings still
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          2  retain their porches.

          3                 What we have here is one such

          4  example, East 129th Street. Here, if you look at the

          5  Sanborn maps from 1896, you'll see that there are

          6  dash lines on the southern end of the epochs (sic)

          7  facing East 129th Street.

          8                 Then you'll see in the lower

          9  right-hand side a picture from 1932, that shows the

         10  properties indicating their porches, and then a

         11  current picture in today where they still retain

         12  those wooden porches.

         13                 We also examine current sewer and

         14  watermain maps of the Duffield Street area, as well

         15  as historical maps, none of which indicate a tunnel

         16  beneath the sidewalks of Duffield Street.

         17                 So, as part of the building

         18  construction and alteration history, it indicates

         19  that all of the buildings have, since their initial

         20  construction in the mid-19th century have undergone

         21  significant alterations.

         22                 Moreover, the resulting historic

         23  construction review report noted that with the

         24  exception of one unpaid section at 233 Duffield

         25  Street, there are no anomalous or sub cellar
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          2  features, no communications between buildings exist

          3  at the cellar levels, and the identified features

          4  conform to general construction practices of the

          5  time period.

          6                 The next phase of this report has to

          7  do with the collection of oral traditions. First,

          8  let's define there is two parts of this: there is

          9  oral history versus oral tradition. Oral history

         10  focuses on interviewing people about events and

         11  practices in their own lives creating what we call

         12  "a primary source document." Oral tradition is part

         13  of the cultural patterns that have been passed down

         14  from one generation to another. Some of the oral

         15  traditions have direct lineage to the original

         16  participants. Some of the others are really derived

         17  from written records and some of them are based on

         18  community memory, rather than first person accounts.

         19                 In terms of, because none of the

         20  people interviewed were alive during the time of the

         21  period of significance, our effort was to collect

         22  oral traditions relating to the properties and their

         23  owners and their residents, rather than first person

         24  accounts.

         25                 It is standard practice in the
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          2  collection of oral histories and traditions to

          3  provide the potential interviewee's informed consent

          4  statements to review and sign and to explain the

          5  interview, the transcription and the approval and

          6  release process.

          7                 The property owners were provided

          8  with these forms for review, and made comments that

          9  were incorporated into the final version of the

         10  documents, to protect the intellectual properties of

         11  the interviewees, a no transcripts of the interviews

         12  were included as part of the report until they had

         13  been approved and released by the interviewees.

         14                 The interviewees were presented with

         15  a literal transcription of their interviews, which

         16  they had the opportunity to edit, or change as

         17  desired.

         18                 If an interviewee signed the release

         19  form, the transcript of his or her interview would

         20  be included in the publication. In terms of how we

         21  approach the oral history, we received

         22  recommendations of qualified oral historians from

         23  elected officials, peer reviewers, as well as

         24  recommendations from over 28 associations and

         25  organizations.
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          2                 We had developed lists of questions

          3  to identify oral traditions related specifically to

          4  the properties being studied. Interviews were

          5  scheduled with whoever was suggested by the property

          6  owners or others and made themselves available.

          7                 Several people who were recommended

          8  as interviewers declined to participate. For us the

          9  process was from September 2004 through January

         10  2003. We have three separate oral tradition efforts.

         11  Starting September '04 to October '04, we had

         12  Jennifer Scott was selected, but was unable to set

         13  up interviews with the property owners and had to

         14  end her effort in October because of academic

         15  commitments.

         16                 We then restarted the process again,

         17  and between November 2004 and May of '05, Dr. Philip

         18  Napoli and Camille Jackson at Brooklyn College began

         19  communicating with the property owners to introduce

         20  themselves and to set up interviews.

         21                 A series of health issues prevented

         22  some of the property owners from meeting with the

         23  Brooklyn College Team. The property owners were then

         24  reluctant to accept their qualifications, and

         25  declined to participate.
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          2                 The Brooklyn College Team ended their

          3  effort in May of 2005, because they had academic

          4  commitments and resistance from the perspective

          5  interviewees. Only one interview was conducted but

          6  no release was given.

          7                 In August of 2005 the oral history

          8  effort was restarted again. By October of 2005, Dr.

          9  Deloris Walters, who at the time was associated with

         10  the National Underground Railroad Freedom Center in

         11  Ohio, and who worked with Dr. Carl Westmoreland

         12  (phonetic), was brought in. Dr. Walters met with the

         13  property owners and other potential interviewees and

         14  seven people were interviewed with only one release.

         15  One property owner was not available for the

         16  interview and submitted written responses to

         17  questions. Another property later submitted a

         18  written statement in lieu of transcripts.

         19                 Thus, out of a collection of eight

         20  oral tradition transcripts, the report could only

         21  include one release.

         22                 The oral tradition outreach also was

         23  augmented. At the suggestion of the peer reviewers,

         24  we sent out notices to a number of local churches

         25  that were in existence at the time of period of
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          2  significance, and also to the Brooklyn Alumni

          3  Chapters of African-American fraternities and

          4  sororities. This is in the hopes that perhaps they

          5  may have connections to elderly community members,

          6  who may have recollections of relevant oral

          7  traditions.

          8                 It should be noted that while not all

          9  of the interviewees had consented to release their

         10  transcripts, a summary of the salient points from

         11  those transcripts were included in the report and

         12  where relevant leads were identified, there was a

         13  follow-up, research was undertaken. We followed up

         14  on potential additional research leads, including

         15  trying to corroborate information related to Carbin

         16  Smith (phonetic) and Georgia Ware, who were

         17  identified as sources of oral tradition, as well as

         18  with the Jacobs's and Heiman's family. We also

         19  reached out to Paul Truesdale, regarding oral

         20  traditions that may exist in this family.

         21                 The research needs came out of --

         22  that came out of the oral tradition also resulted in

         23  us pursuing additional research, including looking

         24  at the Father Kelly research collection at St.

         25  Francis College, as well as other property deeds and
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          2  wills.

          3                 The last part of this, taking into

          4  account some of the oral traditions and some of the

          5  leads there, led us into some of the documentary

          6  research on the owner residency and potential

          7  associations with abolitionist churches and

          8  anti-slavery organizations.

          9                 The record search included the review

         10  City registers, which were property deeds and tax

         11  assessment records, of Brooklyn City directories,

         12  which spanned 40 years. It's the precursor of the

         13  phone book, as well as digitized publications and

         14  collect the papers of prominent individuals, such as

         15  Lewis Tappan, Henry Ward Beecher, the John Jay

         16  family. We also looked at 15 historic and current

         17  maps.

         18                 In all, we reviewed over 190 names

         19  associated with the sites. Each name search were not

         20  limited to just those identified by the property

         21  owners and their materials or through oral

         22  traditions. But also through City directories and

         23  the seven slides that follow just quickly goes

         24  through some of the personalities that we came up

         25  with as part of the research.
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          2                 For 223 Duffield Street, we

          3  identified Edward, Anna and Emma Smith as potential

          4  name matches to church-goers, church members at the

          5  Siloam Presbyterian Church. These were common names

          6  and at the time, based on the dates, they were

          7  children, so therefore there is no inference that

          8  can be drawn.

          9                 In searching the Brooklyn City

         10  Directories for the relevant years, we pulled up

         11  multiple entries for these names, therefore, which

         12  of these entries corresponded to church membership

         13  listings could not be confirmed.

         14                 In addition, Ira Perego and Ira

         15  Perego, Jr. (phonetic) were lot owners between 1858

         16  and 1868, and they were noted members of the Sand

         17  Street Methodist Episcopal Church. This church was

         18  not known to have contained an abolitionist

         19  congregation or participate in Underground Railroad,

         20  and these individuals never lived on the property.

         21                 None of the collected oral traditions

         22  directly relate to the owners or residents of 223

         23  Duffield Street during the period of significance.

         24                 225 Duffield Street, some of the

         25  names that came up were Nathaniel Bonnel (phonetic),
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          2  who was a resident from 1847 to 1858. He was noted

          3  to be a member of the Sand Street Methodist

          4  Episcopal Church. Again, this church was not known

          5  to have abolitionist congregations and therefore no

          6  inference could be made.

          7                 Giddeon Mapes (phonetic), who was a

          8  lot owner between 1867 and -- 1866 and 1867, signed

          9  an anti-abolitionist petition.  The petition

         10  renounced the Harpers Ferry incident (phonetic) as

         11  published in the New York Times. However, it's

         12  understood that just because you signed the petition

         13  it's not the same that you're endorsing pro-slavery.

         14  It could be that you just wanted to distance

         15  yourself from such a violent event. The name match

         16  could not be considered to provide significant

         17  information on Underground Railroad activities. None

         18  of the collected oral traditions directly relate to

         19  the owners and residents of this site.

         20                 227 Duffield Street. Here we looked

         21  at Daniel Lloyd or Daniel Lord, Jr., who was a lot

         22  owner from 1847 to 1848. There is no significance to

         23  be drawn from Daniel Lord's brief ownership of the

         24  property. There are various listings for that name

         25  that seems to have contradictory information
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          2  regarding his potential abolition of sympathies and

          3  therefore it's not considered conclusive. In any

          4  case, Mr. Lord does not appear to have owned or

          5  occupied the building after its development.

          6                 The next name that came up was

          7  Elizabeth Harris, who was identified as a servant in

          8  the Truesdale household. The census notes indicate

          9  that she's black, from North Carolina. There is also

         10  a membership listing for an Elizabeth Harris at the

         11  Shiloh Presbyterian Church, but given the time and

         12  the year difference, it's unlikely to be a match

         13  given that she would have been eight years old at

         14  the time and still a resident of North Carolina.

         15                 Harriet and Thomas Truesdale. There

         16  is considerable evidence of a consistent involvement

         17  in the abolitionist movement, although there is no

         18  positive documentary resource evidence identified as

         19  Underground Railroad involvement at this particular

         20  site.

         21                 Then George Chatel had given us

         22  written submissions that references the Truesdale

         23  family, and Elizabeth Harris as a freedom seeker. We

         24  also made contact with Paul Truesdale, Jr., who is

         25  the great grandson of Thomas Truesdell, and his
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          2  second wife, Janet Margery Gunn. He's active in

          3  searching his family's genealogy, and to his

          4  knowledge there is no oral tradition related to the

          5  Truesdale family's potential involvement in the

          6  Underground Railroad.

          7                 231 came up with John Ackley

          8  (phonetic), a lot owner from 1850 to 1853. He was a

          9  member of the Seventh Presbyterian Church, was just

         10  not known to have any abolitionist leanings, and

         11  therefore, there is no inferences that can be made.

         12                 There is also a listing of Mr. Hunter

         13  as a member of the Siloam Presbyterian Church.

         14  Again, it seems unlikely matched Robert Hunter, who

         15  was a lot resident in 1862 through 1866. Given the

         16  lack of the first name and the common nature of the

         17  last name, we made no inferences there.

         18                 There is Peter and Mary Hall's lot

         19  residence from 1855 to 1856. They are presumed to be

         20  members of the Plymouth Church from 1860 to 1872.

         21  This church membership, however, post dates their

         22  tenancy at 231 Duffield Street. There is no

         23  documentary evidence of abolitionist activities

         24  during their tenancy at Duffield Street. There is no

         25  significance to be derived from Sophia Hill, as
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          2  employment with the Hall's Household.

          3                 Jason Donnagan's written submission

          4  references the Hall's family. We tried to

          5  investigate some more to see if there were any

          6  linkages. Individuals and/or documentary records

          7  that would create a linkage between the Hall's

          8  family and the Chatel family as the carriers of this

          9  oral tradition have not yet been identified.

         10                 In terms of 233 Duffield Street, we

         11  looked at Thomas Edwards, who was the lot developer.

         12  He was noted to be a member of the Plymouth Church.

         13  This is somewhat a common name, based on City

         14  directories, and it's uncertain whether or not this

         15  membership listing is a match.

         16                 He also does not appear to have

         17  occupied 233 Duffield Street after its development.

         18  William Jones, Charles Lew as Mary Clark, Mary

         19  Foster, they were all potential name matches with

         20  church memberships, in particular with the Lafayette

         21  Avenue Presbyterian Church and Plymouth Church,

         22  which were well-known abolitionist churches.

         23                 A listing for William Jones as a

         24  subscriber to the National Anti-Slavery Standard is

         25  considered to be an unlikely match, given that
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          2  William Jones was seven years old at the time.

          3                 There were name matches related to

          4  Reverend John Crawford, from Washington Street

          5  Methodist Church, and Reverend Francis Peck at St.

          6  Mark's Church. But, however, these churches were not

          7  known to have been abolitionists and they have not

          8  been reported to have been Underground Railroad

          9  stations.

         10                 235 Duffield Street was membership

         11  listings for Mrs. H.G. Nichols (phonetic), who was a

         12  lot resident between 1852 and 1855. It's not

         13  considered -- we looked at it and we're not sure

         14  whether or not it's a match. We think it is.

         15  Although, the church has not been reported to be an

         16  Underground Railroad station, it is connected where

         17  Reverend Charles Pettit Nocovane (phonetic) an

         18  abolitionist, however, there is no documentary

         19  evidence of long-term consistent involvement by Mrs.

         20  Henry G. Nichols.

         21                 William Wash was a lot resident in

         22  1855 and he was a noted member of the Sand Street

         23  Methodist Episcopal Church. Again, this church was

         24  not known to have any abolitionist congregation.

         25                 There is no significance that can be
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          2  drawn from Daniel Lord or Thomas Edwards's brief

          3  ownership of the property. None of the collected

          4  oral traditions directly relate to the owners or

          5  residents of the site here.

          6                 And the last site here is 436 Gold

          7  Street. Again, the property may date to active a

          8  period of significance. Two probable name matches

          9  with the membership listings for St. Ann's and the

         10  First Presbyterian Church, that's Mrs. E. Sackett

         11  and Samuel Fleet (phonetic). The listings are not

         12  considered significant in linking the site to

         13  abolitionism or to the Underground Railroad, since

         14  additionally these individuals did not live at the

         15  property after its development. There are no

         16  collective oral traditions that directly relate to

         17  the owners or residents of this site.

         18                 As you can see, it's a very detailed

         19  report and I'm sorry that a lot of this is very dry,

         20  but that is the nature of the record search that

         21  we've done.

         22                 It's important for you to understand

         23  how, for lack of a better word, how numbing this can

         24  all be, but a great wealth of data that has been

         25  uncovered. In terms of some of the conclusions,
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          2  taking into consideration the historic construction

          3  review, the ownership, residency owner records, the

          4  oral traditions that related to the subject sites,

          5  and evaluating them within the context of the

          6  existing criteria, three of the subject properties

          7  were assigned to be a rating of one. These were the

          8  223, 225 and 436 Gold Street properties. Given the

          9  research that has come to date, they did not have

         10  anything that was probably involved with Underground

         11  Railroad activities.

         12                 Three properties were assigned a

         13  rating of two. This is 231 Duffield Street, which

         14  was related to Peter and Mary Hall's residency, and

         15  their presumed match with the Plymouth Church.

         16                 233 Duffield Street related to

         17  potential name matches with Lafayette Avenue

         18  Presbyterian Church and Plymouth Church members,

         19  both churches were known to have abolitionist

         20  congregations.

         21                 235 Duffield Street related to Mrs.

         22  Henry G. Nichols, which is probably a match for

         23  membership at St. Ann's Church. Again, this church

         24  was connected to Reverend Charles McAvane

         25  (phonetic), an abolitionist.
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          2                 Only one property was assigned a

          3  rating of three, which was possibly involved.

          4  Considerable evidence of an owner's consistent

          5  long-term commitment to abolitionism, but no

          6  positive evidence of Underground Railroad

          7  involvement. And this was 225 Duffield Street. And

          8  it's related to Thomas and Harriet Truesdale -- 227,

          9  forgive me -- a family with well-documented

         10  abolitionist ties, but we were not able to find

         11  documentary source evidence of Underground Railroad

         12  involvement at this particular property. And all the

         13  elements of oral tradition could not be corroborated

         14  with documentary resources.

         15                 So, the information on the

         16  properties, the owners and the residents identified

         17  through this research process, and the oral

         18  tradition collection effort, did not conclusively

         19  document the presence of Underground Railroad

         20  activity at the subject properties, although one

         21  property, 227 Duffield Street, is associated with

         22  the family with well-documented abolitionist ties. A

         23  good faith research effort has been conducted to

         24  learn as much as possible about the subject

         25  properties and their potential Underground Railroad
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          2  association. The report presents a wealth of

          3  information and reconfirms that the greater Downtown

          4  Brooklyn area played an active role in the

          5  Underground Railroad movement and abolitionism.

          6                 However, based on the extensive

          7  research and review, an application of the existing

          8  criterias for Underground Railroad designation,

          9  there is no corroborating evidence that these

         10  properties were directly linked to the Underground

         11  Railroad.

         12                 And with that, I end my presentation,

         13  and Tom McKnight.

         14                 MS. McKNIGHT: Thanks, Linh.

         15                 With the approval of the Downtown

         16  Brooklyn Plan in 2004, the City committed to the

         17  completion of the detailed research effort to

         18  determine whether Duffield and Gold Street

         19  properties had a documentable link to the

         20  Underground Railroad. That commitment has been

         21  fulfilled and the work is now completed. The

         22  research, as you've seen, was thorough and

         23  far-reaching. Many, many avenues of research were

         24  pursued and investigated.

         25                 The effort was bolstered to the
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          2  participation of the peer reviewers, who provided

          3  guidance and expertise through the process.

          4                 The report has not identified a

          5  connection between the subject properties to the

          6  Underground Railroad. What it has re-confirmed,

          7  however, is the significant role that the Greater

          8  Downtown Brooklyn Community did play, primarily

          9  through its religious institutions in the

         10  Underground Railroad.

         11                 With the conclusion of the report,

         12  the City is moving ahead with the plan for Downtown

         13  Brooklyn, approved by the Council in 2004. The plan

         14  calls for the creation of Willoughby Square, a

         15  signature one-acre park with below-grade parking.

         16  The project will both provide a new open space

         17  resource for the community and address the area's

         18  longstanding parking issues.

         19                 As the next step towards

         20  implementation, the City has scheduled an EDPL

         21  hearing for May 22nd. The public hearing will

         22  provide effective property owners and community

         23  members with an opportunity to comment on the

         24  property acquisitions necessary to move ahead with

         25  the plan for Willoughby Square.
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          2                 At the same time, the City recognizes

          3  that the Greater Downtown Brooklyn area played a

          4  significant role in the history of the Underground

          5  Railroad, as was disclosed through the research.

          6                 This was an opportunity to make sure

          7  this fact is widely known to the general public. The

          8  City looks forward to working with the City Council

          9  and community stakeholders to create a task force

         10  whose mission would be to commemorate the role of

         11  Downtown Brooklyn and the Underground Railroad.

         12                 This task force could solicit

         13  proposals from Brooklyn's cultural community, with

         14  the goal of identifying an appropriate way to

         15  commemorate this unsung history. We look forward to

         16  further developing this concept in partnership with

         17  the Council in the coming weeks.

         18                 With that, we will now be pleased to

         19  answer any questions you may have about the research

         20  effort.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, we

         22  were joined by Council Member Martinez, Yassky and

         23  Arroyo. We have questions from Council Member Liu,

         24  Barron, James and Yassky.

         25                 But before they ask any questions, I
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          2  want to take the temporary privilege. This study

          3  took how long?

          4                 MS. COLLIGNON: Two and a half years.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And the

          6  study was done by AKRF?

          7                 MS. COLLIGNON: AKRF, Incorporated.

          8  That's correct.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And

         10  how much did this study cost?

         11                 MS. COLLIGNON: I don't have the final

         12  numbers. It's approximately $500,000.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And AKRF

         14  was chosen after what process?

         15                 MS. COLLIGNON: They were chosen based

         16  on their extensive historic research capabilities

         17  in-house, as well as their knowledge of the Downtown

         18  Brooklyn area. And their locations for accessing

         19  historic information about the area.

         20                 They also had the in-house resources

         21  necessary to undertake the 3,000 plus person hours

         22  of research that was required to complete this

         23  effort. As we described, we wanted to make sure that

         24  they also had access to the broadest range of

         25  possible expertise nationwide, as well as to the
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          2  most recent expertise in terms of research

          3  methodology, and so formed the Peer Review Group, in

          4  order to make sure that that expertise was provided,

          5  supplemented.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          7                 And what is the difference between a

          8  ventilation -- what is a ventilation well, that you

          9  identified in your testimony a few times? What was

         10  the ventilation well during that particular time?

         11                 MS. DO: Well, my understanding from

         12  the Construction Review Report is that often for

         13  these homes constructed during this time. Often the

         14  kitchen area was in the basement area and the cellar

         15  area and therefore these ventilation wells served as

         16  a way of getting out the kitchen smoke and just

         17  bringing fresh air in.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And

         19  you alluded to a question of status and landmark and

         20  historical registration, do you have any update at

         21  this particular time of any of these properties that

         22  are either landmarked or registered as a historic

         23  property?

         24                 MS. DO: At this point, as part of the

         25  FEIS view, there was only one property out of the
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          2  four out of the three, actually that were studied,

          3  that would seem to be potentially eligible, and that

          4  was 233 Duffield Street.

          5                 MS. COLLIGNON: And under the course

          6  of the EIS, we did commit to undertaking future

          7  archeology on that and two other sites in question

          8  at the time. We understand at this time that

          9  landmarks does not intend to landmark the buildings.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That's the

         11  answer I was waiting for. And the National Registry

         12  of historic sites, they haven't given you any

         13  feedback either?

         14                 MS. DO: We did not apply for the

         15  National Historic Register on that. This was merely

         16  a research report.

         17                 MS. COLLIGNON: But I would note that

         18  the criteria that Linh walked through and the

         19  Wellman scale, that scale was developed by Judith

         20  Wellman and is used nationally, is a scale that I

         21  believe is used for registration with the State

         22  Freedom Trail Program, and the criteria for

         23  inclusion in any of the national programs meets that

         24  test, or is an even more stringent test.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.
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          2  Well, we'll hear from Council Member John Liu.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you very

          4  much, Mr. Chairman. You started to ask about some of

          5  the questions I had intended on asking. I do want to

          6  expand on the process by which AKRF was contracted

          7  to do this work.

          8                 Does AKRF have a history of looking

          9  for these historic sites, and specifically for sites

         10  that are associated with the underground railroad,

         11  and this question is directed to Kate Collignon.

         12                 MS. COLLIGNON: AKRF frequently

         13  evaluates historic and cultural resources as part of

         14  the City's Environmental Quality Review and State

         15  Environmental Quality Review procedures, as well as

         16  Stand Alone Historic Preservation Project, all of

         17  their senior technical staff hold master's in

         18  science and historic preservation, and in certain

         19  projects, such as this one, they enlist other

         20  specialists to supplement that expertise.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Hence the Peer

         22  Review Group.

         23                 MS. COLLIGNON: That's correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Were there a

         25  number of firms?
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          2                 MS. COLLIGNON: And the oral tradition

          3  and archeologists that were engaged.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Were there a

          5  number of firms that were contacted and requested to

          6  bid for this work and then AKRF came in with a

          7  proposal that --

          8                 MS. COLLIGNON: AKRF was selected

          9  competitively in connection with the Downtown

         10  Brooklyn Environmental Impact Statement.

         11                 When it was determined that

         12  additional research was necessary, we determined

         13  that we should expand their scope to undertake this

         14  research effort based on their qualifications as

         15  described already.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And as part of

         17  the original, you indicate that AKRF was selected

         18  from a competitive bidding process as part of the

         19  overall review, the environmental review, for the

         20  Downtown Brooklyn rezoning?

         21                 MS. COLLIGNON: That's correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Was there a

         23  historical aspect to that environmental review?

         24                 MS. COLLIGNON: Every environmental

         25  review has a significant historical component to it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Oh, okay. But

          3  then I think AKRF's expertise is not necessarily

          4  looking at the historical significance, and we're

          5  talking about history that goes back more than 100

          6  years. But their expertise is really in conducting

          7  the environmental assessment, environmental review?

          8                 MS. CALLIGNON: Environmental review

          9  has a significant historic component to it. Often

         10  consultants are requested to look at whether there

         11  is any landmark significance associated with

         12  specific sites. Very much the same research

         13  methodology that we described to today.

         14                 The research that AKRF undertook in

         15  connection with Underground railroad question in

         16  Downtown Brooklyn, was really the most extensive

         17  that we've ever seen in New York City. In fact,

         18  there are very few other consulting firms who could

         19  take on something of this capacity. Nonetheless, we

         20  wanted to make sure that we weren't even limited to

         21  AKRF's already extensive abilities. We had access to

         22  a national peer review committee that could advise

         23  on methodology, as well as resources.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. So, you're

         25  basically saying that AKRF is extremely competent to
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          2  conduct this kind of research to determine whether

          3  or not there is a link to the, significantly to the

          4  underground railroad?

          5                 MS. COLLIGNON: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And at this

          7  point, the panel consisting of all three of you have

          8  determined that the link is not sufficient enough to

          9  alter any of the plans that the City has for these

         10  sites?

         11                 MS. COLLIGNON: We have not identified

         12  a direct link between the sites and underground

         13  railroad history activity, although we have

         14  identified substantial history throughout Downtown

         15  Brooklyn and the Brooklyn area.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.

         17                 MS. COLLIGNON: And that is important

         18  to commemorate.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

         20                 Quick question for Ms. Do. Thank you

         21  very much for your comprehensive report here.

         22                 Now, do you have written testimony,

         23  Ms. Do?

         24                 MS. DO: I do not. Most of that was my

         25  speaking points for my presentation.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

          3                 You're the senior vice president of

          4  AKRF. You're the senior vice president of AKRF?

          5                 MS. DO: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: That's only in

          7  writing from the EDC's testimony.

          8                 MS. DO: I'm sorry, I will provide

          9  something. Yes, I am a principal and senior vice

         10  president at AKRF. I've been doing environmental

         11  assessments here in the City for almost 19 years.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. I'm just

         13  surprised that with such a detailed report, there is

         14  not a single mention of the firm's name on this. I

         15  mean, this is, you know, if we were to look at this

         16  document -- I mean, I'm not trying to make fun of

         17  this, I'm just questioning, usually well-established

         18  firms that put together pretty detailed

         19  presentations, they've got their name all over it.

         20  I'm not sure why there is not even a single mention

         21  of AKRF on this --

         22                 MS. DO: Actually, our report has all

         23  the covers with AKRF. We stand behind --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. So, that's

         25  the detailed --
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          2                 MS. DO: Yes. Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Great.

          4                 DO: It was an oversight for us not to

          5  include it, but it's just not --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I just wanted to

          7  make sure that the accountability was in place.

          8                 MS. DO: I would love as a consulting

          9  firm to advertise my name everywhere, but in this

         10  case it was an oversight, but it is on the covers of

         11  the other reports that we've done.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. Thank you

         13  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: How long

         15  has AKRF been in existence?

         16                 MS. DO: We celebrated our 25th

         17  anniversary this year. And I've been with the firm

         18  for almost 19 of those 25 years.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         20                 And have you determined or ever found

         21  any historical sites that were not deemed in areas

         22  that had ever been ascertained as historical before,

         23  within that period?

         24                 MS. DO: I'm sorry?

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Have you
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          2  ever done any research that has determined that you

          3  found a historical site?

          4                 MS. DO: Yes. As part of our

          5  environmental assessment, we frequently have to do

          6  an evaluation of not only just the project site

          7  itself, but the areas around it in which we will

          8  identify potential buildings that we think are of

          9  significance, either from age, from an architectural

         10  standpoint, and then it is something that we present

         11  to Landmarks for their determination on whether or

         12  not it's eligible.

         13                 There are also many cases where we

         14  work on projects where it is more in the vain of

         15  historic preservation and we've worked, for example,

         16  with the preservation at the Apple Bank, the East

         17  Side Historic District expansion, Hudson River Park

         18  with the historic bulkhead. So, yes. And in the

         19  course of our daily work, we certainly do do

         20  historic surveys and determine whether or not it's

         21  something eligible for landmarks consideration.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         23                 Just before Council Member Barron

         24  starts, I just wanted to clear up any misnomer that

         25  the Council was postponing this particular hearing
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          2  for today.

          3                 This hearing has been postponed

          4  several times at the request of not the Council but

          5  the City and I just want to be clear about that, for

          6  anybody that may have disillusions. Apparently in

          7  the statement it made it seem like we were the only

          8  ones holding up this hearing and that's just simply

          9  not true.

         10                 While I would prefer that Council

         11  Member Lappin was here chairing this hearing, since

         12  it is just a hearing, and I'll probably mention her

         13  name a couple of times today, since she is not here

         14  to chair the hearing, we will continue to move

         15  forward.

         16                 Council Member Barron. Because she

         17  owes me a big one for this one.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair. You know, I came to this hearing thinking

         20  that I'm going to do everything that I know to do

         21  and get as many people in our community involved in

         22  this, because what you presented here was

         23  disgusting, disgraceful, despicable. For you to get

         24  paid a half a million dollars to conclude what EDC

         25  probably wanted you to conclude, I think is
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          2  despicable.

          3                 For you to have peer reviewers and

          4  not list your archeologists, those who come by, list

          5  the archeologist, and let us know what kind of

          6  archeological research, scientific research with

          7  forensic evidence that you used to go into the name

          8  places, and not just call them coal chutes or

          9  whatever. We had historians find, you revised

         10  history. It's almost like abolitionist stuff is

         11  happening all around that area, but I guess if

         12  Harriet herself came by, she'd probably skip by a

         13  few houses, you know, and went to just a few in the

         14  area. This is absurd.

         15                 And I sit on this Landmarks

         16  Committee. We have landmarked things that have much

         17  less evidence than what we presented in this case

         18  here. For you to have oral tradition, and you said

         19  your listing -- I heard that you didn't list all of

         20  it and name all of the artifacts involved and all of

         21  the oral historians involved, because you claim some

         22  of them didn't want their name included in this. But

         23  when you're doing research, I would like to see more

         24  scientific research done, you know, you have peer

         25  reviewers, or who were the initial researchers, were
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          2  they reviewing something that something already

          3  prepared? And who are these folk? Who prepared this

          4  stuff? And just off the record, I know I'm rambling

          5  a little bit, but I'm upset.

          6                 Does your company, did you ever have

          7  Haliburton as a client? It's just rumors. I just

          8  want to get it cleared up. Was Haliburton ever your

          9  client?

         10                 MS. DO: No, they are not.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Oh, I just

         12  heard some rumors. I just wanted to clear it up so

         13  that you didn't have your name out there messed up

         14  like that.

         15                 MS. DO: I appreciate that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, I aim to

         17  please.

         18                 But, you know, on the real side

         19  there's just so many Brooklyn historians that didn't

         20  get a chance to talk to you, like Fred Liverpool,

         21  who we were trying to get you to get but you delayed

         22  it, and you delayed it, and unfortunately he passed

         23  away before you even got a chance to talk to him.

         24  There was so much wrong done in this research effort

         25  for half a million dollars, I might add, that I feel
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          2  really insulted that you would come here and try to

          3  present something like this to our community, and

          4  come to the conclusion, when I think EDC wanted you

          5  to come to in the first place.

          6                 I don't think this was an objective

          7  research, and, Mr. Chair, and to my Committee

          8  members, I think this is a bogus piece of research

          9  that went forward here. There are plenty of people

         10  who will testify to that after me. I'm not a

         11  historian, and we're going to get people to come by.

         12  And I do want to read a little something from a

         13  historian that has serious concerns about ethics

         14  around this report, and this is why I think the

         15  report should be disqualified on the ethics question

         16  alone, but we'll get to that.

         17                 But I just think when we first

         18  started this and stopped this whole process, it's

         19  not to get this, not to get a half a million dollars

         20  for some company to talk to oral historians that

         21  they approve of and then refute everything the

         22  community says, everything historians from the

         23  community say, don't talk to really the Brooklyn

         24  historians, or really know about Brooklyn. Half of

         25  these folk don't really know about the history of
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          2  Brooklyn. We should really be in here celebrating

          3  the historical reality that those were safe houses,

          4  those were tunnels used, those weren't coal shafts,

          5  and every time we found an artifact you called it

          6  something else. But, you know, facts, facts is very

          7  relative and subjective to what a fact is. You know,

          8  we can show a person a piece of wood, the only

          9  factual thing, that it's a piece of wood. Whether

         10  it's a part of the underground railroad, or whether

         11  from today is debatable, so what we're calling facts

         12  and no evidence of, what happens if people show you

         13  stuff and you say, well, that can't be validated?

         14  What happens when people tell you that abolitionists

         15  lived in the house, was part of the movement, yes,

         16  but we can't link them to part of the underground

         17  railroad? I think you can't because you don't want

         18  to. You don't want to. And I don't think this was

         19  objective research. And my colleagues who are into

         20  it will probably get into it deeper than I, but I

         21  think there will be others who will testify, and I

         22  hope you stay around for the testimony, and don't

         23  just make yours and leave, so that you will see to

         24  it that people who are far more informed than I am,

         25  and I just have peripheral information and I can
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          2  refute a lot of the things that you have said. And

          3  research and history is very subjective. So, if you

          4  walk into a house and some people said they viewed

          5  tunnels, there are residents that actually saw

          6  tunnels, but you described them as something else.

          7  Yes, it's a tunnel but it's not connected to the

          8  underground railroad. Well, what can we do when you

          9  say that? You can just say it, and we can't do

         10  anything but accept what you're saying. You're not

         11  proving anything by looking at something and just

         12  saying it ain't so. There's no scientific evidence

         13  that you presented, and the oral history and the

         14  oral tradition is highly debatable here. There is

         15  not a conclusive fact that it isn't.

         16                 I mean, this really disturbs me, but

         17  let me just read something to you and you can

         18  respond to it. A part of this report that I was

         19  very, very concerned about was Professor Robert

         20  Swan. I met with him and I am very, very concerned

         21  about what he has to say, because if what he's

         22  saying is accurate, the credibility of this report

         23  has to be thrown out, because these are serious

         24  charges, and I just would like to let you hear what

         25  he said.
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          2                 He said the AKRF report is

          3  questionable and therefore spurious because it

          4  concludes that because of no evidence there is no

          5  underground railroad activity. Not on Duffield

          6  Street but category at only five houses on Duffield

          7  Street. He says that his report, he mentions some

          8  factual errors, but he says that he has a report and

          9  he wasn't named, his name wasn't used on his report;

         10  is that accurate?

         11                 MS. DO: I believe I received an

         12  e-mail from Dr. Swan, but that accusation was not

         13  directed towards AKRF. I believe it was directed

         14  towards other members of the community or --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's not

         16  true. He's directing it at AKRF.

         17                 MS. DO: No.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, he is.

         19                 MS. DO: That's incorrect. Because we

         20  do have communications with him saying that --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, he's

         22  directing it, and he will testify. He is here. He

         23  will testify himself. He is directing it at you.

         24                 MS. DO: We clarified with Dr. Swan

         25  that we have never misrepresented him. He, in fact,
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          2  originally did not want his statement included in

          3  the report. He later retracted that and insisted it

          4  be put in and so we did.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And you gave

          6  him credit for it?

          7                 MS. DO: Absolutely. It is in his own

          8  name and in the same font that he gave it to us. We

          9  did not change that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And all of the

         11  factual information in his report was accurately

         12  reported.

         13                 MS. DO: We presented everything that

         14  he gave to us. We did not edit out. We did not

         15  change anything.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And the other

         17  concern I had about another professor is Chris

         18  Moore. See, how you testified out of his mouth, we

         19  didn't hear all of the stuff that you said. Out of

         20  his mouth in this Committee he said you all -- he

         21  literally said you lied on it, that he did not say

         22  the things that he said (sic). That's what he

         23  reported to us, and now you come back and clean that

         24  up and say he now recollects a conversation with

         25  you, and even he said that he does make the
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          2  connection to the underground railroad and some of

          3  the Duffield Street Houses; isn't that correct?

          4                 MS. DO: Again, we never

          5  misrepresented what Mr. Moore said. We merely said

          6  that -- he had alleged that we had misrepresented

          7  him as representing AKRF, and endorsing our study we

          8  have never done that.

          9                 The clarification that I had with Mr.

         10  Moore in writing was we explained to him that we've

         11  never used his name other than at the hearing when

         12  you asked me who did you contact at the Schomburg

         13  Center.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Exactly.

         15                 MS. DO: And I said Christopher Moore.

         16  Mr. Moore did not recall that one of my historians

         17  had contacted him.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: But even you

         19  alluded to that he was supportive of your position

         20  that you alluded to that --

         21                 MS. DO: No, I never alluded to that

         22  at all.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, you did.

         24  In the context at that meeting, and the context you

         25  were talking about people who did not connect these
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          2  projects to -- and that's why he was upset. He came

          3  in and testified to that. So, we're hearing hearsay

          4  now, what you said to him and he said to you --

          5                 MS. DO: We reviewed the transcripts

          6  from the last hearing, the context -- absolutely

          7  not. The context of the conversation is who did you

          8  contact at the Schomburg Center.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, I

         10  remember that.

         11                 MS. DO: And I said Christopher Moore.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Right.

         13                 MS. DO: That is all I said. I never

         14  said he represented us.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And

         16  Christopher Moore came back and said that you

         17  misrepresented him in whatever you said.

         18  Christopher Moore came back and said that you

         19  misrepresented him in whatever you said. In your

         20  contacting with him, what did you glean from him at

         21  that time?

         22                 MS. DO: Allow me to quote. In here we

         23  said, "While preparing the EIS, our historian had

         24  left a message with you..." -- That's Christopher

         25  Moore --"... At the Schomburg Center on March 25th
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          2  and spoke with you on March 26th. We stated that we

          3  were researching the potential for 227 and 233

          4  Duffield Street and 436 Gold Street buildings to

          5  have been involved in the Underground Railroad, and

          6  asked for your input and research suggestions.

          7  According to our notes, you replied that while you

          8  knew of no specific Underground Railroad stops on

          9  Duffield Street, some houses on Willoughby Street

         10  had been stops on the Underground Railroad. You also

         11  suggested that we contact Arthur Bankoff at the New

         12  York Landmarks Preservation Commission, and Richard

         13  Hourahan at the Queens Historical Society."

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Okay, I got

         15  that. You can stop there now.

         16                 Do you remember when he actually came

         17  back after that and said that he believes that there

         18  is a connection?

         19                 MS. DO: Mr. Moore then sent us a

         20  letter that said you're conclusion that Duffield

         21  Street is potentially linked is a fair assessment.

         22  He said that the remarks which he has attributed to

         23  me are certainly consistent with comments which I

         24  have expressed, and he agreed that there was a

         25  misunderstanding.
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          2                 Mr. Moore then further went on and

          3  said, as you are aware, Brooklyn is clearly a major

          4  hub of both the Underground Railroad and the entire

          5  abolition movement.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Right.

          7                 MS. DO: We have never said anything

          8  to the contrary.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Even with that

         10  information that you're reading there links Mr.

         11  Moore saying that there is a connection.

         12                 MS. DO: We never denied that. We

         13  never --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I don't see

         15  how the Schomburg, which is the number one black

         16  research historical institution probably in America

         17  can connect it, and you can't with other historians,

         18  but I'll move on. I'll move on.

         19                 MS. DO: Councilman Barron, we have

         20  never misrepresented what the Schomburg had said.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You did

         22  misrepresent it. And he came and said that --

         23                 MS. DO: It was based on peer review.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, you did

         25  misrepresent. He said it when he came here and I
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          2  believe that's what happened. And even if you

          3  didn't, the information that you just read says he

          4  connects the Underground Railroad and underground

          5  activity to the Duffield Houses, and that should be

          6  something that should be taken into heavier

          7  consideration than what you're doing.

          8                 But I'm going to move on. Is it true

          9  that some of the peer reviewers actually disagreed

         10  with some of this report, and were saying that they

         11  did believe it was a connection?

         12                 MS. DO: The peer reviewers

         13  unanimously concurred with our methodology and

         14  approach. While they may disagree with some of the

         15  findings that we have, overall at least seven, seven

         16  of the peer reviewers did concur with our rating.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I'm not

         18  talking about agreeing with your methodology and

         19  approach. That's not what I'm discussing is your

         20  methodology and your approach. I'm not talking about

         21  that now. I'm talking about the fact that some of

         22  your own peer reviewers disagreed with you. Your

         23  findings.

         24                 MS. DO: They are entitled to

         25  disagreement.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: They are

          3  entitled to disagreement. This is not just about --

          4  see, I don't think you should make light of this.

          5  This is not just about some entitlement of a

          6  disagreement. This is about going on some research

          7  to draw some conclusions. So, if you're denying some

          8  of the peer reviewers who are saying that you got a

          9  half a million dollars, it's a lot of money, you got

         10  a half a million dollars, you get these peer

         11  reviewers, we don't know who the original authors of

         12  all the research. We don't have a lot of information

         13  on that, because they're just reviewing, right?

         14  They're just reviewing stuff. So, we don't know

         15  these original folk. And I didn't see archeologists

         16  listed; do you have archeologists listed?

         17                 MS. COLLIGNON: I spoke earlier. It

         18  was an architectural historian, not an archeologist.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: No, I know you

         20  mis-spoke, because I know you didn't have no

         21  archeologist. And to have a research -- I was going

         22  to get to you in a second, because I definitely know

         23  you mis-spoke. You had no archeologist. Mr. Chair, I

         24  mean, how could a report trying to find out history,

         25  you got a half a million dollars, what, they
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          2  couldn't afford an archeologist? You know, how could

          3  you not have on the real side, I mean how could you

          4  not have -- listen to this, we're accepting a

          5  report, they are comfortable with the report that,

          6  number one, has no archeologist. No archeologist.

          7  Which is critical. Critical, critical, critical to

          8  validating history. You are also accepting a report

          9  that you admit some of your own peer reviewers, who

         10  are not the only primary reviewers or researchers,

         11  they didn't even agree with you, some of them. So,

         12  they don't agree with you, no archeologist. Some

         13  questions about Moore, Chris Moore, but we both

         14  agree he said there is a linkage, right?

         15                 MS. DO: Potential linkage.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: A potential

         17  linkage. A potential linkage. You know what? I'll

         18  take that, a potential linkage. Then don't demolish

         19  a potential linkage, because you're demolishing our

         20  history.

         21                 You know, it's incredible. And I

         22  don't know if this happens to other people, but I

         23  know it always happens to black people. We're

         24  fighting for a name change, we can't have our

         25  history restored. We come by here in this landmarks,
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          2  and other white districts are restored and

          3  preserved, no problem. When it comes to us, we've

          4  got to give you a half a million dollars to come

          5  back without an archeologist, that you didn't even

          6  hire an archeologist, and to have even some of your

          7  peer reviewers say they disagree with your findings,

          8  and you're just going to go ahead because you think

          9  might is over right, 'cause you just can, and then

         10  you're going to go use eminent domain to take

         11  people's homes and destroy our history with this

         12  kind of nonsense that you're presenting here this

         13  morning. This is a travesty, Mr. Chair. And I'm just

         14  going to end it there, because I don't know that

         15  there's a question I could ask that's going to make

         16  any sense to me, but to me we need to stop this

         17  travesty of justice here in the City Council. I

         18  don't know what power we have at this point, you

         19  know, it's going to go to an eminent domain hearing,

         20  but this is enough evidence to say that this is

         21  absurd, for them to come here. And I'm sure, and I

         22  don't know nothing, and you can't even defend

         23  yourself with some of the things I'm saying, and

         24  there are other experts who know ten times more than

         25  me, but for us as a Council, we can't let this
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          2  happen to black people in the black community with

          3  our black history, and there were white

          4  abolitionists as well, whites tried to free

          5  themselves as well, who worked together.

          6                 So, I just think we've got to do

          7  something. This has to stop. We have to stop this.

          8  We can't let them go on like this. Those two homes

          9  can be reserved. Put the parking lot under the hotel

         10  like they do in other places, and preserve our

         11  history. You shouldn't destroy our history for a

         12  parking lot with some bogus research that makes no

         13  sense.

         14                 I'm finished.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay,

         16  thank you, Council Member Barron.

         17                 As you know, this is a hearing. We

         18  are not voting on this issue today. I just want to

         19  be clear on that today. The Downtown Brooklyn Plan

         20  was voted through the Council in 2004. This is an

         21  evidentiary hearing to display and talk about the

         22  report. So, there are going to be the eminent --

         23  there is going to be the eminent domain hearing that

         24  will happen later this month, and there will be

         25  other opportunities for the public to have specific
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          2  comments on this particular hearing.

          3                 I'm going to just ask one question

          4  and that's this question of archeologists --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Excuse me, Mr.

          6  Chair. I don't mean to be rude, but I do have

          7  another very, very important meeting I have to

          8  attend and I'll be back before the conclusion.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You're

         10  leaving me? Jessica doesn't come, you're leaving...

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, if you

         12  want me to Chair the meeting, I'll be glad to

         13  relieve you of your duty, if you like?

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: When you

         15  come back, I may be that inclined.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: This

         18  question of an archeologist, was there an

         19  archeologist that was part of the consulting team,

         20  the Peer Review Team or any part of this report?

         21                 MS. COLLIGNON: There was an

         22  architectural historian that was engaged. To

         23  undertake archeology would require the basic

         24  procedures on the buildings. Basically one would

         25  need to demolish them before you could undertake
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          2  archeology.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And the

          4  reason that you would need to demolish the

          5  buildings?

          6                 MS. COLLIGNON: The archeology would

          7  be looking at resources below the ground and in the

          8  site itself. That would be not possible to access

          9  with the buildings in their location.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But you

         11  would determine that most of these buildings were in

         12  fact not structurally replaced, even though they had

         13  been updated, some of them, so why would you need

         14  demolition of the buildings? Most of the buildings

         15  that have already been deemed not landmarkable. The

         16  only question was whether or not there was tunnels

         17  underground; was there a determination done of the

         18  tunneling one way or the other?

         19                 MS. DO: Part of the review from the

         20  architectural historians determine whether or not

         21  there was indeed a tunnel, or whether or not there

         22  were other connections between buildings.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         24                 MS. DO: It was in his estimate that

         25  there were no, what he calls communicating tunnels
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          2  there. Some of the --

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: What's a

          4  communicating tunnel?

          5                 MS. DO: That means it connects from

          6  one building to the next. That means there is a

          7  tunnel that goes from, you know, that connects next

          8  door, that connects next door.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: There was

         10  no tunnel along Gold Street or Duffield Street, or

         11  what's the other street? No tunnels along any of

         12  those streets within the project site?

         13                 MS. DO: There was his assessment that

         14  there were no anomalous features that were tunnels

         15  that were connecting.

         16                 We also researched the maps which

         17  were interpreted showing dash lines for tunnels, and

         18  then as part of the presentation, we presented that

         19  when we spoke with the Sanborn Map representatives

         20  who do all of this historic mapping, they indicated

         21  that those actions are more indicative of which

         22  types that are on the front facade. Those might

         23  communicate from one building to the other. And as

         24  we showed in those pictures, you saw the porches

         25  that connected from one house to the next.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          3                 I'm from Queens. I'm not from

          4  Brooklyn. In Queens we have an historical jazz trail

          5  and we have historical tours that happen. With

          6  everything that's been clearly documented, is there

          7  a historical Underground Railroad trail, site,

          8  anyone that's undertaken visitations or historical

          9  documentation of preservation of any particular

         10  site, anyone that's doing anything that is showing

         11  or demonstrating history of the Underground Railroad

         12  in the Brooklyn area?

         13                 MS. COLLIGNON: There is not

         14  currently. And this is a major issue that we'd like

         15  to address in cooperation with the Council, is

         16  determining the appropriate mechanism for

         17  commemorating the Underground Railroad history

         18  throughout Brooklyn so that more of New York City

         19  residents and visitors could become familiar with

         20  the extensive information that AKRF and other

         21  researchers have identified.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, I'm

         23  sorry, has the State Historic Trail, or the State

         24  Freedom Trail, any State organization evaluated any

         25  of the sites that you identified in your earlier
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          2  part of the presentation, where you talked about the

          3  Plymouth Church and the Lewis Tippan house and

          4  Brooklyn Friends Meeting House, and Bridge Street

          5  AWME Presbyterian Church, they're not using this as

          6  a reference map for any heritage trail issues?

          7                 MS. DO: At this point the report that

          8  we presented to you was really our findings at this,

          9  and we have not talked about the next steps.

         10  Although, I should note that three of the members of

         11  the Peer Review are in fact members of the New York

         12  State Freedom Commission.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: New York

         14  State what?

         15                 MS. DO: The New York State Freedom

         16  Commission.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Freedom

         18  Commission.

         19                 MS. DO: Freedom Trail Commission.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm sorry,

         21  Freedom Trail and Commission?

         22                 MS. DO: The New York State Freedom

         23  Trail Commission.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm sorry.

         25  And has the Freedom Trial Commission done any

                                                            77

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS

          2  traveling or historical meetings or opportunities to

          3  discuss the underground railroad in Brooklyn and

          4  vis-a-vis setting up a historical tour or fact

          5  finding location, or some type of commemoration of

          6  it?

          7                 MS. COLLIGNON: I can't speak on

          8  behalf of the Commission, I'm not familiar with such

          9  efforts.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. But

         11  as far as you know, there is no City effort, or

         12  there is no even Brooklyn group that is doing

         13  anything like that at this particular time?

         14                 MS. COLLIGNON: As far as I am aware,

         15  there is not.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Not BAM,

         17  not Downtown Brooklyn Renaissance? Not anybody?

         18                 MS. COLLIGNON: Not that I am familiar

         19  with. There is a need for this, and this is

         20  something we would like to work with you to address

         21  going forward.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         23                 Council Member Yassky. Are you ready

         24  to do questions?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes. Yes,
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          2  thank you, Mr. Chair.

          3                 Casting my mind back to when the

          4  Downtown Brooklyn plan first, when we first

          5  considered that here in the Council, and I remember

          6  when this issue first came up towards the end of

          7  that process, it was certainly my feeling, and I

          8  know it was Council Member James, Council Member

          9  Vann, Council Member Barron, as well, that this was

         10  not something that we should just decide right then

         11  and there on the short bit of time that had been

         12  devoted to it, but needed a serious study, because

         13  it was my believe, and I'm sure you would agree,

         14  that if there were sites in Downtown Brooklyn or

         15  anywhere in New York, in Downtown Brooklyn that are

         16  linked that we know that there were Underground

         17  Railroad activity, then it would be wrong to

         18  demolish those sites. That was the principle that I

         19  believed in and believe in and to me it was clear at

         20  that time that we didn't have the evidence to really

         21  say one way or another, and that was why we insisted

         22  on a serious, as serious as could be done,

         23  undertaking to try and figure out what the facts

         24  are.

         25                 At the same time, I don't think it
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          2  does anybody any good to designate something as a

          3  historical site if the facts aren't there, that

          4  wouldn't be right either. So, to me, you know, the

          5  goal of this undertaking was to figure out what the

          6  facts are on these buildings. And, you know, reading

          7  your report, there is evidence that would lead you

          8  to ask more questions and lead you to say, well,

          9  there's activity around here, I don't see in the

         10  report a conclusive link between these homes and

         11  Underground Railroad activity, but I do see an

         12  enormous amount of history in Downtown Brooklyn.

         13                 I mean, to me, when you read your

         14  report, the thing that jumps out, you know, there's

         15  a lot of facts about these buildings, and they don't

         16  lead to a clear answer, but what is clear is the

         17  incredible amount of history in Downtown Brooklyn, a

         18  history of -- I mean, history to celebrate, history

         19  of Underground Railroad, as you said, or one of the

         20  people, you know, a hub of the Underground Railroad,

         21  a history to be ashamed of. I mean, there is a lot

         22  of history of enslavement. It goes along with the

         23  Underground Railroad, too, I guess. But in both

         24  cases history that we have to understand and have to

         25  make accessible. And if, to me, if there is
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          2  something that we're going to take out of this

          3  report, we have got to make a real, not a token, but

          4  a real effort to make the history accessible to

          5  today's New Yorkers. And that is, I mean what I take

          6  from this report is, we are not doing a good enough

          7  job of doing that. And it's something that I would

          8  ask for, you know, you're here representing the

          9  Administration, I ask for the Administration's help

         10  with, and it's something that I ask for my

         11  colleagues' help with. I know there is a lot of

         12  commitment here among my colleagues to do that. But

         13  I think the number one thing to take from this

         14  report is that is an effort that we absolutely have

         15  to undertake.

         16                 MS. COLLIGNON: We agree

         17  wholeheartedly and look forward to working with you

         18  and your colleagues on the Council, as well as

         19  stakeholders, to determine the best way to address

         20  those issues. What's the best mechanism for

         21  educating the public and commemorating a significant

         22  amount of activity that took place here, and we

         23  really need to solicit a broader range of ideas to

         24  make sure that we're doing that effectively.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, I
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          2  appreciate you're saying that. You know, sometimes,

          3  and I'm not just saying you just said this,

          4  sometimes in government you know why people say

          5  we're going to do this and we have to bring in the

          6  experts and their plans to do it and plans to make

          7  plans, but it doesn't happen, this has to happen,

          8  and this is just something that I, I don't doubt

          9  your commitment when you say it, this is something

         10  that has to happen, and I believe that very, very

         11  firmly.

         12                 MS. COLLIGNON: Understood.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I want to

         14  understand your findings about the buildings in

         15  particular.

         16                 How many buildings for you, and I

         17  guess I apologize, Ma'am, Ms. Flynn? Ms. Lihndo?

         18                 MS. DO: It's Do.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Ms. Do. Got

         20  it. Lihn Do. I apologize.

         21                 Ms. Do, you know, how many buildings

         22  would you expect in Downtown Brooklyn? In Brooklyn,

         23  I don't know what's the territory you'd look at, to

         24  find, kind of definitive link to Underground

         25  Railroad?
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          2                 And another way you can answer as you

          3  think that, what way would you look for that would

          4  be a definitive way?

          5                 MS. DO: I think in the presentation

          6  we had shown, for example, there was the map showing

          7  the prominence, Downtown Brooklyn's prominence

          8  within the abolitionist movement. We showed in there

          9  a number of churches where there is documentation or

         10  letters that state that this church with its

         11  location was helpful in providing refuge and

         12  harboring fugitives, those are very documentable

         13  evidence. That's the primary evidence. Those are the

         14  standard tools that we used.

         15                 The other parts may come in to play

         16  in terms of oral tradition, as well. It's in your

         17  presentation that shows the number of churches

         18  there. Plymouth Church, for example, Bridge Street,

         19  all of those have a long history documented

         20  evidenced in oral tradition that indicates that they

         21  were tied to the Underground Railroad. There is

         22  noted abolitionists in their writings, in their

         23  papers, in their newspapers, that indicate that this

         24  was a location. And that is some of the basis of it.

         25                 Our research was very focused on what
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          2  had taken place, what are the claims that have taken

          3  place at these seven properties. And as you saw, it

          4  was a very exhaustive search through names and

          5  numbers and 40 years of records that we undertook.

          6  And at the end of that, we were still not able to

          7  find corroborating evidence.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Are there

          9  private homes? And I understand the churches, are

         10  there private homes with that kind of documentation

         11  where that kind of link can be established or has

         12  been established? I don't know the answer to that.

         13                 MS. DO: I would have to get back to

         14  you on that within New York City. The examples that

         15  I had given earlier with the Garret Smith house,

         16  clearly there are homes of private citizens who were

         17  very clearly established with the underground

         18  railroad.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: You said

         20  clearly there are private homes, you mean outside of

         21  New York City?

         22                 MS. DO: At this point, yes. I'd have

         23  to get back to you on New York City. I don't believe

         24  that there are at this point.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Has the City
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          2  ever undertaken to figure out where there are places

          3  that would be appropriate to kind of preserve and

          4  document as part of Underground Railroad?

          5                 MS. COLLIGNON: I'm not aware of a

          6  comprehensive effort to that extent. Again, this was

          7  the most extensive research ever done on Underground

          8  Railroad history in New York City that I'm aware of.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

         10                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Say that

         12  again. I'm sorry. Can you say that again?

         13                 MS. COLLIGNON: I said I'm not aware

         14  of a comprehensive effort along those lines. Again,

         15  this two-year plus effort was the most extensive

         16  research process of this nature that I'm familiar

         17  with in New York, and that was focused on a very

         18  limited number of homes.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. I'm

         20  sorry.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, as far

         24  as you know, there hasn't been a documented or book

         25  or detailed done, research done by the City on the
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          2  Underground Railroad, is what you're saying?

          3                 MR. McKNIGHT: That's correct. I just

          4  wanted to add a note that while there has been kind

          5  of a broader look, like one that we've undertaken,

          6  there obviously is at a more modest scale and

          7  individual institutions in Downtown Brooklyn,

          8  Plymouth Church, for instance, Bridge Street, that,

          9  you know, do recognize their history and it is

         10  fairly well known.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         12                 So, you were inferring earlier that

         13  the City is now willing to put together an attempt

         14  to bring all this information in a comprehensive

         15  form to develop a, say, Underground history

         16  trail-type thing that could be done with

         17  collaborating with these groups? Or have you fleshed

         18  out how you're going to do that?

         19                 MS. COLLIGNON: One idea is to form a

         20  task force between the Council and local stake

         21  holders that could solicit ideas, particularly from

         22  Brooklyn cultural organizations, for appropriate

         23  mechanisms for commemoration, but those details have

         24  to be fleshed out further and quickly.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you're

                                                            86

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS

          2  committing to put together this before the adoption

          3  of the project, and/or -- I mean, well, the project

          4  was approved, but the adoption, they're going

          5  through two different processes now, the May 22nd,

          6  May 23rd, and what's the next step after that?

          7                 MS. COLLIGNON: May 22nd is the

          8  scheduled date for the EDPL hearing. The next step

          9  would be to issue an RFP for a garage developer --

         10  sorry, that's Request for Proposals, and a Request

         11  for Qualifications for a park designer. But we would

         12  be working in parallel with this to make sure that

         13  we're moving forward on commemoration, and, again,

         14  identifying an appropriate mechanism for this.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And you're

         16  willing to put this in the budget commitment for

         17  '08, to ensure that this could get done?

         18                 MS. COLLIGNON: I can't make that

         19  commitment single-handedly. I wish I had the

         20  authority to say that. But funds need to be

         21  identified to make this happen, and that's something

         22  that we're starting to talk about already.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         24  Council Member James.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.
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          2  Someone once wrote that we have to be careful about

          3  who writes our history, because when history is

          4  written by the victors, we should all be concerned.

          5                 There is also a Nigerian proverb,

          6  which issues a similar caveat which basically says

          7  don't let the lions' tell the giraffe's story. So,

          8  that's a proverb that I think is relevant for the

          9  discussion with respect to the underground railroad.

         10                 Let me also give credit to the

         11  individuals who wrote this book called Village News,

         12  and I believe some of the authors will be testifying

         13  here this afternoon, Christabel Gough, Mike McGee,

         14  Ron Kinepki and Dale Neighbors, but there is another

         15  interesting quote in here which basically says that

         16  a delegate from Falls River, who described the

         17  burning of Pennsylvania Hall, said "witness the

         18  speedy destruction of buildings that should not be

         19  lost, as they recall the origins of important civil

         20  liberties.

         21                 Those civil liberties cannot be taken

         22  for granted or relegated to the past. It is for us,

         23  the living. This is what Lincoln said at Gettysburg,

         24  "It is for us the living, rather, to be dedicated

         25  here to the unfinished work." And clearly, these
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          2  buildings really should be for us, the living, for

          3  our children, for generations to come to know more

          4  about their history. What's interesting is that all

          5  throughout Downtown Brooklyn, as you already have

          6  admitted and which is documented in the study, that

          7  there was an active abolitionist in Downtown

          8  Brooklyn, and it links going back to the 19th

          9  century, the 227 Duffield Street, which is the one

         10  that rated the highest, the house stands in a large

         11  area of known abolitionist activity. It is

         12  strategically placed on a route to several known

         13  destinations for fugitives. And the house,

         14  notwithstanding it's ties to the underground

         15  railroad, has architectural features that could have

         16  been used to conceal fugitives and should be

         17  considered for landmark designation. And, again, I

         18  believe that this house has great historic value,

         19  even without the incontrovertible legal proof that

         20  it was a station in the underground railroad, like

         21  all of the other houses on Duffield Place.

         22                 I've been reading a number of books

         23  all about slavery which happened in New York. I went

         24  to the exhibit, all with an eye towards this

         25  hearing, recognized that in Downtown Brooklyn,
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          2  recognizing the abolitionist movement and the

          3  activity that happened in Downtown Brooklyn,

          4  particularly the churches, which are always critical

          5  to me. And I also know that on page 27 of your

          6  report, you outline all the churches in question,

          7  Bridge Street AWME Church, Concord Baptist Church,

          8  First Colored Presbyterian Church, the First

          9  Presbyterian Church, the Fleet Street Methodist

         10  Episcopal Church, Lafayette Avenue Presbyterian,

         11  which has moved the Friends' Meeting House, the

         12  Pierpont Street Baptist Church (phonetic), Mother

         13  AME Zion Church, which was in Manhattan, the

         14  Plymouth Church, Sand Street Methodist Episcopal

         15  Church, St. Ann's Church, St. Mark's Church, Siloam

         16  Presbyterian Church, Second Reform Church, Seventh

         17  Presbyterian Church, and Washington Street Methodist

         18  Episcopal Church. Some of these churches, if not all

         19  of these churches, have ties to the black community

         20  that existed there, and may or may not have been

         21  involved in the abolitionist movement.

         22                 And, so, because we cannot refute,

         23  though you cannot confirm, clearly you must agree,

         24  cannot refute the presence of the underground

         25  railroad, and/or the abolitionist movement in
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          2  Downtown Brooklyn. Though you cannot confirm it, you

          3  cannot refute it either; is that true?

          4                 MS. DO: That's correct. And I don't

          5  believe that our report disputes that at all. In

          6  fact, the result of all that research actually

          7  reinforces that and magnifies that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, because you

          9  can't refute it, and because you and I both agree

         10  that Downtown Brooklyn was a hub of activity and was

         11  once a black community, and was home to a

         12  significant number of abolitionists, I truly believe

         13  that we should really reconsider our position,

         14  and/or incorporate these buildings in the plan for

         15  Downtown Brooklyn.

         16                 Let me also go on to say that you,

         17  Ms. Do, you mentioned earlier that your decision

         18  here today was based on the Peer Reviewers, but is

         19  it not true that you provide the Peer Reviewers all

         20  the data to review?

         21                 MS. DO: We provided all of the data

         22  that they reviewed, it's also what they had

         23  requested.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         25                 MS. DO: And all the avenues of
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          2  research. And therefore as part of that we come back

          3  and say, yes we looked through those papers and this

          4  is what they are. They've received all of the

          5  back-up that was asked of them, in terms of any of

          6  the submissions, and you have that in the report.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: We also should

          8  take into account the fact that in 1850 they passed

          9  the Fugitive Slave Act, which made it possible for

         10  the federal government to assist slave catchers to

         11  find, arrest and return fugitives.

         12                 As a result of that we recognized

         13  that the Underground Railroad was a secret society,

         14  and for the most part fugitives from the south were

         15  kept as a secret, and as a result of that you may or

         16  may not find fugitives in a lot of the data that you

         17  reviewed; is that not correct?

         18                 MS. DO: Yes, and we acknowledge that.

         19  We acknowledge the clandestine nature of the

         20  Underground Railroad.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Because of that

         22  clandestent (sic) society or clandestent position,

         23  and because individuals were really concerned about

         24  not getting in trouble and not violating the

         25  Fugitive Slave Act of 1850, I would think that we
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          2  would have to depend heavily on oral tradition, yes?

          3                 MS. DO: That's a component of this

          4  study, yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes. And as a

          6  result of the oral history, you sort of discounted a

          7  significant portion of the oral testimony, oral

          8  history that was provided to you by some of the

          9  residents who currently live there, correct?

         10                 MS. DO: We did not discount. The

         11  purpose --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Can you talk a

         13  little bit louder?

         14                 MS. DO: We did not discount the oral

         15  traditions that were provided to us. I'm not quite

         16  clear, where if there are specifics?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It's on page

         18  46.

         19                 MS. DO: I mean, in terms of the data

         20  that we had collected, we had interviewed whoever it

         21  was that wanted to be interviewed, and whatever

         22  notes came out of that, in terms of further research

         23  and further linkages we explored, and that was with

         24  the feedback from the Peer Reviewers.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Well, I know
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          2  letters were sent out to following churches on

          3  September 17th, 2004; did you get a response from

          4  any of the churches that you sought information

          5  from?

          6                 MS. DO: I believe it's in the report

          7  for the most part. We did not get a response back.

          8  In fact, I also personally followed up on a number

          9  of the calls there, asking that once they received

         10  the letter, if they could please put it in a

         11  prominent place so they can gather as much attention

         12  as possible.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You also?

         14                 MS. DO: We did not get any feedback,

         15  except perhaps one of the churches that said, I'm

         16  sorry but we were actually a pro-slavery

         17  congregation at the time.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And you also

         19  sent out Requests For Information from a lot of

         20  fraternities and sororities and it says the note

         21  responses have been received thus far, correct?

         22                 MS. DO: That is correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And then on

         24  page 46, which talks about the oral tradition

         25  collection effort, it talks about interviews with
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          2  several individuals. And, so, as a result of

          3  conversations with any of these individuals, which

          4  are all laid out on page 46 and 48, did anything

          5  ever come from those interviews?

          6                 MS. DO: In fact, yes. It led us to do

          7  further research regarding the Father Kelly

          8  collection at the time, that was the college -- it

          9  was now we lost track of it, it turned out that a

         10  portion of it went to the Brooklyn Historical

         11  Society. Those are in the reports.

         12                 In addition, some of the other

         13  information, we searched down other leads in terms

         14  of church membership, in terms of additional

         15  linkages to other personalities, and deeds.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: On page 48 you

         17  basically talked about general history and

         18  commentary, and it says as follows: "The area from

         19  the Bridge Street AWME Church, formerly at 309

         20  Bridge Street, down to the Brooklyn Navy Yard, and

         21  the waterfront was an African Village in the 19th

         22  Century. This area formed an important Underground

         23  Railroad corridor, and there was a small number of

         24  abolitionists who lived in the area. Bridge Street

         25  was so named because a small wooden bridge was built
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          2  from African Village to the Navy Yard. In the 19th

          3  Century free African-Americans and whites crossed

          4  the water to go uptown to the churches in

          5  Manhattan."

          6                 As a result of that, don't you

          7  believe that given the fact that it was a hub,

          8  again, of abolitionist activity, can't we draw the

          9  nexus between all of this activity in the homes on

         10  Duffield Street? I mean, that's not much of a

         11  stretch.

         12                 MS. DO: Well, again, because of the

         13  nature of the underground railroad activities, it

         14  was very difficult for us to do that type of typical

         15  research. But that is the best model that we had and

         16  we followed the criteria, and that was all part of

         17  the peer review with their comments and follow-up.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And you also

         19  know that they're the first free colored school was

         20  in Downtown Brooklyn, as well. It's now PS 67. And

         21  that was tied to this African community; are you

         22  aware of that?

         23                 MS. DO: I believe it's in our report,

         24  yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let me also
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          2  talk a little bit about these tunnels. Though you

          3  say that there is no documentary evidence to tie

          4  these tunnels to the underground railroad, you also

          5  say that there was no documentary evidence to 19

          6  homes in Ohio, which were also designated as

          7  Underground Railroad sites. There was no physical

          8  evidence tying them, yet they were designated. There

          9  is no physical evidence tying these properties, but,

         10  yet, we're not designating them as such; can you

         11  explain the distinction?

         12                 MS. DO: I believe in those

         13  circumstances there were other documentary evidence.

         14  There was other corroborating artifacts. Again, here

         15  we were tasked to look at what were the claims that

         16  were made which was based on some anomalous

         17  features, these were directly related to underground

         18  railroad, as well as some of the other information

         19  on who lived at the site. That was our task to

         20  review it and research it and that is what we did in

         21  our report.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: What evidence

         23  was present in Ohio, which is not present here?

         24                 MS. DO: I would have to get back to

         25  you on that. I don't have it fully memorized.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay obviously

          3  you need to do more research. Again, in your report

          4  it indicates that there were, I believe the number

          5  is 18 properties were designated Underground

          6  Railroad activity. No physical evidence. They were

          7  designated as such. The same is being used against

          8  the homes on Duffield place, but yet those homes in

          9  Ohio were saved. So, I would urge you to review the

         10  documentation and get back to this Committee.

         11                 Let me also go on to the Peer Review,

         12  starting on page -- it's not in sequence, appendix

         13  B, the response to the Peer Review comments, and the

         14  comments are actually very telling, and some of the

         15  comments, there is a lot of dissenting opinion with

         16  respect to this report. A lot of dissenting opinion.

         17  In fact, all of the dissenting opinion I have

         18  outlined and it's rather lengthy, so as opposed to

         19  me going through it bit by bit by bit, and wasting

         20  the Chair's time and the members who are here, there

         21  is a lot of dissenting opinion from Peer Reviewers

         22  who basically said that we should take a second look

         23  at these homes, and/or we should preserve them.

         24                 So, given that, I would think given

         25  the weight of the Peer Reviewers, and particularly
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          2  given the history of those who actually dissented, I

          3  would think that, again, we should consider

          4  preserving these homes; can you speak a little bit

          5  to that?

          6                 And I know you commented to each of

          7  the dissenters, and it was general comments in

          8  nature, but, again, and I recognize that the

          9  compromise was perhaps creating some sort of

         10  symbolic gesture to the Underground Railroad in

         11  Downtown Brooklyn, or coming forth with a museum or

         12  something like that, but, again, I believe these

         13  homes really should remain intact, and I believe

         14  that they should be -- I don't see why we can't

         15  incorporate them in our plan, we are talking about a

         16  grassy knoll, a park. A park. And we're going to

         17  wipe away our history, the history not only of

         18  African-Americans, but the history of this great

         19  country. I mean, it's not black history, it's

         20  history. And, so, you know, a grassy knoll, a park,

         21  a garage, have we thought about, has anyone planned

         22  to incorporate these homes as a museum, or as some

         23  sort of designation in this development of Downtown

         24  Brooklyn?

         25                 MS. COLLIGNON: If I may?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

          3                 MS. COLLIGNON: The City originally

          4  committed to undertake the study to determine

          5  whether there was conclusive evidence of Underground

          6  Railroad activity at the subject sites, and we

          7  formed the Peer Review Committee to assure that

          8  AKRF's significant historical research expertise

          9  would be supplemented by the widest possible

         10  insights, into the methodology of this type of

         11  research, as well as the resources available.

         12                 As we've discussed, the findings of

         13  the report are based on the nationally recognized

         14  system for evaluating a site's connection to the

         15  Underground Railroad. Sites with sufficient

         16  documented evidence of Underground Railroad activity

         17  under this system would receive a rating of four or

         18  higher, and the research that informed how the sites

         19  were rated under the system is the most extensive

         20  that we've ever undertaken in New York City.

         21                 No sites with the report received a

         22  rating of four or higher. And while the Peer

         23  Reviewers have offered mixed opinions as the

         24  appropriate future of the sites, the methodology

         25  behind the research and the result in ratings are
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          2  not under dispute.

          3                 As the City we therefore accepted

          4  AKRF's findings that there was no conclusive

          5  evidence of Underground Railroad activity at the

          6  site, but recognized that they did find substantial

          7  evidence of activity in the surrounding neighborhood

          8  that needed to be recognized.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Now, isn't it

         10  fair that the State and the National Registry have

         11  similar criteria, yes? The criteria that was

         12  outlined with respect to designating these

         13  properties of the Underground Railroad?

         14                 MS. COLLIGNON: I believe similar

         15  criteria or more stringent standards.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Correct.

         17                 And local landmarks, our local

         18  Landmarks Preservation for the most part does not

         19  have similar criteria; isn't that true? In fact, the

         20  criteria in the local Landmarks Department is rather

         21  discretionary, and, in fact, the criteria for

         22  landmarks is not even printed publicly; is that not

         23  true?

         24                 MR. McKNIGHT: That's true. They do

         25  not have a standard policy on how to approach
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          2  Underground Railroad sites.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So given that,

          4  the fact that you would apply a higher standard to

          5  these properties really raises concern, particularly

          6  as was mentioned earlier. We had landmarked

          7  buildings with less history in the City of New York.

          8                 MS. McKNIGHT: I was going to reply in

          9  saying that Landmarks does, on the other hand, look

         10  for a very high level of architectural significance.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you. And

         12  I'm glad you mentioned that.

         13                 These buildings, these houses are

         14  also of architectural significance. 1840s Federal

         15  and Greek Revival houses are scarce in the City and

         16  the Municipal Arts Society has called for preserving

         17  at least 233, since it is a rare clapboard Greek

         18  Revival House with latter Italianate detailing. That

         19  seems kind of significant to me architecturally,

         20  yes?

         21                 MS. McKNIGHT: As was found in the

         22  FEIS, 233 was the one site that was found to have

         23  architectural merit. However, as the studies

         24  concluded, it hasn't really found any Underground

         25  Railroad history, which was our mission.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Isn't it not

          3  true that the following organization has asked that

          4  these properties be preserved -- the Director of

          5  Archeological -- no. One moment. The Society for the

          6  Architecture of the City reported strong evidence

          7  for the Underground Railroad involvement and

          8  recommends preservation and further study; are you

          9  aware of that?

         10                 Anybody?

         11                 MS. COLLIGNON: I've seen references.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I'm sorry? I've

         13  seen references.

         14                 MS. COLLIGNON: I've seen references.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You've seen

         16  references.

         17                 It's my understanding that they

         18  issued a report and they have reported strong

         19  evidence for Underground Railroad involvement, and

         20  they recommend preservation and further study, and I

         21  would urge you to reconsider and review their study.

         22                 Lastly, let me just read you some

         23  comments from some of your Peer Reviewers.

         24                 In A.J. Williams-Myer: "Having

         25  examined the final research report, it is quite
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          2  evident that no further corroborative data has been

          3  found to conclusively establish. Yet, at the same

          4  time, I shudder at the thought of the eventual

          5  demolition of the buildings, especially given their

          6  location in the heart of Downtown Brooklyn which was

          7  once a community caught up in the throws of a

          8  clandestine operation of the Underground Railroad."

          9                 Your next Peer Reviewer, Judith

         10  Wellman: "Results of the work suggest the clear

         11  possibility that the Truesdale family and possibly

         12  also the Hall's family may have been involved in the

         13  Underground Railroad. Although documented only a

         14  three on our rating scale, Truesdale House may well

         15  have been underground railroad, as suggested by the

         16  presence of Thomas and Harriet Truesdale as

         17  life-long abolitionists in the same household with

         18  Elizabeth Harris."

         19                 Comments from Richard Hourahan. I

         20  apologize if I mispronounced his name.

         21  "Archeological testing is unlikely to offer any

         22  definite information about whether or not these

         23  structures were part of the Underground Railroad. In

         24  addition, assuming that a tunnel was discovered

         25  there would be no way of knowing. However, my
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          2  comments as a Peer Reviewer to review the research

          3  report will concern two areas which I find seriously

          4  flawed: One, research approach; and, two, data

          5  collection."

          6                 Comments from Leslie Alexander: "By

          7  way of conclusion, I would simply like to reiterate

          8  a point I made at my last response to the report. I

          9  urge the City to seriously consider reconfiguring

         10  the development project to take the historical

         11  significance of Duffield Street and the surrounding

         12  neighborhood seriously.

         13                 This process has revealed a wealth of

         14  documentary evidence indicating that this region was

         15  actively involved in abolitionist and Underground

         16  Railroad activities and it would be a monumental

         17  injustice to destroy such evidence without making a

         18  concerted effort to acknowledge the incredibly

         19  important role Brooklyn played in the liberation

         20  movement against slavery."

         21                 Those are your Peer Reviewers. I

         22  really think we should reconsider this project. I

         23  don't want to whitewash the history, the

         24  abolitionist movement, the history of my sheroes and

         25  my heroes in the history of this great country.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay,

          4  thank you. Council Member Yassky had a follow-up.

          5                 Oh, I'm sorry. Council Member Mendez,

          6  I'm sorry.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Good

          8  afternoon. Ms. Collignon, is that it?

          9                 MS. COLLIGNON: Collignon.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Collignon,

         11  okay. In your testimony you made some reference to

         12  how AKRF was chosen, can you please, because it's

         13  not really written in your testimony, explain to me

         14  how AKRF was chosen at the company to do the

         15  research?

         16                 MS. COLLIGNON: AKRF was selected on a

         17  competitive basis to undertake the Environmental

         18  Impact Statement for the Downtown Brooklyn Plan.

         19  One, the need for additional research was identified

         20  over the course of the ULURP hearings. That

         21  ultimately resulted in the plan's approval in 2004.

         22  We engaged AKRF to expand their scope to further

         23  investigate the details of underground railroad

         24  activity and on the sites in question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: They were
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          2  chosen pursuant to an RFP that was issued by EDC?

          3                 MS. COLLIGNON: That's correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay. I just

          5  find it odd that on testimony on this presentation I

          6  don't have an address for AKRF, I don't know where

          7  their principal office is at. Ms. Do?

          8                 MS. DO: Again, our address is 440

          9  Park Avenue South.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And Ms. Do,

         11  can you tell me what other major research and work

         12  and findings AKRF has been involved in in this City?

         13                 MS. DO: Through our work with

         14  environmental assessments, we have done a number of

         15  contracts, in terms of research, including Hudson

         16  River Park, the World Trade Center. Almost every

         17  project that goes through environmental review has

         18  to look at historic, as well as a whole host of

         19  other environmental issues, so we have a full staff

         20  that is fully capable of addressing research issues.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Hudson River

         22  Park and the World Trade Center during what time

         23  periods were you involved in research for that?

         24                 MS. DO: For Hudson River Park I know

         25  that we, for example, did some of the work with the
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          2  Army Corps in relation to their historic bulkhead.

          3  We've done a number of other jobs, including East

          4  Side Historical District. We are a full service, so

          5  we can do everything between.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: If I can just

          7  stop you for a second, on the Hudson River Park,

          8  what time period was that that you did that

          9  research? More or less?

         10                 MS. DO: I don't know at the top of my

         11  head. It was not something that I was working on at

         12  the time.

         13                 I would say it's probably been about

         14  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Two to five

         16  years?

         17                 MS. DO: Five years.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay. The

         19  World Trade Center?

         20                 MS. DO: We are still involved in

         21  various aspects of the World Trade Center.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And the East

         23  Side District? I'm sort of interested in that since

         24  I represent part of the East Side?

         25                 MS. DO: Okay. On the East Side
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          2  District we had done some -- we were hoping I think

          3  as late as some time last year getting through some

          4  of the landmarking of the district.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Landmarking of

          6  what part --

          7                 MS. DO: The East --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: The East Side

          9  is a very long part of Manhattan.

         10                 MS. DO: I believe it was 72nd through

         11  79th. Let me confirm that with you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Not my

         13  district.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Are

         15  you done, Council member?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: No.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. You

         18  hesitated. You lost me.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Yes, I'm

         20  taking notes. Sorry.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We're

         22  talking about this landmark here?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Excuse me?

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We're

         25  talking about this?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Yes.

          3                 I just have to say that I was

          4  disappointed, Ms. Do, that you did not give any

          5  written testimony. Though you provided all of this,

          6  I saw you reading a lot of stuff. I also heard you

          7  in your testimony say "we believe," "we think," and

          8  I think that after a half a million dollars and two-

          9  to two-and-a-half years of research we need and

         10  deserve a little bit better than "we believe" or "we

         11  think."

         12                 Mr. Chair, my colleague, said this is

         13  an evidentiary hearing, and as a lawyer I know

         14  sometimes it is difficult, but we always have to

         15  come up with some conclusive evidence. And for your

         16  last page of conclusions to say three properties

         17  probably not involved, three properties somewhat

         18  possibly involved, one property quite possibly

         19  involved, makes me think that there is more evidence

         20  out there and maybe someone is just trying to keep

         21  everything open so that they may not be the subject

         22  of a future lawsuit if these buildings are

         23  demolished and other evidence comes to light.

         24                 MS. DO: Council Member Mendez, I just

         25  wanted to clarify that in terms of your quotes of
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          2  quite possibly, not possibly, those --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Not my quotes;

          4  in your presentation.

          5                 MS. DO: Right. What you said there,

          6  that is directly from the criterias for evaluation.

          7  Those are literal definitions in terms of how the

          8  readings are defined.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: I also heard

         10  you -- excuse me, maybe it was Ms. Collignon,

         11  someone said that this is the best model we have.

         12  And I think when we're talking about our culture and

         13  our history, we should, if the model doesn't work,

         14  try to make the model better.

         15                 I have no further questions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         17  Yassky and Liu for follow-up questions.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         19                 And thank you, to my colleague,

         20  Council Member James, for bringing -- well, for very

         21  helpfully advancing the ball in getting some of the

         22  facts here.

         23                 Here is my question, as I'm just

         24  really thinking about this on the rating scale. The

         25  Freedom Trail, and this is I guess the park service,
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          2  I wanted to check, right? That's their rating scale,

          3  that establishes one through five. And I mean,

          4  specifically their freedom, their underground

          5  railroad designation scale that was set up by the

          6  park service; is that correct?

          7                 MS. DO: The Wellman scale you're

          8  referring to is used by the New York State Heritage

          9  Freedom Trail sites.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: New York City?

         11                 MS. DO: New York State.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: New York

         13  State.

         14                 MS. DO: It's the New York State

         15  Freedom Trail.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I asked this

         17  before and there must be no building in New York

         18  City has been found to be a four or a five; is that

         19  correct, on this scale?

         20                 I know you said Plymouth and Bridge

         21  Street we know, but I don't know if they've been

         22  evaluated formally under that scale.

         23                 MS. DO: Not to my knowledge, but I

         24  can certainly get back to you on other sources where

         25  that might have taken place in the City. None that I
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          2  know of.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I guess what I

          4  would say, and more for Ms. Collignon, because this

          5  is the government, I mean I think that what we need

          6  is an affirmative effort to identify four and five

          7  sites. And I recognize that what you've talked about

          8  is an effort to take what we know now and make it

          9  accessible. We talked about that earlier. I think

         10  that is an absolute imperative. But in addition, it

         11  seems to me we shouldn't wait for, you know, here

         12  you have property owners because of the development

         13  plan issue is kind of brought to the fore and they

         14  came forward and said we'll look at our buildings,

         15  and it turns out, you know, five -- how many

         16  buildings did we look at here? Five or seven

         17  buildings, you know, one of them was a three, not

         18  conclusively documented but some reason to think. It

         19  just suggests to me, and this again leaps out of the

         20  report, there have got to be buildings in Downtown

         21  Brooklyn that are a four and a five on the scale

         22  buildings. I mean, the level of activity is such

         23  that that just must be. And I think that rather than

         24  wait for them to come forward, we should make a real

         25  affirmative effort to find that, and I don't know if

                                                            113

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS

          2  that's the Landmarks Commission, or who in the

          3  government is the right person and place to do that.

          4                 I mean, I fear that if we don't,

          5  probably a lot of history had disappeared already,

          6  or a lot of instructured history has disappeared

          7  already, and if we don't do that, it will just keep

          8  disappearing.

          9                 So, I know you're not going to tell

         10  me you can commit to that right here, because I know

         11  what your job is at EDC, but I would like you to

         12  take that back, and I think that's really something

         13  the Administration ought to undertake.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council

         15  Member Liu.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you very

         17  much. Just a couple of follow-up questions. One for

         18  Ms. Collignon. I'm sorry, I keep brutalizing the

         19  name. How critical is this piece to the overall plan

         20  that EDC envisions for this part of Downtown

         21  Brooklyn? I mean, does this hold everything else up?

         22                 MS. COLLIGNON: The sites that were

         23  discussed during our on location that was expected

         24  to become a public open space, which is envisioned

         25  to be a critical component of the overall component
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          2  for Downtown Brooklyn.

          3                 This is expected to be a major

          4  resource for local residents, future residents and

          5  existing businesses as well.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. So, does

          7  that mean that the rest of the plan can't go forth

          8  without this piece?

          9                 MS. COLLIGNON: We have worked to

         10  implement as much of the rest of the plan as we can

         11  and parallel with this, but this is expected to have

         12  a major influence on the overall success of the

         13  Downtown Brooklyn Plan, yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right. So,

         15  yes, the rest of the plan doesn't go forth without

         16  this?

         17                 MS. COLLIGNON: Streetscape

         18  improvements can go forth, but without this open

         19  space, it will be much more difficult to create

         20  additional office development in Downtown Brooklyn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Without this it

         22  will be more difficult to create additional downtown

         23  office space? Is that what you said?

         24                 MS. COLLIGNON: Tenants and commercial

         25  tenants seek open space and seek parking
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          2  availability. Both of those are part of this plan.

          3  The Downtown Brooklyn Project that was approved in

          4  2004 included the rezoning effort that allowed for

          5  development of greater density in Downtown Brooklyn,

          6  as well as the City's ability to acquire properties.

          7  However, the success of the plan ultimately is

          8  dependent upon future tenants in addition.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, there's a lot

         10  at stake based on this, what we're discussing here?

         11                 MS. COLLIGNON: Clearly, we take this

         12  issue very seriously, as demonstrated by the

         13  two-year research effort.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. And if in

         15  fact the study that was conducted by AKRF came back

         16  and said there was a substantial linkage to the

         17  underground railroad, then this entire Downtown

         18  Brooklyn Project that's been advocated for by the

         19  EDC would be thrown out the window?

         20                 MS. COLLIGNON: The rezoning is

         21  already in place. And we have funds for the public

         22  improvements, but this is a core piece of the plan

         23  that we'd like to see move forward. However, this is

         24  a critical issue for us to investigate, which is why

         25  we've dedicated the resources and time that we have
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          2  to looking very carefully at the connections or any

          3  potential connections between the sites in question

          4  and underground railroad activity.

          5                 And while we haven't identified

          6  activity on those sites, we have identified critical

          7  activity in the larger area, and that's got to be an

          8  important part of implementation of any plan going

          9  forward, commemoration of that activity.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. Well,

         11  again, I mean I think my question is just a simple

         12  yes or no.

         13                 Please, folks. These are three

         14  hard-working people here, so there is no need to

         15  belittle or demean anybody here.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I'm just trying

         18  to get at the facts here.

         19                 So, is it fair to say, if, in fact,

         20  there was a substantial -- if, in fact, AKRF came

         21  back and concluded that there was a significant

         22  amount of linkage, even if it was not absolutely

         23  deterministic, there was some significant amount of

         24  linkage to the underground railroad, that perhaps

         25  warranted further investigation, perhaps by actual
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          2  archeologists, then would the entire Downtown

          3  Brooklyn Plan be thrown out the window?

          4                 MS. COLLIGNON: We would already have

          5  the zoning in place and the streetscape improvements

          6  are already underway.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay, is that a

          8  no?

          9                 MR. McKNIGHT: This is one component

         10  of the overall Downtown Brooklyn Plan, which Kate

         11  mentioned is rezoning and other actions. So, yes,

         12  this specific piece has not moved forward because of

         13  this research, and we've endeavored to do this

         14  research to determine and respond to the claims that

         15  have been made.

         16                 We do think this is a really

         17  important piece. It is both about the Downtown, as

         18  well as the residential community, but it has been

         19  the signature piece of the Downtown Brooklyn Plan.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. So, what

         21  I'm hearing, even though I'm not hearing any simple

         22  answers to what I think is a pretty simple question,

         23  but maybe my question is too simplistic. You're

         24  basically saying that during the period during which

         25  this, quote, exhaustive study was conducted, the
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          2  City has gone ahead and done what it can within the

          3  scope of this overall Downtown Brooklyn

          4  revitalization project.

          5                 MR. McKNIGHT: That's correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But based on your

          7  comments for this piece that includes these

          8  potential, what were the words, the potential --

          9  these sites that are potentially linked to the

         10  Underground Railroad, without this piece, the whole

         11  plan would not be what it is. In fact, it would be

         12  jeopardized.

         13                 MR. McKNIGHT: Again, this is an

         14  important piece. It is --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: What happens if

         16  we don't go ahead with this plan? What happens if we

         17  landmark these properties? What happens to the plan

         18  if theoretically, if we landmark these properties?

         19  What happens to the EDC's plans?

         20                 MR. McKNIGHT: We would have to

         21  rethink our development plans.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay, so the

         23  whole thing goes out the window?

         24                 MR. McKNIGHT: I wouldn't say that. I

         25  would say we would have to rethink it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, you'd have

          3  to essentially stop what you're doing?

          4                 MR. McKNIGHT: Well, again, what we've

          5  been doing over the past two years, two and a half

          6  years is this. We look forward very much to move to

          7  the next step, but we haven't because of this

          8  particular issue.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Even though you

         10  guys don't want to say it, I'm not sure why, but I'm

         11  hearing that a huge amount hinges, a huge amount of

         12  what the EDC intends to do here, and the City

         13  intends to do here hinges on this report coming up,

         14  concluding that there is no substantial linkage to

         15  the Underground Railroad.

         16                 MS. COLLIGNON: The sites in question

         17  are on an important piece of the Downtown -- an

         18  important site within the Downtown Brooklyn Plan.

         19  That said, while that is a priority to move forward,

         20  acknowledging the City's history, if any, in

         21  connection with the Underground Railroad is also a

         22  priority, which is why we've taken the time to look

         23  at this as thoroughly as we have over the last two

         24  years.

         25                 It's been an extensive study. It's
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          2  why we've engaged the Pier Review Committee, to make

          3  sure that the methodology that was being employed

          4  was absolutely the top of what one can bring to the

          5  table on this.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But during these

          7  two and a half years, I mean the EDC has still gone

          8  ahead and done what it can with regard to this

          9  overall plan.

         10                 MS. COLLIGNON: Mm-hmm.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, during this

         12  two and a half year exhaustive study here, it hasn't

         13  really cost DEC any time in the overall.

         14                 MS. COLLIGNON: On this one piece. On

         15  this one piece --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: No, no. The

         17  overall project. I mean, this is one component of a

         18  large rezoning and revitalization effort in Downtown

         19  Brooklyn. The EDC has gone ahead and done what it

         20  can so it hasn't really lost any time during this

         21  two and a half year study.

         22                 Let me turn it over to Ms. Do just

         23  for a second. Ms. Do. Ms. Do, what was the task that

         24  the AKRF was charged with by EDC?

         25                 MS. DO: Our task was to research the
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          2  property owners' claims that their sites were

          3  directly linked to the Underground Railroad

          4  activities.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And were you, or

          6  anybody else at AKRF, was there any kind of

          7  understanding where this study would go to, in terms

          8  of the EDC's overall goals?

          9                 MS. DO: Again, our role was to do the

         10  research and provide the result of it and report,

         11  and it's been a decision-making document, a

         12  disclosure document that lets you, the City,

         13  community stakeholders decide what to do.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So there is no

         15  pressure to conclude one way or another?

         16                 MS. DO: No, there would be no

         17  pressure. We've been in business for 25 years, we

         18  have to maintain our integrity in one form.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And yet, Council

         20  Member James was, in my opinion, particularly

         21  effective in at least questioning, if not the

         22  integrity, the soundness of judgment with which the

         23  conclusion was arrived. Because the conclusion,

         24  based on this -- the conclusion and the

         25  qualification for AKRF to actually even do this
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          2  study hinges in large part on the sources utilized

          3  and the Peer Review. You spent a great amount of

          4  time on the Peer Review, and yet, it turns out that

          5  there is some substantial disagreement. So, how can

          6  AKRF rely on the Peer Review process in gathering

          7  this nationally recognized set of experts, and then

          8  it turns out later that we find out, based on

          9  Council Member James's astuteness, that there is

         10  some substantial disagreement. Not necessarily

         11  disagreement with regard to the lack of a finding,

         12  but disagreement to the conclusion that led to Ms.

         13  -- That led to Kate's conclusion here, that says it

         14  has not confirmed the history of Underground

         15  Railroad activity at the sites in question, and

         16  therefore, the EDC is ready to move forward with the

         17  rest of the project?

         18                 MS. COLLIGNON: AKRF was tasked with

         19  looking at the history of underground railroad

         20  activity on those sites. The majority of the Peer

         21  Reviewers agreed with the methodology with which

         22  that AKRF applied to that research effort, as well

         23  as the materials they used to complete that

         24  research. That was the key finding that we were

         25  looking for AKRF to resolve. You know, that was the
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          2  mandate of the Peer Review Committee, this is what

          3  we determined were the findings at the end of the

          4  day. We do not see a direct connection between the

          5  sites and Underground Railroad activity.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. I

          7  understand you can probably never conclude that

          8  there is absolutely no linkage. But I think the

          9  question right now, at least the question that I

         10  have is, has enough work actually been done to do,

         11  notwithstanding the two and a half years of effort

         12  of this exhaustive study, I still question whether

         13  enough actually has been done to solidly conclude

         14  that it's safe to say that there is no linkage

         15  between the Underground Railroad and these sites in

         16  question. Once you get rid of them, that's it,

         17  there's no bringing them back.

         18                 And, so, the absence of any

         19  archeologist, I mean architectural historians,

         20  that's one thing, fine, but in many parts of the

         21  City we have engaged archeologists, even in projects

         22  that the EDC has been involved in.

         23                 We have found former African-American

         24  burial grounds, through the expertise of

         25  archeologists, I can't understand why we can't look
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          2  for tunnels that are underground with some modern

          3  day archeologist tools. There are underground, I

          4  don't know the exact terminology of this equipment,

          5  the underground sonar, the underground radar, ground

          6  penetrating radar, I think that's available. I don't

          7  think you have to take down buildings to use those

          8  kinds of tools.

          9                 Why can't we just -- why haven't we

         10  thought of doing that, when, in fact, there are

         11  other projects where the EDC has been involved in,

         12  that has utilized those kinds of modern

         13  technologies?

         14                 MS. COLLIGNON: I wish I were an

         15  expert in archeology. I am not. My understanding is

         16  that --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I know. But we

         18  wish there was at least one expert.

         19                 MS. COLLIGNON: My understanding is

         20  that it's not possible for the archeologist to do

         21  the kind of work that's being requested while the

         22  buildings are still standing.

         23                 In terms of time committed to

         24  research, again, we've engaged AKRF and 12 Peer

         25  Reviewers for over two years. They contacted over 80
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          2  individuals. Actually, it's 230 they've tried to

          3  reach out to, 80 have gotten back to them, 50

          4  different institutions, agencies and organizations,

          5  hundreds of documents. This is, again, the most

          6  comprehensive research effort ever undertaken of

          7  Underground Railroad activity in New York City. We

          8  are confident in the findings.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: You're probably

         10  more confident than we are here.

         11                 All right, Mr. Chairman, I think the

         12  testimony leaves some serious questions that I don't

         13  think have been answered. Thank you.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council

         15  Member James, and then we're going to --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Wrap up.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, we're

         18  going to do public testimony. Just to do a briefing,

         19  unless you have been part of the Peer Review, or

         20  part of the historical committee or have a

         21  historical pedigree, so to say, we're going to limit

         22  the testimony to two minutes because we've been here

         23  three hours already. Council Member James.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I'll be brief.

         25  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for giving me some
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          2  latitude.

          3                 You know, since I got elected into

          4  City Council, I'm learning more and more about

          5  architecture and City Planning, I'm about to finish

          6  Jane Jacob's masterpiece, The Death and Life of

          7  Great American Cities and it's this dichotomy that

          8  currently exists with respect to discussions

          9  concerning Jane Jacobs and all of this development

         10  throughout the City of New York, and this dichotomy

         11  between Jane Jacobs and Robert Moses and that's

         12  what's happening in Downtown Brooklyn. You know,

         13  whether or not we should maintain Downtown Brooklyn,

         14  its history, or whether or not we should build

         15  basically a vertical city for more density and to

         16  add to the tax base. And I understand that

         17  discussion but at the same time, I also recognize

         18  the importance of history in preserving it for our

         19  children, and I think the fact that we unfortunately

         20  have not preserved our history, and not taught our

         21  children, it's not incorporated in our public school

         22  system, is why we have so many social ills in the

         23  City of New York.

         24                 My question is I was handed a piece

         25  of information about, or e-mail with respect to a
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          2  note on page S23, which basically says that the

          3  Truesdale family, there was no potential involvement

          4  in the Underground Railroad, but yet according to

          5  the Brooklyn Eagle, there was a report for a retired

          6  chief hospital corpsman for the United States Navy

          7  living in Japan. He basically told the Eagle, I have

          8  Thomas Truesdale's cash journal, which covers the

          9  period June 1844 through January 18, '64, and I have

         10  offered the journal to AKRF but have had no response

         11  regarding this.

         12                 Ms. Do, can you speak to that a

         13  little bit? This is dated March 23rd.

         14                 MS. DO: Yes. The person that you're

         15  referring to is Pauly Truesdale, Jr., he is the

         16  great grandson of Thomas Truesdale and his second

         17  wife. That was something that we had contacted him

         18  about, asking him for his information about his

         19  family. He is very active in keeping up with his

         20  family's genealogy. In terms of our communication

         21  with him, and this was something that was the

         22  subject of a newspaper article.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Right.

         24                 MS. DO: Just to clarify, he did offer

         25  us the ledger, but as he explained it, the ledger
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          2  covered certain periods of time. It skips, and I

          3  believe it was from 1843 to 1848, it skips, and then

          4  it starts up again in 1863. The Truesdale's

          5  involvement in Downtown Brooklyn occurred some time

          6  between 1851 and 1863. Clearly, there is a gap

          7  there. And we opted not to look at that because it

          8  was not during the time, it would not have contained

          9  information during the time that they were in

         10  Downtown Brooklyn.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And there was

         12  also several e-mails that I received going back and

         13  forth, much discussion on the blogs concerning the

         14  fact that the hotel which is planned across Duffield

         15  Street between Fulton and Willoughby was, there was

         16  a stop order; what was the cause of the stop order?

         17                 MR. McKNIGHT: I think that there had

         18  been some rumors that it related to the supposed

         19  tunnel, but from what we've understood is that's not

         20  what the stop order related to. What it particularly

         21  relates to, I can't answer, but I know there were

         22  rumors and from what I understand, it did not relate

         23  to that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: We don't know

         25  why that project was stopped. Is it still on hold?
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          2                 MR. McKNIGHT: I don't believe so.

          3  We'd have to confirm.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay. It would

          5  be interesting to find why there was a stop order

          6  issued on that hotel, and whether or not was it due

          7  to tunnels being discovered or not. That's rather

          8  interesting.

          9                 And my last question is to AKRF, Ms.

         10  Do. You were commissioned by the City of New York to

         11  do a study with respect to the EIS on Atlantic

         12  Yards, yes?

         13                 MS. DO: That's correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And how much

         15  money did you receive? How much were you paid?

         16                 MS. DO: I'd have to get back to you

         17  on that one, and I'm not sure of the relevance

         18  related to this.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Just to

         20  question. And you also -- well, I'll get to the

         21  relevance. You also were commissioned by the City of

         22  New York to do the EIS on the Downtown Brooklyn,

         23  yes?

         24                 MS. DO: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And you were
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          2  also commissioned by the City to do the study of the

          3  Underground Railroad. Were you commissioned by the

          4  City of New York to do any of the other EIS's or any

          5  other studies throughout the City of New York?

          6                 MS. DO: AKRF is very active in the

          7  City and we go after proposals just like any other

          8  consulting group.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And for the

         10  most part you are a sole source. Do you know whether

         11  or not you are subject to a competitive bid?

         12                 MS. DO: As far as my understanding

         13  is, and from experience, we have gone after RFPs,

         14  just like everybody else.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay. So, would

         16  it be fair to say that you -- that the City of New

         17  York is a regular client?

         18                 MS. DO: We have a very diverse

         19  portfolio of clients, both private sector and public

         20  sector.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But would it be

         22  fair to say that you've done a number of reports for

         23  the City of New York, yes?

         24                 MS. DO: We do a number of reports for

         25  the City.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So the answer

          3  to the question is yes?

          4                 MS. DO: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. I

          7  want to thank EDC and AKRF for coming to us this

          8  afternoon.

          9                 And I hope that, if possible -- I'm

         10  sure you'll keep someone around for all the

         11  testimony, if you can't be here yourself to hear the

         12  rest of the testimony for this afternoon?

         13                 Is there any particular summation

         14  that you wanted to give at this particular time? I'm

         15  trying to be fair. Is there anything that you want

         16  to add?

         17                 MS. CALLIGNON: Mostly that we

         18  appreciate your time this afternoon.

         19                 MS. DO: No more.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: No more?

         21  Ms. Do is saying "no more" also.

         22                 I want to say that, you know, and I

         23  won't get in trouble by saying it, you look 19, Ms.

         24  Do, for being in the business for 19 years. So,

         25  obviously you enjoy this kind of work.
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          2                 MS. DO: God bless you. You made my

          3  day.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          5                 But Mr. McKnight, you're starting to

          6  look 22 now. But I appreciate your testimony today

          7  and bringing all this information to light. And I

          8  hope that, you know, the issue of not having a

          9  historic commemoration or presentation for the

         10  Underground Railroad issues in Brooklyn I think is

         11  something that the City has been neglectful on and

         12  we need to try to address within this budget cycle

         13  before we adopt a budget this year. Especially in

         14  light of what's come out with this topic and this

         15  subject. The need to ensure that there is a

         16  historical and visual reference to what courageous

         17  Americans did during that particular time, to what

         18  people had to suffer through in order to obtain

         19  freedom, clearly there is evidentiary evidence of it

         20  being a centerpoint in Downtown Brooklyn, and I

         21  think that that needs to be focused on. And clearly

         22  the City in its desire to be an all-inclusive City

         23  needs to include that. I know that my historic trail

         24  I represent, part of my district is Adelade Park in

         25  Queens, we have a historic Jazz Trail, we have
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          2  people from all over the world now that come to the

          3  district on a regular basis in a jazz Trail bus

          4  that's underfunded by the City's Department of

          5  Cultural Affairs, or we'd have even more traffic.

          6  I'm just putting in a plug for Flushing Town Hall to

          7  get some more money also to continue that trail.

          8  But, you know, we do have an opportunity here that I

          9  think we need to seize, you know, and we will

         10  continue to have some definite discussions about it.

         11  So, thank you this afternoon for being here, and

         12  with that, we'll call the next panel.

         13                 And like I said, the Reverend David

         14  Dyson from Lafayette Avenue Presbyterian Church;

         15  Christabel Gough, from the Society for the

         16  Architecture of New York City. Pastor left? Reverend

         17  Dyson left? Okay, Cristabel Gough. Richard Hourahan,

         18  from Jamaica, 176-31 Henley. He's a Peer Reviewer.

         19  Are you here, Mr. Houghan? Horghan? I'm sorry. He's

         20  got bad handwriting. And Simein Bankoff, from the

         21  Historic Districts Council. Simein's handwriting is

         22  pretty lousy, too, but I've just seen his name a few

         23  times.

         24                 Okay, Professor Swan, I believe. Wait

         25  a minute, we've got four people. Okay, all right, do
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          2  you want to start? Again, we're going to -- your

          3  name again is?

          4                 MS. GOUGH: I'm Cristabel Gough.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. All

          6  right. And you're part of the Peer Review Team?

          7                 MS. GOUGH: No, I'm not. I'm from the

          8  Society for the Architecture of the City. We're

          9  independent of the Peer Review Team. Mr. Hourahan is

         10  on the Peer Review Team.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. All

         12  right. Go ahead.

         13                 MS. GOUGH: Okay. I'm Cristabel Gough

         14  speaking for the Society of the Architecture of the

         15  City, and we are an all volunteer preservation

         16  advocacy group, and I thank you for this opportunity

         17  to speak, because without the Council, this report

         18  would have had no review.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         20  You're not going to read this entire thing?

         21                 MS. GOUGH: Oh, good Lord, no. Excuse

         22  me. No, we wanted to submit full comments.

         23  Congresswoman Yvette Clarke cut through the red tape

         24  when she noted that a majority of those experts on

         25  the Peer Review panel disagree with the report's
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          2  conclusion that the Duffield Street Houses can be

          3  demolished, and you will not find that in the

          4  Executive Summary, it's only part of this 760-page

          5  document that many people will read. We believe that

          6  AKRF was wrong to bury the numerous critical

          7  comments from the Peer Review Panel in two obscure

          8  appendixes, which I congratulate Council Member

          9  James on finding. They were wrong to bungle the

         10  collection of oral history interviews, and then

         11  failed to print transcripts or name names. Instead,

         12  AKRF published anonymous summaries with contemptuous

         13  rebuttals, as if the oral tradition of the African

         14  American community had no value.

         15                 AKRF did not tell the whole truth

         16  when they said there was no oral tradition of

         17  Underground Railroad involvement in the Truesdale

         18  family. No oral tradition, yes. But as you have just

         19  heard, there was a family document written by Thomas

         20  Truesdale. According to their contact log, AKRF

         21  determined via long distance telephone to Japan,

         22  that this ledger was of no importance. They did not

         23  consult the Peer Review Panel about the decision or

         24  make the document available. And may I say, the fact

         25  that there is a gap in this document during the
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          2  years after the Fugitive Slave Law was passed could

          3  be taken as an indication of Underground Railroad

          4  involvement. People did not want to put out written

          5  statements about what they were doing when they

          6  could go to jail or pay a fine of what was then

          7  $1,000, which would be like $25,000 for every

          8  instance that they were caught at.

          9                 And I'd just also like to say that

         10  first the consultants found no association, then

         11  they found the association could not be documented,

         12  then they made the same finding again. And they said

         13  they had the endorsement of the Schomburg, and I

         14  contest their account of this. I monitor the

         15  Landmarks Preservation Commission. I'm familiar with

         16  the work of Commissioner Christopher Moore, who is

         17  also an historian at the Schomburg Center for

         18  Research. Christopher Moore doesn't remember this

         19  conversation. Christopher Moore doesn't have memory

         20  problems. He's an extremely wise, astute and

         21  well-involved individual. I mean, I find their

         22  position on that absolutely untenable, and

         23  furthermore, they did say at that hearing, as is

         24  recorded in the Brooklyn papers, that he agreed with

         25  them.
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          2                 Now, I'm delighted to hear the bell

          3  hasn't rung, so I'd like to tell you about the 1855

          4  Perris Map, which AKRF completely ignored. This is

          5  the map, the surviving fire insurance map, that is

          6  the closest in date to the period of significance.

          7  They did not talk about it and they misrepresented

          8  the code that would have been used there. They did

          9  not print the key to this map.

         10                 Do you want me to stop? I would like

         11  to submit a -- in our publication Village Views, we

         12  reproduced the map, it shows dashes along the exact

         13  place where the oral tradition says that there was

         14  an underground passageway, and that dash is

         15  identified as Buildings Community communicating

         16  right here in this key which AKRF didn't use.

         17  Instead they called up the current Sanborn Map

         18  Company and said what do dotted lines mean? That's

         19  not scholarship.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Is that

         21  the same book that Council Member James has? The

         22  same book?

         23                 MS. GOUGH: Yes, it's right here.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right.

         25  Thank you. All right.
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          2                 Next person. Thank you. We are

          3  timing.

          4                 MR. BANKOFF: Great. Good afternoon,

          5  Council members. Simein Bankoff, Historic Districts

          6  Council. In view of the time and the fact that this

          7  is, as you mentioned, evidentiary hearing, I'm going

          8  to submit written testimony to the record later

          9  regarding the actual accounts.

         10                 I would like to echo something that

         11  Council Member Yassky said, however, earlier, which

         12  is to wit that these are embodied history. Whether

         13  or not the actual -- can we ever prove something was

         14  definitely there? Are we going to find a cancelled

         15  ticket for the Underground Railroad? It doesn't

         16  matter so much as these are embodied history, and

         17  once they're gone, they're gone forever.

         18                 Now, the report which the methodology

         19  is remarkable and the level of it and the depth of

         20  it is really quite immense, talks about things and

         21  tries to get an objective truth. Now, let me also

         22  point out that looking at the relative truth, what

         23  Council Member Yassky also mentioned is what about

         24  the other historic remnants, the other embodied

         25  reminders of our underground railroad history, of
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          2  our abolitionist history in New York City, what are

          3  they? Do they actually exist? Do we actually have

          4  any fives? We might not other than Plymouth Church.

          5  Even though this might be a three on the Wellman

          6  scale, and let me just tell you personally, I know

          7  Dr. Wellman and she's a very astute and very

          8  professional person, though this might be a three on

          9  the Wellman scale, this might be the best we have in

         10  the City. I know we like to think we've got

         11  everything here, but we also have torn down a heck

         12  of a lot of buildings in the last 160 years, and

         13  these might be the best examples. So, the City

         14  Council should think about that with regard to the

         15  greater truth of New York.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Were you

         18  on the Peer Review Committee, sir? Then you have two

         19  minutes and we'll give you more time, okay?

         20                 MR. GUTTMAN: Good afternoon. I have

         21  been asked to read the statement by David Dyson, who

         22  is the Pastor of the Lafayette Avenue Presbyterian

         23  Church in the Fort Green section of Brooklyn. I went

         24  to college there. Our church was founded in 1857 by

         25  abolitionists who were engaged in the greatest moral
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          2  struggle of the 19th century. We were actually

          3  horrified when we learned that the Duffield Street

          4  houses were targeted for demolition because someone

          5  wanted to put up a parking lot.

          6                 The more we learned about this case,

          7  the more horrified we became. The AKRF organization

          8  has a terrible record for protecting anything other

          9  than their commission. Their report on the site was

         10  a foregone conclusion, rather than a fair or

         11  thorough study. They are getting paid to tell the

         12  developer what they want to hear.

         13                 Second, here is another example of

         14  the use of eminent domain, not to build a hospital,

         15  school or fire house but to throw New Yorkers out of

         16  their homes for private development, in this case a

         17  parking lot.

         18                 Third, here is another example of a

         19  rich developer using connections, cash and coercion

         20  to take advantage of of regular New Yorkers who

         21  don't have the resources to fight back.

         22                 Fourth, these houses are part of the

         23  heritage of New York City. They represent the exact

         24  opposite of what is happening today, the heroic

         25  effort of New Yorkers to help those in need and
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          2  those escaping to their freedom.

          3                 If there is any question about this,

          4  wouldn't it be better to err in the side of caution,

          5  rather than the side of greed? This is hollow

          6  ground. Are we so far gone that we'll be known to

          7  history as a builder of parking lots?

          8                 So, I join the call today for a

          9  moratorium on condemnation activities for this

         10  private project so a complete independent

         11  investigation can take place before it is too late.

         12                 We, in the congregations, in the

         13  community, are counting on elected officials to

         14  protect the citizens of New York in their homes and

         15  to protect the historical legacy of this City.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can you

         17  state your name for the record, please.

         18                 MR. GUTTMAN: Martin Guttman.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         20                 Sir.

         21                 MR. HOURAHAN: My name is Richard

         22  Hourahan. I was engaged by the Economic Development

         23  Corporation as a Peer Reviewer in August 2004. My

         24  contract stated that the firm AKRF had been

         25  conducting research about several houses on Duffield
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          2  and Gold Streets. It stated that I should be

          3  prepared to spend the next 30 days intensively

          4  reviewing the research of AKRF, that by

          5  mid-September 2004, a final report and the Peer

          6  Review would be issued. If I could not devote this

          7  time, I should demur on this offer. I felt this

          8  project was very important and cleared my schedule

          9  for the next 30 days and signed the agreement.

         10                 My understanding of the Peer Review

         11  is that which is generally understood by the term.

         12  AKRF Researchers would have scholarly records which

         13  approximated my own in research, analysis and

         14  reporting of data about the underground railroad,

         15  abolitionist and fugitive slaves. AKRF researchers

         16  have not identified themselves. Their work painfully

         17  demonstrates their inexperience in this field.

         18  Indeed, it may be their first effort in this area.

         19  If I am wrong in this assertion, I am certain that

         20  they could refer to their distinguished Peer

         21  Reviewed publications in this field.

         22                 I will not at this time take you

         23  through each of the demonstrations of ignorance. A

         24  junior faculty member mentoring, an undergraduate,

         25  would be appalled at his or her lack of preparation
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          2  and effort if that student submitted this paper.

          3                 The study did not have a research

          4  design, either as a qualitative or quantitative

          5  investigation. Conservatively, I would say the study

          6  should have been a case study. That is the

          7  resident's claim that the Underground Railroad

          8  existed during the 1850s in the houses of Duffield

          9  and Gold Streets. Therefore, this is a case of the

         10  underground railroad on a two-block area. Next, the

         11  comparative method employed in the case study would

         12  take established cases and compare it with this

         13  case. No such basic investigative method was

         14  formulated. Indeed, it appears to me that AKRF

         15  simply took information from residents, placed it

         16  into spread sheets, and presented it to the Peer

         17  Reviewers.

         18                 It is emblematic of the AKRF research

         19  that only the Truesdale family is sited for any

         20  abolitionist sentiment. And where did their thought

         21  originate regarding them? In a conference call

         22  conducted during the summer of 2004, conducted by

         23  Jennifer Morris of AKRF, of the Peer Reviewers

         24  shortly after we had signed our contract, the summer

         25  of 2004, I mentioned that the census data about
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          2  them, the Truesdales, was interesting. That

          3  afternoon I googled the family members of the

          4  Truesdale family and indeed, abolist material

          5  immediately popped up. AKRF and the other Peer

          6  Reviewers did likewise. Harriet Truesdale was a

          7  serious abolitionist. For the next two and a half

          8  years, no progress has been made. Remember, I was a

          9  Peer Reviewer, not a researcher.

         10                 Last night I googled on two other

         11  families of Duffield Gold Street, what do you

         12  imagine I found? I'll just say that the data was

         13  consistent with some established cases of

         14  underground railroad, fugitive slave, and

         15  abolitionist activity.

         16                 I am no longer a Peer Reviewer. Nor

         17  does my googling constitute serious research.

         18  However, it is a little scary that a mindless

         19  exercise can generate better data than the purported

         20  exhaustive study of AKRF.

         21                 Why did EDC not take one-third of the

         22  Peer Review panel and engage them as researchers,

         23  and take another third and engage them as Peer

         24  Reviewers? If they had, reputable results would have

         25  occurred two years ago.
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          2                 Two questions I am asking, and you

          3  should be asking also, are: Who were the researchers

          4  and what were their qualifications to conduct the

          5  research, and did they match the qualifications of

          6  our panel? Personally, I doubt it very much. Our

          7  panel has been abused and demeaned by this process.

          8  A pretense of capability has been maintained in a

          9  research field that is very specialized and the

         10  people to be reviewed have asserted their

         11  entitlement to be the judges of the Peer Review, a

         12  juried committee.

         13                 Lewis Carol and Alice In Wonderland

         14  would be smiling at this reversal. It is not too

         15  late to conduct a serious research study, one or two

         16  months. EDC and AKRF need not fear. Researchers may

         17  differ on important issues but they do agree on

         18  objective inquiry conducted in accordance with

         19  scholarly standards.

         20                 The results may not please anyone, or

         21  everyone, but they will be far more defendable, and

         22  the research report issued by EDC on March 7th,

         23  2007, titled "Underground Railroad Final Research

         24  Report" and signed by Kate Collignon.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.
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          2                 Council Member James has -- Council

          3  Member Yassky has a question for the entire panel.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you. And

          5  it only has seven parts. No. In all seriousness, I

          6  want to thank you, I know you are not the

          7  Committee's ordinary chair.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And I

          9  haven't mentioned Council Member Lappin's name all

         10  morning. I need to mention that she's not here

         11  today.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And I know we

         13  all have many, many obligations, and you do in your

         14  district, because it's a particularly active

         15  district, and I know this is a much longer than

         16  average hearing and I really appreciate your being

         17  here the whole time.

         18                 I just want to ask one question. The

         19  Historic Districts Council, I mean the question you

         20  raised, that I raised earlier and that you echoed

         21  about how many, what else is out there? Can you, and

         22  not in 20 minutes, but what do we know? I mean, what

         23  else is out there? Has the Historic District

         24  Council, or any private organization, the City has

         25  not I know, ever sought to identify seriously, you
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          2  know, genuinely underground railroad related sites

          3  in Brooklyn or in New York City?

          4                 MR. BANKOFF: One of the principle

          5  problems is that the Landmarks Commission only

          6  recently has only partially reactivated their survey

          7  program, which only really takes into account

          8  architectural surveys. But more than that, another

          9  serious problem is that often we end up finding out

         10  things, in a catcher's catch manner through EIS's,

         11  regarding, you know, relying on the work of

         12  consultants, like AKRF, like Philip Habeeb, and

         13  others who work as consultants to do environmental

         14  reviews and that's when we actually find out things

         15  of historic significance, such that we end up doing

         16  a very fast catch up. So, the answer is no.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: You are as

         18  expert as anybody. We've dealt with you much in the

         19  field of historic preservation; how many do you

         20  think in, let's just say Brooklyn, buildings do you

         21  think we would find that merit a four or a five. I

         22  mean, if you have to guess. More or less than 50?

         23                 MR. BANKOFF: Oh, I would feel very

         24  good about saying less than 50. And some of those

         25  sites might even be, you know, Fort Green Park or
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          2  something like that, that might end up being -- and

          3  I'm not an Underground Railroad scholar, but it

          4  would definitely be less than 50. We're talking

          5  about events of something that happened, abolition

          6  and the underground railroad and the freedom

          7  seeking, happened over 150 years ago and there's

          8  been a huge amount of development since then. So,

          9  really if you start thinking about the buildings in

         10  Brooklyn that are over 150 years old, you're dealing

         11  with a fairly small universe. Then trying to

         12  acquaint that with this particular subset of

         13  history, it's small.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council

         16  Member James.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Chair, let me

         18  thank you. And let me join with my colleague Council

         19  Member Yassky for taking over the helm in the

         20  absence of Council Member Lappin, whose child I met

         21  over the weekend. Yes, Lucas, he's a beautiful baby

         22  boy. But, thank you, Mr. Chair. You're doing a

         23  stupendous job. And let me thank this panel,

         24  particularly let me thank, let me get to Ms.

         25  Christabel. Thank you for this book. I read it many
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          2  a nights, and thank you for this research. Let me

          3  thank my good friend from historical -- Simein,

          4  somewhere. Who does great work, who has helped me on

          5  a number of buildings, and I look forward to working

          6  with you in the future. And to Mr. Peer Reviewer,

          7  your last name is?

          8                 MR. HOURAHAN: Hourahan.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: In this report,

         10  your curriculum vitae is omitted, and so I want you

         11  to state on the record your background.

         12                 MR. HOURAHAN: Oh, yes. Like my

         13  colleague Jim Driscoll, who is behind me, who is the

         14  president of Queens Historical Society, I am the

         15  Collections Manager of the Queens Historical

         16  Society, in terms of expertise in this field, I have

         17  written extensively about African-American

         18  communities, fugitive slaves, abolitionists, in

         19  Queens, Manhattan, primarily in Queens and

         20  Manhattan. Of interest to me is how much some of

         21  that history in Queens, like Jamaica, Newtown and

         22  Flushing would be connected with Brooklyn. I never

         23  thought this would be, you know, get my fingers into

         24  Brooklyn, but as so many things went to Brooklyn,

         25  and it was across the Newtown Creek, so much the
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          2  history coming out of this area, same people,

          3  connections, but those are my credentials and

          4  scholar research.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It's important

          6  we include in the minutes your history, because

          7  perhaps some may argue that you're nothing more than

          8  a kook because your curriculum vitae is not here.

          9                 MR. HOURAHAN: I was not aware that it

         10  wasn't.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: No, I just want

         12  to get on the record your history and your

         13  background and who you are and the fact that you are

         14  credentialed and that you are knowledgeable in the

         15  subject matter and you are a professional, and to

         16  ignore your dissenting views would I think be a

         17  great disservice here today. And I knew about your

         18  background. I googled you, and when your history

         19  came up I said we can't ignore his comments.

         20                 Let me just read your comments

         21  briefly. Your comment 25, which is on page four of

         22  the appendix, basically says, "the research approach

         23  was to determine the construction, ownership and

         24  residency history of each building to the extent

         25  possible to determine if any records exist of the
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          2  owners and residents possible connection to

          3  abolitionists activities, churches or societies, and

          4  to determine what information..." Blah, blah, blah,

          5  blah, blah. This statement appears on page nine, and

          6  basically it goes on to say that in addition, and

          7  I'm jumping ahead,"... in addition, assuming that a

          8  tunnel was discovered, there would be no way of

          9  knowing if it served as a passageway for freedom

         10  seekers without corroborating artifacts.

         11                 In addition, a study of seventeen

         12  reputed tunnels connected with the Underground

         13  Railroad sites in Ohio, which I mentioned earlier,

         14  found no evidence to support the oral traditions.

         15                 My comments as a Peer Reviewer to

         16  review the research effort will concern two areas

         17  which I find flawed; research approach and data

         18  collection. I am not an archeologist and I'm

         19  unqualified to comment about technical aspects of

         20  this discipline. I do think one should be very

         21  careful when interpreting an artifact without

         22  corroborating documentary cultural, social,

         23  historical evidence. My understanding is that the

         24  investigation concerning the Underground Railroad,

         25  an abolitionist is not necessarily a participant in
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          2  the Underground Railroads, and participants in the

          3  Underground Railroad are not necessarily

          4  abolitionaries. If it did the research design, it

          5  might reasonably be a case study combined with

          6  comparative analysis..." Anyway, it goes on and on.

          7                 MR. HOURAHAN: Right.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And you just

          9  lay out the case and you basically lay out the flaws

         10  in this report. And, so, you know, when this case

         11  goes forward to court, and it will go forward,

         12  obviously this report should be attached as an

         13  appendix. Obviously, you are a star witness,

         14  clearly, and I would hope that you would support the

         15  homeowners in their quest to save their homes, and

         16  to stop the halt of -- stop the destruction of

         17  history in Downtown Brooklyn.

         18                 I welcome you to Brooklyn and I just

         19  appreciate all that you have done to outline all of

         20  the flaws in this report, and the fact that you have

         21  come forward, despite the fact that you were

         22  formerly a Peer Reviewer, it raises a lot of

         23  questions. This appendix and some of the comments

         24  from the Peer Reviewers raise a lot of concern, and,

         25  you know, I hope to join with the homeowners in
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          2  challenging the eminent domain findings, and

          3  procedure on Duffield Place.

          4                 So, thank you.

          5                 MR. HOURAHAN: Thank you.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I want to

          7  thank the panel for being here this afternoon.

          8                 Next is Robert Swan from the Black

          9  Brooklyn Historical Society. James Driscoll,

         10  President of Queens Historical Society. Dr.

         11  Williams-Myers from Dartmouth. Is he here? Beverly

         12  Corbin. Did you sign in, Ms. Gosh?

         13                 DR. LaROCHE: LaRoche.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, okay,

         15  you can come up.

         16                 Are we missing one person? Let's have

         17  Mr. Robert Furman join the panel. Whoever would like

         18  to start first can go.

         19                 MR. DRISCOLL: All right, I'll start.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, go

         21  ahead.

         22                 MR. DRISCOLL: Hi. My name is James

         23  Driscoll. I'm the President of the Queens Historical

         24  Society, and I did serve on the Peer Review Panel

         25  involved in researching the houses on Duffield
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          2  Street. I'm here because I believe that the homes on

          3  Duffield Street, particularly 227, should not be

          4  torn down, and because I basically disagree with the

          5  conclusion stated in the AKRF report.

          6                 Many years ago someone told me that

          7  the problem with Underground Railroad research is

          8  that too much emphasis is placed on the buildings

          9  and not enough on the people involved - the

         10  fugitives and the abolitionists who assisted them in

         11  their escape.

         12                 Looking at the story of the people

         13  who lived on Duffield Street will help lead us to

         14  the conclusion that their homes should be saved. It

         15  appears at this point that the most important story

         16  on the block is the story of Thomas Truesdale

         17  (spelled differently than earlier) and his wife

         18  Harriet Lee Truesdale. The story of this couple's

         19  involvement in the anti-slavery movement begins in

         20  Providence Rhode Island around 1830. He was an agent

         21  for the Genius of Emancipation, William Lloyd

         22  Garrison's first abolitionist newspaper. He was also

         23  an original member of the Rhode Island Anti-Slavery

         24  Society, attending a convention in 1836. Harriet Lee

         25  Truesdale was also an active abolitionist, serving
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          2  as an officer in the State's Women's Anti-Slavery

          3  Society. She attended a woman's anti-slavery

          4  convention in Philadelphia, the one where

          5  pro-slavery forces burned down the convention hall.

          6  There she served on a committee with Julia Tappan,

          7  the daughter of Lewis Tappan, the famous

          8  abolitionist who lived in Brooklyn Heights.

          9                 Years later, when they moved to

         10  downtown Brooklyn, the Truesdales would live near

         11  Julia. We know that the Truesdales were living in

         12  Brooklyn Heights as early as the late 1830s. I think

         13  there was some confusion there. They moved into

         14  Brooklyn around 1838 and they lived in various parts

         15  of Downtown Brooklyn, and they lived on Duffield

         16  Street in the 1850s. Here they continue their

         17  association with William Lloyd Garrison. Now,

         18  Garrison is the most famous of all the

         19  abolitionists. And he is also usually regarded as

         20  the most radical of all the abolitionists, and they

         21  knew the Truesdales and the Truesdales knew them.

         22  How do we know that, because in the Garrison

         23  letters, we know that Garrison visited the

         24  Truesdales at their homes at least twice. This was

         25  in 1838 and 1840.
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          2                 Now, this is I think a very important

          3  piece of evidence. It doesn't prove that they're

          4  Underground Railroad conductors, but it's a very,

          5  very important piece of evidence. You will not find

          6  this in the executive summary, okay? It was in one

          7  of the earlier reports that was sent to us by AKRF,

          8  but this key piece of evidence is missing from the

          9  executive summary. I don't understand that.

         10                 Now, also, to go on, although some

         11  would argue that many of these actions of the

         12  Truesdales did not take place while they were living

         13  on Duffield Street, it seems to me that they

         14  established a pattern of behavior that would

         15  continue when they moved to their new home on

         16  Duffield Street, again, around 1850.

         17                 Certainly information taken from the

         18  anti-slavery newspaper -- excuse me -- the

         19  Anti-slavery Standard, that's the official newspaper

         20  of the American Anti-Slavery Society. This paper

         21  lists Thomas Truesdale as a subscriber to the

         22  Standard for many, many years during that period of

         23  time. And also as a frequent contributor to the

         24  Society, okay?

         25                 To me the most important part of

                                                            157

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS

          2  their story, as it relates to Duffield Street,

          3  revolves around William Harned. Harned was a close

          4  associate of Lewis Tappan, who I mentioned before, a

          5  very important abolitionist who lived in Brooklyn

          6  Heights.

          7                 For years he retained an office in

          8  Tappan's building on John Street in Manhattan, where

          9  among other things he published many pamphlets on

         10  slavery and some of the first books on the history

         11  of Africa that were published in America.

         12                 The AKRF report properly points out

         13  that Harned was an officer in the New York State

         14  Vigilance Committee, which seems to have been a

         15  successor to the earlier New York City Vigilance

         16  Committee. These organizations had one purpose, to

         17  help fugitive slaves escape, okay? The state group

         18  that I mentioned that Harned was one of the heads

         19  of, claims to have helped hundreds of fugitive

         20  slaves escape from the south and all the way up into

         21  Canada. Its membership consisted of both African

         22  Americans and whites. If you look at the map of the

         23  neighborhood, which is included in the report, I

         24  did, but I didn't find it very easy to use, you

         25  notice that Harned lived in a corner house on the
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          2  next block, just a few doors down from the

          3  Truesdales. He lived there for a year or two, until

          4  1853. He had been living in the Downtown Brooklyn

          5  area since the late 1840s, and like the Truesdales,

          6  moved quite often.

          7                 It is documented that Harned himself

          8  helped a number of fugitive slaves escape. This is

          9  certainly significant and I think this fact should

         10  have been emphasized more in the report, and it's

         11  not, and the fact is that the Truesdales were

         12  practically next door neighbors to an important

         13  officer and an Underground Railroad organization.

         14  They were like four or five doors down from this

         15  guy. Now, it's possible, I guess it's technically

         16  possible that they didn't know each other, what they

         17  were doing, but that doesn't seem to make sense.

         18  And, again, it's not in the report. They do mention

         19  Harned's associations, but they don't mention this

         20  very important possible connection.

         21                 I know that this does not prove that

         22  Truesdale was involved in the Underground Railroad

         23  himself, but if it is combined with all of the other

         24  information we have on the Truesdales, it certainly

         25  makes a good case for saving the homes on Duffield
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          2  Street. Right, thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can we get

          4  a copy of that for the record, and you can give that

          5  to the Sergeant-At-Arms so he can make a copy?

          6                 DR. LaROCHE: My name is Cheryl

          7  LaRoche. I was the last Peer Reviewer added to the

          8  committee, and I was added on the request of the

          9  homeowners. They called the Society for Historical

         10  Archeology and they were given my name. I want to

         11  make one correction. At the time that I was on the

         12  Peer Review I was teaching at Georgetown, I'm now

         13  Visiting Assistant Professor at the University of

         14  Maryland in the Department of American Studies. Just

         15  so you know that.

         16                 I want to tell you that I am a

         17  historical and archeological consultant. I go around

         18  the country looking at these sites. I go around the

         19  country helping people research these sites when

         20  they've run into a dead end and don't know how to

         21  proceed. As I look over what AKRF has done, I,

         22  unlike most of the people here, cannot find fault

         23  with their fact-finding efforts. Considering that

         24  there had been no real Underground Railroad research

         25  or report prior to the work that they have done, I
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          2  think that they have laid a credible foundation for

          3  continuous and for continual work.

          4                 They have uncovered a massive amount

          5  of information, but what I will tell you, because I

          6  do help people research this, these impressive lists

          7  of websites and repositories and all of the things

          8  that they have consulted, are a start, but when you

          9  do this kind of research, it is rarely, the answer

         10  rarely lies in those kinds of research repositories.

         11                 As I found out when I went up to Troy

         12  New York looking at Henry Harland Garnett, who was

         13  the Pastor of the Liberty Street Presbyterian Church

         14  there, a very important church, the researchers went

         15  to the Presbyterian archives fully expecting to find

         16  a good bit of information about this church. The

         17  record is completely silent.

         18                 When we are researching Underground

         19  Railroad sites, when we are researching

         20  African-American sites, we often find that the kinds

         21  of records that have been consulted are silent and

         22  we have to look at alternative ways to find the

         23  information.

         24                 So, I think that AKRF, what you must

         25  -- has laid a firm foundation for further research.
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          2  Why should we be thinking now that based on their

          3  conclusions we have to make a decision to either

          4  support or get rid of the buildings. This is not the

          5  case.

          6                 So that, number one, I think it would

          7  be a flawed decision to look at a report that is a

          8  foundation to move forward, and use it as a

          9  conclusion. So, think of it as an opening.

         10                 I would also like to say that off the

         11  record I brought at least nine archeologists to the

         12  Duffield Street site. We looked over the basements,

         13  we looked over the anomalous features, we were

         14  confused, as everyone else, there is a problem with

         15  tunnels in the Underground Railroad, they are much

         16  more in the public's imagination. And the other

         17  problem with almost all of these anomalous features

         18  that you find in the Underground Railroad is that

         19  they can be explained away.

         20                 Harriet Jacobs lived in the eaves of

         21  an attic in a home. There are almost always things

         22  in architecturally significant -- things that are

         23  architecturally significant in these kinds of homes,

         24  can be explained in other ways and are frequently

         25  used for something else. So, it's difficult to make
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          2  these kinds of attachments.

          3                 In terms of that Ohio study, if you

          4  read the study what you will find is that they did

          5  indeed often find underground or subterranean

          6  features. But in each instance those features were

          7  explained away for their primary purpose. Am I

          8  making sense? So that it's a very confusing and

          9  difficult field to make these kinds of conclusive

         10  assertions.

         11                 I want to also go on to say that I

         12  look at many sites in the preverification stage,

         13  which is where you are with Duffield Street, and

         14  when you are at this stage, often this is when the

         15  demolition occurs, because verification frequently

         16  takes much longer.

         17                 There are two things that are

         18  antithetical to one another that are in operation

         19  here. You have the speed and the desire for

         20  development, versus a history that -- you know,

         21  people that write books take ten, 15 and 20 years to

         22  develop their research. Two and a half years is

         23  often just the beginning of an outline, which is

         24  what you have here. So, if you would start to think

         25  of this as a long-term research plan, you will begin
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          2  to understand that I already know that the end of

          3  this, when we tie all of these things together, you

          4  do have an Underground Railroad site. I can say that

          5  to you, even though I do not have the documentation.

          6                 When I was approached to do this

          7  work, I took one look at the maps, the

          8  configuration, and in my own dissertation I

          9  developed a template on how to look for unverified,

         10  underground railroad sites. You have every single

         11  one of the things that I would identify.

         12  Particularly being ringed by these black churches.

         13  This is a phenomenal site. If you look at the names

         14  in this document, it reads like a who's who of the

         15  Underground Railroad and the abolitionist movement.

         16  What you don't have is the rest of the connections

         17  pulled together.

         18                 So, what I want to say to you in the

         19  end is that this is a wonderful and a fine start,

         20  that looking for documentary sources in places that

         21  are normally sought is a flawed way of thinking. And

         22  that I agree with my colleagues on the Peer Review,

         23  Underground Railroad research is highly specialized,

         24  requires a huge amount of creativity, and we're

         25  forever running into brick walls where we have to
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          2  step back, rethink our position and look for other

          3  things to look at.

          4                 What I saw, which I had missed

          5  somehow before, that in 1842, Mary and James

          6  Treadwell, I hadn't seen this before. Treadwell. In

          7  the 1840s, Harvard Harry Jacob's daughter. You know,

          8  this is another phenomenal piece of information. So

          9  that when you start to tie all of these together,

         10  you're not only going to have an incredible history

         11  of Downtown Brooklyn, Duffield Street will be in the

         12  center of it. Thank you.

         13                 MR. FURMAN: Hi. My name is Robert

         14  Furman. Most of you know me as the Executive

         15  Director of 4 Borough Neighborhood Preservation

         16  Alliance, but I am also a Brooklyn historian and a

         17  student of historical archeology, which I learned

         18  while working with Dr. Arthur Bankoff of the

         19  Brooklyn College Archeology Research Center in

         20  American Revolution investigations.

         21                 These studies enable me to state that

         22  AKRF's report was so incompetent as to invalidate

         23  it, and require additional professional objective

         24  studies. It has been pointed out that the

         25  researchers AKRF employed on their project were
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          2  unfamiliar with local abolitionists and general

          3  history.

          4                 They stated, in fact, that the

          5  abolitionist, Lewis Tappan, was the founder of the

          6  Brooklyn Eagle Newspaper. This error demonstrates

          7  total ignorance of the local history of the period

          8  in question. The original name of the paper was The

          9  Brooklyn Eagle and Kings County Democrat, which

         10  reflected the fact that the City of Brooklyn was

         11  only a part of Kings County. And didn't include all

         12  of Kings County until about 1890.

         13                 But the name indicates, more

         14  importantly, that it was a partisan party newspaper.

         15  If you know anything about American history at that

         16  time, a democratic party paper, unfortunately for

         17  those of you who are all democrats, the party wasn't

         18  real sympathetic to Lewis Tappan including

         19  northerners in the party.

         20                 The view of the democrats placed most

         21  charitably was that we don't want to do anything

         22  about slavery in the south, let them work out their

         23  own problems. We sure don't want to support

         24  abolition and go to war over this. And that was the

         25  view of the Brooklyn Eagle. Walt Whitman, who made
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          2  his living not as a poet, by the way, but a working

          3  journalist, was fired as editor of the Eagle in 1848

          4  precisely because of his abolitionist views. So this

          5  is a serious matter.

          6                 In point of fact, the Eagle was

          7  founded by Brooklyn Democratic Leader Henry

          8  Cruzmurphy (phonetic) and newspaper man Isaac Van

          9  Anden. Murphy is best known as the president of the

         10  New York and Brooklyn Bridge Corporation, which

         11  built the Brooklyn Bridge. But he was almost a

         12  democratic nominee for president in 1852. He was

         13  most known for his honesty in a time of rampant

         14  corruption.

         15                 This is an 1879 engraved picture of

         16  Henry Cruzmurphy. I got this out of my copy of Henry

         17  Styles History of Kings County, that's one of the

         18  standard works on Brooklyn history and is clearly a

         19  good source for this information, which is the

         20  source of what I'm saying to you.

         21                 Now, on the archeological

         22  information, I thought it was really interesting

         23  that the lady from EDC said the only way you could

         24  do any archeological studies here was to tear the

         25  building down. I mean, that is so indicative of
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          2  their whole approach to this, which is to discredit

          3  any information that seeks to bring any credit upon

          4  the allegations that these places were involved in

          5  the Underground Railroad. They did no archeology

          6  studies. Archeology can have a lot to say about old

          7  buildings. When I worked with Dr. Bankoff he showed

          8  me a hidden space in the Hedrick Lott house on East

          9  36th Street in Marine Park, which is an 18th century

         10  farm house and now a New York City Parks Historic

         11  House Trust Property, which both housed slaves

         12  during that odious institutions -- until that odious

         13  institution's local abolition in 1829, and served as

         14  an underground railroad station thereafter. That

         15  house is probably the only verified Underground

         16  Railroad private home site in Kings County.

         17                 I climbed the ladder up into the

         18  attic of the house and it was pointed out that there

         19  were African influence corncob artifacts there that

         20  were in a hidden chamber which was presumably used

         21  to hide fugitives from the south who were escaping

         22  through the good efforts of the lot family who were

         23  former slave owners.

         24                 This is not exactly unknown

         25  information, it was extensively covered at the time
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          2  it was discovered in 2002, in both professional

          3  organs and was the subject of an extensive magazine

          4  article in the Sunday New York Times Magazine.

          5                 In addition, the fact that

          6  underground egresses have been sited, photographed

          7  and then covered over during the current

          8  construction of the Olof Sheridan (phonetic) across

          9  Duffield Streets, indicates an urgent need to

         10  examine whether these are tunnel exits from 227

         11  Duffield before they are totally eradicated by new

         12  construction.

         13                 These facts made clear to me that

         14  additional historical research is required, and that

         15  archeological studies by qualified professionals on

         16  emergency basis are necessary.

         17                 I'd also like to add that AKRF and

         18  EDC made a big issue of the fact that they really

         19  can't prove that these sites are related to the

         20  Underground Railroad, and, therefore, we shouldn't

         21  preserve them.

         22                 But let's look at what we do preserve

         23  in the City. The two most important colonial era

         24  sites in American history in New York City are

         25  Federal Hall and Francis Tavern. Well, if you didn't
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          2  know it, Francis Tavern is a 1909 educated guess

          3  reconstruction of the actual building. And Federal

          4  Hall isn't Federal Hall. It is an 1833 subtreasury

          5  building, which was on the site of the real Federal

          6  Hall, which had previously been New York City's City

          7  Hall. So, neither of the most important sites

          8  related to the American Revolution are real, but we

          9  go there anyway because we know it's important that

         10  New York City had a colonial era and American

         11  Revolution history. And these are the only places we

         12  have where we can honor it. Let me suggest to you

         13  that a place like 227 Duffield Street, where even

         14  AKRF concedes that it very well may be related to

         15  the Underground Railroad is important enough for us

         16  to preserve an honor that history. Thank you.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Go ahead.

         18  State your name for the record, please.

         19                 MR. SWAN: My name is Robert J. Swan.

         20  I have a PhD in American History from NYU in 1880 --

         21  I wish 1880, 1989.

         22                 I started in history much before

         23  that. I was the first researcher for Project

         24  Weeksville. I never worked for the Weeksville

         25  Society because of technical problems, but I was one
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          2  of the first researchers, that's way, way back in

          3  1970.

          4                 Since 1971, '72, '73, '74 I've been

          5  doing independent study of Brooklyn history and

          6  Manhattan history, and I've been telling everyone

          7  who sits down and writes a book that it's what

          8  they're writing is wrong. It's simply if you know

          9  the pattern of historiography, all they do is add on

         10  works by other people, and they add some new

         11  contribution so that most of the history simply

         12  works by other people, which is complied into a new

         13  document, and that is supposed to be new history. It

         14  isn't. It isn't.

         15                 Anyway, to make a long story short, I

         16  was never involved in the AKRF research efforts,

         17  although I was called in 2004 by Jennifer Morris,

         18  and the statements that they have in the report are

         19  simply wrong. Simply wrong.

         20                 We had one telephone conversation and

         21  my interest in history, I was willing to help her do

         22  research, but she never called me back and yet she

         23  says in the report that I was supposed to do some

         24  work on a book and I never got back to her.

         25                 Anyway, before I begin my criticism
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          2  of the AKRF report, I want you all to understand,

          3  although it's been mentioned here a few times, I

          4  don't think the importance of the historiography of

          5  the underground railroad is appreciated by most

          6  people, most scholars. The first thing you have to

          7  understand is that most Underground Railroad studies

          8  are based on efforts of white folks who supposedly

          9  have harbored slaves and put them on this road to

         10  freedom. So, essentially the Underground Railroad

         11  studies is really white history. It is not black

         12  history. Most of the histories of the Underground

         13  Railroad rarely mention black folks, except as

         14  conveyors of parcels that are being conveyed from

         15  one place to the other.

         16                 The history, Underground Railroad

         17  studies in urban cities, such as New York and

         18  Brooklyn, has never been touched. Never been

         19  touched. Charles Blocks did a little comprehensive

         20  study on what little information we know and he

         21  concluded that most of the efforts of the

         22  Underground Railroad were done by black people,

         23  particularly at the black churches, and if you have

         24  any understanding of black history, the similarities

         25  of oppression cause you to help each other and
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          2  because you don't have this rich country mansion

          3  that's isolated in the country, I mean nobody left

          4  any records for black people.

          5                 The next thing that says that you

          6  have to understand about underground railroad

          7  studies, and I don't think people pay too much

          8  emphasis on this, is that the operation was secret.

          9  I cannot emphasize that more. It was secret. You

         10  cannot compare the underground history of an

         11  isolated farm house to the underground history of a

         12  place in the City. Why? Because apprehension of

         13  fugitives was legal. By 1850 they were getting paid

         14  to apprehend slaves. You know, it's ridiculous. It's

         15  absolutely ridiculous, when you talk about safe

         16  house, there is no such thing as a safe house in the

         17  City. No such thing. Even before 1850. No such

         18  thing. Why? Because it's a secret operation. It was

         19  illegal. It was illegal for the slave because he can

         20  be apprehended and brought back to slavery, it was

         21  illegal for the person who assisted him because he

         22  can be thrown in jail and fined thousands of

         23  dollars.

         24                 So, therefore, you had to develop

         25  secret methods. And one of those secret methods,

                                                            173

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS

          2  which I don't think the AKRF or anybody has paid any

          3  attention to, is the fact that tunnels help secrete

          4  slaves, so in the inner cities, you would generally

          5  find more and more existence of tunnels than you

          6  would in the suburbs. In that Ohio report that was

          7  mentioned when AKRF was here that talks about that

          8  issue, most of the slaves, most of the tunnels that

          9  they found in these Ohio studies don't exist. Don't

         10  exist. So, we need to do work on finding some

         11  important features of the Underground Railroad in

         12  the urban setting and Brooklyn is now a primary

         13  candidate for doing research in this area.

         14                 So, with that aspect, with that

         15  known, I was called to do -- I was called, when Joy

         16  Chatel just asked me some questions about the

         17  Underground Railroad, and I never heard of it

         18  myself, even though I have 30 years history. I met

         19  with Fred Laverpool, but he was just trying to scare

         20  me, so I never followed up on him.

         21                 I was called to do research on the

         22  existence of the Underground Railroad, not on

         23  Duffield Street but in Downtown Brooklyn. Downtown

         24  Brooklyn.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But you
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          2  were not on the Peer Review Committee?

          3                 MR. SWAN: No. I was not on the Peer

          4  Review Committee.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          6                 MR. SWAN: I have never had a formal

          7  job in history, even with a PhD.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right.

          9  Can you just focus on, you said you were going to

         10  make some specific points about the study. Could you

         11  just focus on that? Because I think you've

         12  established your predicate now.

         13                 MR. SWAN: Okay, certainly will.

         14  That's what I'm leading into now.

         15                 When I was called by Joy Chatel to

         16  look into this situation, I wrote a paper on

         17  Underground Railroad sites in Manhattan and

         18  Brooklyn, and I paid particular attention to

         19  Duffield Street. That paper sort of found its way --

         20  well, it was attached to Joy's final report and sent

         21  to the AKRF, and I believe every Peer Reviewer got a

         22  copy of that report.

         23                 I was not aware of that until

         24  September when I went to a meeting and I found out

         25  that my report is being circulated throughout the
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          2  meeting, okay? My name was taken off of it. It was

          3  condensed, and I started asking questions and I got

          4  no answers and I found out that this is plagiarism

          5  so, I complained to AKRF, and this is the ethics

          6  issue that Councilman Barron mentioned when he was

          7  here. This is the ethics issue. I complain to AKRF

          8  and they dawned me for a couple of months and then

          9  finally by November they sent me a memo saying that

         10  they would -- I won't get into the other details,

         11  that's not important. Well, it is, but they sent me

         12  a memo saying that they would use my fax and

         13  information but would not mention that report.

         14                 That makes absolutely no sense to me.

         15  I wrote that report and I complained on the question

         16  of plagiarism, and I complained on the question of

         17  copyright infringement. This is a very, very

         18  important issue what you have to pay attention to

         19  with this AKRF report. I believe, that's why I

         20  wasn't concerned in the beginning, I believe that

         21  this was an internal report written by AKRF for EDC.

         22  I did not think that it would get out of the City

         23  Council, any branch of the City Council.

         24                 In other words, this should not be in

         25  the public domain. But what has happened now is AKRF
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          2  -- well, I won my case with AKRF and they agreed to

          3  attach my report to their report as an addendum. I'm

          4  not cited in the report at all, yet my report is the

          5  basis of theirs, of theirs. And that's one

          6  complaint. The most important complaint I have is

          7  they took this thing and put it on the Internet. The

          8  Internet is the public domain. Any person in the

          9  public can pick up this book and claim it as their

         10  own. That is a violation of copyright.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes. Okay.

         12  So, you're saying that they stole your report,

         13  basically, and they regurgitated it as their own. Is

         14  that what you're saying?

         15                 MR. SWAN: Yes.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Mr. Chair,

         18  whenever it's appropriate, I have one follow-up to

         19  the Peer Review folks. A question. Whenever

         20  appropriate.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Go ahead.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: My question

         23  is, I just want to understand the process, what did

         24  AKRF -- how was the Peer Review conducted? In other

         25  words, this report was circulated to you, you know,
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          2  at some point as a draft, I'm going to assume that.

          3  Beyond that, did you have the opportunity to

          4  question any of the people that worked on it? What

          5  beyond this draft, a draft of this were you given as

          6  for Peer Review?

          7                 I'm sorry, they're asking you to push

          8  the button in.

          9                 MR. DRISCOLL: We were sent the

         10  various drafts throughout the whole process, and we

         11  would make comments on the information in the

         12  drafts, but we never had the -- we had one phone

         13  call among ourselves at the very beginning that

         14  Richard Hourahan mentioned before, had a conference

         15  phone call, but we never had any relation with

         16  people who were doing the actual research. To this

         17  day we sort of, those who know each other sort of

         18  joke among ourselves, who the actual researchers

         19  were. We don't know who the researchers were. There

         20  was no interaction at all between us and the people

         21  doing the research.

         22                 DR. LaROCHE: If I can make a point?

         23  If you look at the comments from the Peer Reviewers

         24  at the back, you will often see that many of them

         25  were cogent points that have been raised in this

                                                            178

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS

          2  report were actually raised by the Peer Reviewers

          3  and much of the substantive information that follows

          4  came out of the Peer Review process but was

          5  contributed by those of us who have been working in

          6  the field. And, so, we reacted to the document, but

          7  we also contributed to it in major ways, people

          8  undertaking research unsolicited to augment what had

          9  been given to us.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And that's my

         11  last question, Mr. Chair, just the one last for Ms.

         12  LaRoche.

         13                 I thought your presentation was --

         14                 DR. LaROCHE: It's Dr. LaRoche.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Pardon me. Dr.

         16  LaRoche, I thought that your presentation was very

         17  informative and really framed this, I thought very

         18  interestingly.

         19                 Did you make suggestions for things

         20  further, you know, further study, further ways to

         21  follow-up to AKRF?  And if so, were those things

         22  done?

         23                 DR. LaROCHE: Yes. At times I think

         24  when we -- I can remember at least once where we

         25  started talking about women because there hadn't

                                                            179

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS

          2  been much focus on the female abolitionists, and if

          3  you look again in the addendum, you'll see, or in

          4  the appendices, you will see where once we made a

          5  suggestion AKRF either addressed it, researched it

          6  or dismissed it.

          7                 I also offered to send them a copy of

          8  my dissertation where there was this discussion of

          9  how to look at these sites and how to think about

         10  the landscape, but I don't think that they took me

         11  up on that offer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         13                 MR. FURMAN: Can I add to that? I just

         14  want to say, speaking with Dr. LaRoche, I think most

         15  of the key information that goes the furthest to

         16  prove that there was underground railroad activity

         17  on that block came from the Peer Reviewers doing

         18  what they really weren't hired to do, doing, you

         19  know, doing research on their own. I don't know of

         20  any key piece of information that would prove the

         21  point that actually came originally from AKRF

         22  researchers. I think nearly all of it came from the

         23  people who weren't supposed to do it in the first

         24  place.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: That's very
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          2  interesting.

          3                 Okay, thank you very much for that.

          4  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you,

          6  panel. I've got questions but I'm running out of

          7  time. I thought, Dr. LaRoche, you had some very

          8  interesting points.

          9                 You said you brought archeologists to

         10  the site?

         11                 DR. LaROCHE: Yes, I did.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And was

         13  AKRF knowledgeable that you brought archeologists to

         14  the site?

         15                 DR. LaROCHE: You know, I did this

         16  independently. I let them know. Some of the

         17  archeologists that came felt that they had a

         18  conflict of interest.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         20                 DR. LaROCHE: So that they didn't want

         21  to be identified, particularly.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         23                 DR. LaROCHE: I brought some members

         24  who were professional archeologists of New York

         25  City. I brought two other archeologists who were
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          2  interested in really helping the homeowners further

          3  research their sites.

          4                 I'm a cultural heritage specialist.

          5  I'm a principle investigator. I dig. But I don't lay

          6  out these big sites, and I brought two archeologists

          7  who had that capacity.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you

          9  didn't think demolition was necessary?

         10                 DR. LaROCHE: No, that's just --

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That was a

         12  bunch of --

         13                 DR. LaROCHE: That's really a poorly,

         14  it's an ill-conceived plan. Archeology can be

         15  conducted both, there is an empty lot actually

         16  between, what is it --

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: There are

         18  two empty lots over there, right;.

         19                 DR. LaROCHE: There is an empty lot.

         20  There are privies in the back yard. There are back

         21  yards. There are areas under the sidewalk. There are

         22  areas in the basement. There are remote sensing

         23  techniques. There are ways to drop cameras down into

         24  the rooms, in the basement. There are ways to pursue

         25  some of the anomalous features that while I can't
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          2  call them tunnels, are passageways. But you can

          3  still look. And between that vacant lot, you can

          4  begin to have some understanding. But there was no

          5  mechanism in place. Archeology is expensive, it's

          6  time consuming, you need to be bonded, you need to

          7  have heavy equipment. None of those things were ever

          8  anticipated, but none of the archeologists -- one of

          9  the archeologists thought it was that they were

         10  probably coal chutes. But, again, this is one person

         11  out of at least ten.

         12                 Most of the archeologists left

         13  scratching their heads.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         15                 DR. LaROCHE: They were never clear.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. All

         17  right, thank you. I want to thank the panel.

         18                 MR. FURMAN: Can I respond to that?

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Did you

         20  have archeologists come to the site, Mr. Furman?

         21  Well, it's not pertaining to this site. Thank you.

         22                 It's just 3:00 and I've got a lot

         23  more people to hear from, and if you're not on

         24  point, I've got to keep moving.

         25                 Reverend Clinton Miller. The Reverend
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          2  left?

          3                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I'm reading his

          4  statement.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You're

          6  reading his statement? All right, everyone is on a

          7  two-minute clock. Joy Chatel.

          8                 MS. CHATEL: Chatel.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Is she

         10  here? 227 Duffield.

         11                 Jennifer Levy, are you still here for

         12  Ms. Chatel?

         13                 MS. MARSHALL: Yes.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And

         15  Janette. Come on down. You can start reading. And

         16  Sergeant-At-Arms, two minutes for each person,

         17  please. It's 3:00.

         18                 MS. MARSHALL: Okay. The word

         19  "underground" implies underground history. Much of

         20  African-American history is based on the oral

         21  tradition. The EDC misunderstands this integral

         22  dynamic of African-American history. Renown

         23  historians such as Albert Rabitso, author of Slave

         24  Religion, and John Hope Frankman, author of From

         25  Slavery To Freedom, confirm this unique aspect of
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          2  black history. The EDC will not likely find what it

          3  may define as plausible evidence in regard to this

          4  site.

          5                 Considering the climate of the 19th

          6  Century participants in the Underground Railroad,

          7  like Henry Ward Beecher, would have been unwise to

          8  document locations of the Underground Railroad.

          9  Again, substantial documentation would have

         10  jeopardized the undergound aspect of the railroad.

         11                 Students of history know that when

         12  there is a discrepancy in findings, a third party is

         13  usually asked to intervene and investigate. In this

         14  case it would be hard for historical organizations

         15  to objectively investigate after being compensated

         16  up to $500,000. This is a conflict of interest.

         17                 Can another historical investigation

         18  be launched? An investigation that will be paid for

         19  by an objective party?

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can you

         21  state your name for the record?

         22                 MS. MARSHALL: My name is Desiree

         23  Marshall.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: How old

         25  are you?
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          2                 MS. MARSHALL: Twenty-three.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Really?

          4  These young-looking people in here today. You look

          5  12. All right, thanks for being here.

          6                 MS. MARSHALL: You better get the name

          7  of her lotion.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes,

          9  right? Okay. You did well, thank you.

         10                 Next person.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It was my

         12  pastor, by the way. My second pastor.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         14                 MS. CHATEL: My name is Joy Maria

         15  Chatel. I'm the homeowner of 227 Duffield Street,

         16  the house that got a three. They were using the

         17  Wellman's scale and I spoke with Judith Wellman. We

         18  both belong to the organization called Friends of

         19  the Underground Railroad. Her scale first started

         20  from a one to a four. Now it's a five. She rated me

         21  a three and a half. I don't know how the rating

         22  thing works, but I don't see where a scale would

         23  work when you're trying to look for underground

         24  railroad activity.

         25                 The thing about it, my husband
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          2  telling me this oral tradition, it was taken out of

          3  context, because all of the documents that I

          4  provided to Linh Do wasn't put in. She used the same

          5  camera for most of the pictures, but all you see is

          6  the bottles and things that came out clear, but the

          7  same camera was used. And I don't understand that.

          8  Harriet Truesdale was named in this book called The

          9  Devotion of These Women, by Deborah van

         10  Bruckenridge. Now, she wrote about Harriet Truesdale

         11  being an ardent abolitionist and starting an

         12  abolitionist society. And this woman lived in that

         13  house. You don't start something like that and

         14  almost get killed and befriend Juliana Tappan or

         15  Julia Tappan, she named one of her children after

         16  Juliana Tappan, and you can't start something like

         17  that and then go home and start baking cookies for

         18  the rest of your life. You just don't do things like

         19  that.

         20                 They said that they were going to

         21  look into things with the stakeholders and other

         22  people. Now, who were the local stakeholders if

         23  they're moving everybody out. The stakeholders is

         24  AKRF and EDC? They're moving everybody out, so who

         25  are going to be the stakeholders? The people that go
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          2  downtown to shop? I don't understand it.

          3                 And another thing, they didn't

          4  mention the Elm Street Church that was founded by

          5  Bowen who founded Plymouth Church, and Bridge Street

          6  Church. And they didn't mention the builders. Oh,

          7  they did mention the builder Bonell, but they said

          8  he lived next door. And he was an abolitionist but

          9  he lived next door. He built those houses that I

         10  live in, Bonell and White. It was Bonell that built

         11  my house and then it was White that built William

         12  Horning's house. I know I ran out of time, but I'll

         13  submit something into writing.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         16                 Next person.

         17                 MS. MUHLMANN: Yes. My name is

         18  Jeanette Muhlmann. I live in Duffield Street since

         19  2000. I come from Europe. My family, just to say it

         20  on the side, is Jewish, they survived the Holocaust.

         21  My grandparents and parents were hiding a lot of

         22  people, and believe me, this is not found in any

         23  records, because that is not how people do it. This

         24  is a secret thing. You don't say where you hide

         25  them, and you definitely don't go to the press or
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          2  any government and tell them, look, here we have a

          3  place where we hide them. This is basically

          4  completely nonsense. So, you will not find that in a

          5  report.

          6                 So, what I saw with my own eyes, is I

          7  live on the corner, Duffield Street from Willoughby

          8  Street, in very old building that they're going to

          9  demolish now, too. Next to me is this parking lot

         10  you were talking about where they built the Sheridan

         11  Hotel, and I have a beautiful rooftop which I stand

         12  on every day three, four times, and look down and

         13  see the site where they dig.

         14                 The first thing I saw in late

         15  September/October when they started drilling holes

         16  without us knowing what is going on, they tried to

         17  find out whether they can build this 26-story

         18  building, and then they started digging diverse

         19  holes all around, and they started digging a hole

         20  basically in the middle very strangely, and I saw

         21  coming up arches, far below basement ground.

         22                 I wanted to photograph it, and it was

         23  very strange because they closed it again. It was

         24  arches, definitely, under basement ground, built

         25  with bricks. Visible. And very, I got very excited.
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          2                 So, then they closed that and now I'm

          3  in close conversation with all the construction

          4  workers, where I would say 80 percent had no clue

          5  what the Underground Railroad is, they thought it

          6  was a subway. So, we started talking about all of

          7  that, and suddenly some of the people that have more

          8  to say told me they're going to tell me again when I

          9  can come with my camera because they found a tunnel.

         10                 This tunnel they closed also, because

         11  the caterpillars go over this tunnel right inside to

         12  dig the big hole. I know exactly where the tunnel

         13  is, so that's why I am here, I would like that

         14  everybody knows about that. Because I am in strong

         15  connection with the construction workers, and I can

         16  look down any time because I live there. I can look

         17  down any time, watch it and photograph it. And I

         18  have seen it with my own eyes. I know that this

         19  street has tons of tunnels.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 Next.

         23                 MS. LEVY: Good afternoon. Thank you

         24  for your patience this afternoon. I'm Jennifer Levy

         25  from South Brooklyn Legal Services, and I'm going to
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          2  go against the tide today by saying that I think

          3  that this report was very significant. And the

          4  reason I think it was so significant is because it

          5  was such a departure from the Environmental Impact

          6  Statement that AKRF produced when the Downtown

          7  Brooklyn Plan was approved.

          8                 In that Environmental Impact

          9  Statement they said repeatedly that there were no

         10  documentable associations to the Underground

         11  Railroad in any of the buildings that were slated

         12  for development as part of the plan. Three and a

         13  half years later, and $500,000 later, they came up

         14  with evidence that a lot of us could find just by

         15  googling the Internet, that at 227 Duffield, there

         16  were abolitionist leaders, that there were

         17  abolitionist movements all around the properties in

         18  this area.

         19                 Also significant, because this

         20  admittedly biased agency said that there was

         21  possibly or probably a link to underground railroad

         22  activity at 227 Duffield. It's amazing that they

         23  published, that four of the Peer Review panel that

         24  they chose thought that it should be higher than a

         25  three on the Wellman Scale, including Wellman
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          2  herself.

          3                 So, I join the call, as many of the

          4  others who are here today, who call for further

          5  research into the history of the Underground

          6  Railroad in this area. But I would say that this is

          7  not just an ethical obligation, or a scholarly

          8  obligation, but it's a legal obligation. When public

          9  action will result in significant adverse impacts on

         10  neighborhood character and history, the government

         11  has a duty to study those impacts, to have

         12  meaningful public comment, and to study measures

         13  that could be employed and mitigate those impacts.

         14  And if they did that, those homes on Duffield would

         15  not be demolished.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         17                 Okay, Ms. Chatel, you live in the

         18  building now?

         19                 MS. CHATEL: Yes.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do you own

         21  the building?

         22                 MS. CHATEL: Yes, my family does.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The family

         24  owns the building?

         25                 MS. CHATEL: Yes.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And

          3  how long have you been in the building?

          4                 MS. CHATEL: I've been in the building

          5  personally since '87. My husband and his first

          6  wife's family had the building since 1948, and there

          7  was another owner, Avelle, who had it before them,

          8  then the Truesdale family had it and sold it off.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. But

         10  when you moved in the building, the building was

         11  vacant?

         12                 MS. CHATEL: My husband lived there.

         13  My husband, he's passed away.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, I got

         15  that.

         16                 MS. CHATEL: He and his family, his

         17  first wife, and the family, they lived in that

         18  house.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         20                 MS. CHATEL: They bought it in 1948.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Got it.

         22                 Okay. And you're in 227?

         23                 MS. CHATEL: Yes.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And that's

         25  what, a two-family, or one-family?

                                                            193

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS

          2                 MS. CHATEL: It's two. Sometimes they

          3  say it's three.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And

          5  is anyone else in the building now? Any other person

          6  in the building now?

          7                 MS. CHATEL: Yes. My family. My

          8  grandchildren that I'm raising.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And you

         10  want to see the building maintained as a historical

         11  site?

         12                 MS. CHATEL: Yes. I'd like to see all

         13  the buildings become a freedom center, like they

         14  have in Cincinnati. Not just 227, but all of the

         15  buildings on Duffield Street.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Freedom

         17  center?

         18                 MS. CHATEL: Like they have in

         19  Cincinnati.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You've got

         21  to explain that.

         22                 MS. CHATEL: Oh, I beg your pardon.

         23  Oprah Winfrey gave money to open an Underground

         24  Railroads Museum.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you're
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          2  willing for your house to be a museum where people

          3  would come in all the time?

          4                 MS. CHATEL: They're already doing it.

          5  They're bringing school children who have been

          6  there. I have pictures of people coming from London,

          7  England, when they had the 200th Year Anniversary of

          8  the Atlantic Slave Trade Abolishment. So, it's been

          9  used as a museum and people have been coming to view

         10  and celebrate the fact that the people that were

         11  freedom seekers went down that street.

         12                 And by the way, the opening to our

         13  houses wouldn't hold, he couldn't pave over it

         14  because it was a big hole. We saw the connection.

         15  And I took pictures, only because the fact that if

         16  he didn't fix my property where it was breaking,

         17  caving in, because they were connected, that it

         18  would be a problem. So, what he did was move a big

         19  oil tanker, from that table to the end of here,

         20  underneath the surface and then they put wood on top

         21  of that. And then they paved over, because he knew

         22  that if he built on top of the empty space that it

         23  would collapse.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: It says

         25  you have a two-story brick extension that was put on
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          2  the front of the building.

          3                 MS. CHATEL: That was before I was

          4  born.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. That

          6  was done, according to the records, in 1936, some

          7  time around that time.

          8                 MS. CHATEL: 1936. So that had to have

          9  been done by the Avelle family (phonetic), the

         10  people that had owned the house then.

         11                 My husband's family owned 235, 233,

         12  231 and 229. And I gave Ms. Do all those documents,

         13  all the deeds, she saw it. She spent a lot of time

         14  at my house taking pictures, and she took a picture

         15  of the corn husk that was in the sub basement, where

         16  the houses connect and the room was where it still

         17  is, but it's closed off, and she took a picture of

         18  that. And the bottles that were found in the privy,

         19  the bottles and all the rest of the bottles. The

         20  thing that I don't understand is, how did all those

         21  pictures come out clear, but the ones that show the

         22  book that Deborah van Buren wrote about Harriet

         23  Truesdale and William Truesdale, who was working

         24  for, he was working for the union army, and sent a

         25  spy who was an actress into the Confederacy in order
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          2  to spy for them. I don't see how that wasn't added

          3  in. I don't see how those pictures came out very

          4  blurry.

          5                 Plus, Harriet Truesdale's last

          6  testimony was her daughter, Juliana Betreathe

          7  (phonetic), whose husband was a lawyer, and Reverend

          8  Francis Peck. I couldn't understand why that didn't

          9  come up.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do you

         11  have those records in the house?

         12                 MS. CHATEL: Yes. She put them in the

         13  book. I don't have them in my house per se. I had to

         14  put it in a safe place.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right.

         16  Thank you.

         17                 MS. CHATEL: You're welcome.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And you

         19  said there were a few properties that your husband

         20  owned. Those other properties were sold off?

         21                 MS. CHATEL: My husband's family.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The family

         23  owns them.

         24                 MS. CHATEL: Yes, my husband's wife's

         25  family. She was born in 235 in 1915.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And

          3  is there any other owners on 227 Duffield Street

          4  now?

          5                 MS. CHATEL: Yes.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. So

          7  you're sharing the building with someone? I'm

          8  confused. You lost me here.

          9                 MS. CHATEL: No, I'm not. It's just me

         10  and my grandchildren that live there.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         12                 All right, I don't think I have any

         13  other questions.

         14                 Council Member James.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: First let me

         16  thank the panel for your testimony. This has been a

         17  three-year struggle, I think? Three-year struggle,

         18  and finally we're at this point, and hopefully we

         19  could preserve these homes and create what is in

         20  Cincinnati, Ohio.

         21                 Ms. Chatel, there's some buildings

         22  around the corner or somewhere in Downtown Brooklyn

         23  that were once, I think it's now a museum of some

         24  sort, some buildings on the side street, they're

         25  these clapboard buildings in MetroTech? On the other
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          2  side of Duffield? Do you know what they once were

          3  and how they got to be placed in that position right

          4  there?

          5                 MS. CHATEL: You're talking about

          6  next, where the Catholic Church is?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

          8                 MS. CHATEL: The Johnston Street

          9  Houses?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         11                 MS. CHATEL: I saw when they moved to

         12  Johnston Street Houses there, beside the church, but

         13  God only knows, they're supposed to be historical

         14  houses, no one did a study on them.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But my point is

         16  is that there were homes somewhere in Downtown

         17  Brooklyn, they were moved to Johnston Street as a

         18  result of MetroTech 1.

         19                 MS. CHATEL: They were moved from

         20  Johnston Street next door to the Church.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Next door to

         22  the church.

         23                 MS. CHATEL: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And they were

         25  done because they were designated as historic,
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          2  correct?

          3                 MS. CHATEL: I didn't know, but I

          4  would imagine so.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And so my

          6  question to you is with respect to Duffield, the

          7  homes on Duffield Place and creating it into an

          8  exhibit, the City can do something similar because

          9  we did it on Johnston Street, right?

         10                 MS. CHATEL: The thing of it is the

         11  gold is in the ground. The gold is with the tunnels

         12  and the people live there in those houses.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: No, but my

         14  point is that, we could preserve it where it stands

         15  now, and do something similar to what they have on

         16  Johnston and in Ohio, by keeping it intact and doing

         17  the development around it, right?

         18                 MS. CHATEL: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And let me ask

         20  you this other question, Ms. Chatel, and I've been

         21  asking you for awhile, has anyone ever done an

         22  alternate plan for Downtown Brooklyn?

         23                 MS. CHATEL: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Where is that

         25  plan?
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          2                 MS. CHATEL: I don't have it.

          3                 The person that you brought to me, I

          4  forget his name.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: He doesn't have

          6  a plan.

          7                 MS. CHATEL: He gave it to Lewis and

          8  I, and it was an excellent plan.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And was that

         10  plan ever forwarded to the City of New York?

         11                 MS. CHATEL: No, it wasn't.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay. What

         13  happened to that plan?

         14                 MS. CHATEL: I have no idea.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         16                 MS. CHATEL: Excuse me?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         18                 MS. CHATEL: It was just Lewis and I

         19  doing research, okay, all these years, and we were

         20  asked to bring in a lot of things, we were asked to

         21  do a lot of things. We were going up against people

         22  that were being paid. We weren't being paid. I had

         23  children to raise, health issues. I mean, who had

         24  time to deal with all these things that was brought

         25  in my face? You know? I dealt with what came in

                                                            201

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS

          2  front that was the most important. I had to deal

          3  with the most important thing.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Other than this

          5  gentleman, has anyone else approached you with

          6  respect to an alternate plan on how to preserve

          7  these homes?

          8                 MS. CHATEL: No, but I came up with

          9  something.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Do you have it

         11  with you?

         12                 MS. CHATEL: No.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay. But you

         14  have something? You have an idea?

         15                 MS. CHATEL: Yes, most definitely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         17                 MS. CHATEL: And that came as a result

         18  of what a developer had said.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And have you

         20  shared your thoughts with this Administration?

         21                 MS. CHATEL: No, I haven't.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         23                 And I ask all of my colleagues to --

         24  I refer all of my colleagues to the oral testimony

         25  of Ms. Joy Chatel, which is in the back of this
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          2  report. It's about ten, 12 pages, and it begins as

          3  follows, and I would hope that it would be

          4  incorporated into this record. It says:

          5                 "My adventure at 227 Duffield Place

          6  began 40 years after my husband's family finally

          7  purchased the house in 1948.  While working long

          8  hours in the salon, on slow days Albert would pass

          9  the time telling stories about his previous wife's,

         10  Vera Jacob Chatel, her family, the community and the

         11  street's involvement with the Underground Railroad.

         12  Knowing I was a history buff, these stories would

         13  intrigue me and hold my fascination for hours.

         14  Albert spoke about the abolitionist activities on

         15  the block, how they sold only to people who were

         16  evolutionary, aggressive and inter-married with

         17  people of like minds."

         18                 It goes on to talk a little bit about

         19  Queen Mother Jordan. It goes on to talk about

         20  Downtown Brooklyn. It goes on to talk a little bit

         21  about more of the Truesdales and their story and

         22  then it ends, and then it goes on to talk about the

         23  Anti-Slavery Society. It goes on to talk about other

         24  family members. It talks about Harriet Lee

         25  Truesdale, who was a militant abolitionist, even
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          2  when she moved to Brooklyn Heights on 14 Hicks

          3  Street in 1838. She continued with her work. Harriet

          4  was true fighter for the cause. She was on the

          5  Providence Women's Anti-Slavery Society. And it goes

          6  on to talk about a number of abolitionists who were

          7  renowned in he abolitionist movement in Downtown

          8  Brooklyn. It talks about the Quakers, which still

          9  has a building in Downtown Brooklyn, which again

         10  were leaders in the Underground Railroad. It talks

         11  about Garrison and how Garrison often times spent

         12  nights over --

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council

         14  member, that's in her book? That's in her report?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It's all in the

         16  report.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Back here?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It's all back

         19  here. I, unfortunately, am a geek and like to read,

         20  so it's all back here.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I didn't

         22  get to the back of the report.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And it ends

         24  with the notion that Truesdales may have been

         25  mulattos, which suggests --

                                                            204

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS

          2                 MS. CHATEL: Thomas Truesdale.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thomas

          4  Truesdale.

          5                 MS. CHATEL: Not Harriet.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Which is why

          7  they worked so diligently to free enslaved people.

          8                 And the fact that they did not give

          9  any credence to this oral history is a sad

         10  indication --

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But they

         12  did put it in the report.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: They put it in

         14  here. Whether or not they gave it any consideration,

         15  but it's in here and I hope that it would be part of

         16  the record and part of the evidence that I'm sure

         17  Ms. Levy is preparing, who is, Ms. Levy is a kindred

         18  soul.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let me also

         21  say, in the absence of Reverend Miller, Reverend

         22  Miller has been in the struggle for justice. He's

         23  been working with on a number of initiatives.

         24  Reverend Miller and Reverend Dyson who were here

         25  earlier are a part of my God Squad, and so whenever
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          2  I need them they come out and assist me.

          3                 And the young lady from Europe, it's

          4  wonderful to meet you. I love your accent, and I'm

          5  glad you're working with the construction workers.

          6                 MS. MUHLMANN: Yes, because they're

          7  the source.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: That's great.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         10                 MS. MUHLMANN: The only problem is

         11  they're going to knock it down if we don't do

         12  something.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I understand.

         14                 And Ms. Chatel, whatever I can do to

         15  assist you, we've been trying to coordinate this. A

         16  lot of the information that was provided to me was

         17  very helpful and we need to go forward again

         18  preparing this legal battle. Thank you.

         19                 MS. CHATEL: Are you saying that what

         20  I prepared, what I got together --

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I think

         22  you guys may have an off-line discussion at this

         23  point.

         24                 MS. CHATEL: Oh, okay.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I'm saying that
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          2  all of the stuff that's in here should be

          3  incorporated into the minutes.

          4                 MS. CHATEL: No, I'm talking about the

          5  ultimate plan. Should I --

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. I

          7  need to keep moving, so Council Member Yassky.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I just want to

         10  say I know Council Member James really got at the

         11  heart of it.

         12                 I just want to say directly to Joy

         13  Chatel, the amount of work that you have put in

         14  here, I mean and I would agree with the woman from

         15  Legal Services, this actually is an important

         16  document. I think it may well be the most, for all

         17  its flaws, you know, this is the most documentation

         18  of Underground Railroad activity in Brooklyn that's

         19  been done today. I think Dr. LaRoche made that

         20  point, and I think she's absolutely right.

         21                 So with all the work that these

         22  people put in, you have put multiples of that into

         23  this, and the heart and effort that you have put

         24  into making sure that the history of the Underground

         25  Railroad in Brooklyn is recognized, appreciated, is
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          2  preserved and is made accessible to people, I want

          3  you to know that that will bear fruit. I believe

          4  that. I think we heard from today -- we heard today

          5  from the folks in the Administration a commitment to

          6  making that history bear fruit. I know that you are

          7  looking for it to bear fruit on 227 Duffield, and I

          8  don't know what was going to happen there. But I do

          9  know that the work that you have put in, which has

         10  been extraordinary, has been a service to all of us

         11  and to Brooklyn and generations to come.

         12                 MS. CHATEL: Thank you, Council

         13  member.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council

         15  member --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And I hope

         17  that you feel --

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:-- You know

         19  we've got to keep moving this hearing.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I do.

         21                 I hope that you can feel that you

         22  will feel some pride and some satisfaction in that,

         23  because the results will be very real and very

         24  tangible. Thank you.

         25                 MS. CHATEL: Thank you, Councilman
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          2  Yassky, and Councilwoman James.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Not me? I

          4  don't get a little thanks.

          5                 MS. CHATEL: Oh. Thank you, Councilman

          6  Comrie.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I just

          8  want to remind you guys that Jessica Lappin is not

          9  here and she owes me big time.

         10                 Lewis Greenstein.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And we stayed.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Lewis

         13  Greenstein. Judith Wellman. Linda Eskenas, and

         14  Beverly Corbin.

         15                 As you're setting up, I have to take

         16  a two-minute break.

         17                 (Recess taken.)

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Is it okay if

         19  they proceed?

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: You can

         22  proceed with your testimony. You can proceed.

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Raul Rothblatt.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

         25  Why don't we go left to right, Ma'am. Please.

                                                            209

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS

          2                 MS. MURRAY: Hi. Yes. My name is

          3  Scherrille Murray, and I'm speaking for Beverly

          4  Corbin. She was not able to make it but she did give

          5  a statement and I would like to hand that in, if

          6  that's possible.

          7                 I also wanted to make a statement

          8  myself about the Duffield Street. It is so valuable

          9  to me and everyone in my community. I grew up in

         10  Brooklyn. I went to school at George Westinghouse. I

         11  know Brooklyn from before and after MetroTech. So,

         12  I've seen the changes. I've been down in Ms.

         13  Chatel's basement, and so I have no doubts that what

         14  she is saying, what everyone else is saying is

         15  accurate.

         16                 What happened here today with RK --

         17  AKRF is what I would call a desensitization of the

         18  facts. The facts to me are clear. You can see it 100

         19  percent. But every fact that someone brings, they

         20  desensitize it. Well, it could be, but it might not

         21  be. And so, you're saying something clearly, but

         22  you're so desensitized to it, you don't pay

         23  attention.

         24                 Councilman Charles Barron referred

         25  earlier to Frederick Laverpool, and he wrote
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          2  something called "Braggin on Brooklyn: Preliminary

          3  Statement. An Application for Historical Landmark

          4  Designation of a Defined Area of Brooklyn." And I

          5  won't read the entire thing, but what I will do is

          6  read the last two paragraphs:

          7                 Currently very few sites have

          8  formally been recognized for their association with

          9  the very critical theme of American history and its

         10  involvement with the Underground Railroad, and

         11  planners of the City should not be the first in line

         12  to eradicate their own American history. The current

         13  locations on Duffield Street and Albee Square West

         14  Street must not be eliminated but investigated,

         15  researched and preserved for future generations to

         16  better understand the quality and the character of

         17  Brooklynites is a must.

         18                 Please just grant me one more moment.

         19  It states, and I'm just going to summarize, that he

         20  had traveled a lot of different places, and he says

         21  personally I have visited Kentucky, Ohio, Tennessee,

         22  Maryland, New Jersey, West Virginia, North and South

         23  Carolina, and areas in Upstate New York, and the

         24  last eight years of my study of the Underground

         25  Railroad and working with individuals in each of
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          2  these states, and the locations they're in. In

          3  relation to the Underground Railroad, I have never

          4  personally experienced an area with such high

          5  concentration of abolitionist-related churches, such

          6  as contained in Downtown Brooklyn in specifically to

          7  Duffield Street.

          8                 So, I just wanted to say I think it

          9  would really be a travesty to tear these buildings

         10  down because this is like what's been said, once

         11  they're gone, they're gone, and that's it.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

         13                 MS. ESKENAS: Hello. Thank you. Linda

         14  Eskenas, Four Boroughs, and also Staten Island

         15  Preservational League, which supports this, and the

         16  West Brighton Restoration.

         17                 The issues involved in the attempted

         18  destruction of our historic, this historic American

         19  site, as well as homes and places of business, these

         20  are of national importance. We are sitting here, but

         21  this is of national importance, and involves many

         22  crucial issues. It has a great effect on the future

         23  of this City.

         24                 This is an obliteration of black

         25  history and the black struggle, and of one of the
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          2  greatest defining moments in our history, in the

          3  history of our country. As Norman Siegel, who could

          4  not be here today, said, "this is a civil rights

          5  issue." And he should know, he was Martin Luther

          6  King's lawyer.

          7                 This extraordinary attempt to

          8  obliterate and denigrate the horrendous struggles of

          9  the black and white people and all of those with

         10  courage enough to fight for human justice, which is

         11  the goal of our country, is in itself a denial of

         12  civil rights. And it's not as if the Civil Rights

         13  Movement never happened. It is also an issue of

         14  immense importance across the country. Eminent

         15  domain abuse. Eminent domain for a private developer

         16  is worse and more heinous, because it is using our

         17  democratic government to destroy our heritage,

         18  taking people's homes and livelihood. This is a

         19  collaboration with a private developer to destroy

         20  this irreplaceable historic place, these homes for a

         21  parking garage.

         22                 Though New York has experienced

         23  scholars who are experts in --

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Time's up.

         25                 MS. ESKENAS: Oh my God.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Your point

          3  has been made. Thank you.

          4                 Next.

          5                 MR. ROTHBLATT: Hi. My name is Raul

          6  Rothblatt. I am with a bunch of organizations,

          7  Central Brooklyn Independent Democrats, Develop,

          8  don't destroy, and 4 Borough Neighborhood

          9  Preservation Alliance.

         10                 A lot has happened today. A lot of my

         11  testimony is not really relevant anymore. I wanted

         12  to talk about the burden of proof in this case is

         13  much higher than AKRF originally presented here, and

         14  I think that's been clear by what's been going on

         15  here. But even in their attempt to whitewash this

         16  history, they provide strong justification, and it's

         17  interesting that there's something in the

         18  conclusions of the executive summary, the printed

         19  executive summary that was left out of the

         20  powerpoint presentation. It says, from their

         21  executive summary,"It is important to note that

         22  while a good faith research effort has been

         23  conducted to learn as much as possible about the

         24  properties and the potential underground

         25  association, the nature of this type of research
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          2  means that more information could be unearthed in

          3  the future.

          4                 So, even they admit that there is

          5  more information that can be found.

          6                 I also want to really emphasize that

          7  the methodology in this document is really, insert

          8  profanity. This document acts like it's

          9  comprehensive, yet it reveals some disturbing flaws.

         10                 For instance, I will repeat the 1855

         11  Perris Map indicated communicating buildings but the

         12  key to this map was left out. The AKRF document

         13  claims to have scoured every newspaper in the

         14  country and the Library of Congress, yet they failed

         15  to mention that a local reporter called Walt Whitman

         16  wrote about an escaped slave in Leaves of Grass. He

         17  describes an escaped slave coming to his home. There

         18  is also the language of the document has constant

         19  use of passive voice, which is they remove

         20  themselves from the whole thing. Leaving their name

         21  off the document was very consistent with the rest

         22  of what they've done.

         23                 They didn't mention their

         24  methodological challenges of not reaching these

         25  people. Why was this left out?
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 Oh, can I, just one last quick

          4  sentence? They may not have misrepresented

          5  Christopher Moore's statement, but they didn't

          6  characterize them correctly.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That was

          8  made clear by Council Member Barron.

          9                 MR. GREENSTEIN: I'm Lewis Greenstein.

         10  I am the owner and resident at 233 Duffield Street.

         11  I am one of those buildings under the decisions

         12  being made.

         13                 I have a lot of material. I'm going

         14  to present it. I'm going to present this to the

         15  group. This is my oral history which did not appear

         16  inside the record because they said I didn't sign a

         17  form, which I did, and that form, I spent six hours.

         18  I will read it to you. I gave six hours of oral

         19  testimony in January 2006. I referred to four men

         20  who had personal knowledge of Carlvin Smith who had

         21  a jewelry stop called "Fun Jewelry." They clarified

         22  any misunderstandings I may have had with my

         23  knowledge of Carlvin a/k/a Carl Smith. In 1971,

         24  Carlvin had left Wilbur Force College (phonetic) and

         25  came to be associated with Suny Carson, Ali Lamont
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          2  and his brother, Jackie Lamont. Carlvin Smith, a/k/a

          3  Carl, owned and operated the jewelry shop from 1978

          4  until his death in 1996 in 233 Duffield Street. If

          5  one is to believe the fabrication that Carlvin's

          6  death was at 35 years of age, that would mean that

          7  he went to Wilbur Force College at ten years old,

          8  and when he went on trial with Suny Carlson he was

          9  13 years ago, he went to prison when he was 14 years

         10  old.

         11                 I showed Delores Walters chapters

         12  from the Redemption of Suny Carson, here's the book

         13  right in front of you. Where on trial, together with

         14  several friends before Carl died. I met Carl in

         15  1977. He owned the jewelry shop, an African shop.

         16  You're trying to tell -- AKRF is trying to say that

         17  this man was 16 years old when I met him, all right?

         18  And I think I know the difference between someone

         19  who is 16 and someone who is in his 20s?

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         21                 MR. GREENSTEIN: I have a lot of

         22  documentation.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Leave a

         24  copy of everything, because what you're talking

         25  about is --
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          2                 MR. GREENSTEIN: I'm giving you a copy

          3  of everything over here. I just want to say a few

          4  things. You have to give me a little extra time.

          5  They reported there is no anomalies, except one

          6  anomaly in my building. This is a capped well.

          7  That's an anomaly. They didn't see it. They don't

          8  want to talk about it. That was Devonshire. He

          9  didn't see this. Right clear view in front of him.

         10  There are lots of documentation. I have spent three

         11  years of my life documenting and researching this

         12  thing. By saying that Carlvin Smith did not exist,

         13  that by putting an S in the middle of his name.

         14  Putting all this other information together, then

         15  they invalidate anything I've said. He is the direct

         16  link between my understanding of the underground

         17  railroad and the underground railroad in my

         18  building. And that's the direct link. And then there

         19  is a lot of other material in here. I gave this

         20  material. I'd like to say you'll have the

         21  opportunity to look this over.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Give it to

         23  the Sergeant-of-Arms.

         24                 MR. GREENSTEIN: Also, in this

         25  computer over here I have records of all of the
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          2  Plymouth Church members from 1837 to 1900, and I

          3  have lots of other information about Brooklyn

          4  directories. I have all this information. If you

          5  want to, I'll gladly share it with you any time you

          6  want to see it.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You can

          9  give us the computer, and we'll --

         10                 MR. GREENSTEIN: I can't give you the

         11  computer. This computer is worth -- I can give you a

         12  CD.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I figured

         14  I'd try. It's late in the day. All right, I really

         15  appreciate you taking the time. I'm sorry to cut you

         16  off, it's just we're running out of time. You can

         17  give the information to Council members and the

         18  Committee. We have another event that's supposed to

         19  start and they actually need to move the chairs into

         20  this room, so I've really got to push the rest of

         21  the meeting. I do appreciate, and I hate to cut you

         22  off but we've got to keep going. So, if you can give

         23  us that information. Not the computer, but the

         24  information.

         25                 The next panel is Jacob Morris,
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          2  Barbara Skinner, and Daniel McCalla and Kevin

          3  Curtis.

          4                 In deference to time, if you have

          5  anything that's repetitive, I'm going to start

          6  cutting people off, because we've all heard it

          7  before. We just want to try to keep you to two

          8  minutes.

          9                 First?

         10                 MR. MORRIS: Jacob Morris. Just to

         11  establish my credentials as a historian.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: No time

         13  for that. Just speak to the point, please.

         14                 MR. MORRIS: Well, my oral history was

         15  the first oral history taken, it's in the report.

         16  And I personally, I wrote the Underground Railroad

         17  Grant for Slavery In New York for the New York

         18  Historical Society, and I basically put Duffield

         19  Street within the framework of New York City's role

         20  in the Underground Railroad, which was huge. And I

         21  want to commend the work of Dr. Swan and Lew both,

         22  because individually at different times they

         23  actually documented the name of every single black

         24  in Brooklyn in approximately the era of 1850. And it

         25  was after the passage of the Fugitive Slave Act that
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          2  more than one-third of the blacks in Brooklyn

          3  disappeared, and the reason for that is that once

          4  the federal government was obligated to execute

          5  warrants for the arrests of freedom seekers,

          6  freedom-seeking blacks, they disappeared because

          7  they were escaped slaves, and they took sanctuary in

          8  Brooklyn. And to have that many disappear and not

          9  have the Underground Railroad in Brooklyn, all you

         10  have to do is look at the map. If you look at the

         11  old maps, you see the routes.

         12                 Now, you, Mr. Chairman, asked about

         13  Heritage New York and the Freedom Trail and their

         14  criteria for inclusion. And of course, everyone has

         15  been talking about the Wellman Scale. What's not

         16  discussed is abolitionism beyond just the

         17  underground railroad is sufficient criteria for

         18  inclusion on the Freedom Trail. The problem with

         19  heritage New York --

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, I'm

         21  running out of time. I had asked you not to do the

         22  precursor. I'm just out of time. I've got to keep

         23  moving. Sorry, do you want to make one point without

         24  expounding?

         25                 MR. MORRIS: Right. The point is, is
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          2  that there is an inherent conflict between historic

          3  significance and architectural integrity. So, if you

          4  don't have architectural integrity, they won't allow

          5  you to include a site of unequivocal historic

          6  significance. So even the site that --

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I've got

          8  it. That's a discussion that we're going to have to

          9  have at another time.

         10                 MR. MORRIS: Right. So, historic

         11  significance. And New York City is atypical in terms

         12  of New York State and the whole United States

         13  because of all the destruction.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I got the

         15  argument. I hate to push, but I gotta move.

         16                 MR. MORRIS: Right.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you

         18  made your point.

         19                 MR. MORRIS: Right. So, basically the

         20  historic --

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Next

         22  person, please.

         23                 MR. MORRIS: -- The historic

         24  significance and abolitionism is category five.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Got it.
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 MR. MORRIS: And that's category five.

          4  That's it.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          6                 MR. MORRIS: So that whole

          7  construction, the steamroller of development, this

          8  was preordained.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Now you're

         10  being repetitive.

         11                 MR. MORRIS: It was preordained.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right.

         13  Next person.

         14                 MR. McCALLA: All right. Good

         15  afternoon. My name is Daniel McCalla. I have no

         16  historical credits to my name. Basically I would

         17  like to thank Councilman Liu for asking a number of

         18  questions on why these houses supposedly can't be

         19  preserved in the Downtown Plan. My only question is,

         20  whatever happened to zoning things like transfer of

         21  development rights, or that section in the Landmarks

         22  Law which allows you to buy air rights from a

         23  landmark across the street.

         24                 Reading this report, I'm actually

         25  fascinated with the short section of the Siloam, not
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          2  the Shalom, Presbyterian Church. Being a former

          3  employee of that church, this report states they

          4  actually found the incomplete membership list of the

          5  church from 1848 or something to 1899. Which is a

          6  little interesting, considering I called former

          7  Church members and they confirmed that the City sent

          8  researchers but they did not have that list. So,

          9  it's very interesting to see how the names on

         10  Duffield Street in the report, how accurate is the

         11  information? The report does not have evidence,

         12  Exhibit A, the membership list, this is where that

         13  name is, the report discusses construction history

         14  of the building. It talks about the buildings have

         15  been altered. I don't know, maybe in your copy, the

         16  building reports have the alteration permits, that

         17  tell the names of the owners, et cetera, et cetera.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you

         20  for your brevity. Next person.

         21                 MS. SKINNER: My name is Barbara

         22  Skinner. I'll try to be very brief. My family owns

         23  the historic landmark home in Brooklyn, and I grew

         24  up in Brooklyn. What we experienced in the sixties

         25  and the seventies in terms of the deplorable race
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          2  relations and the race riots have scarred our

          3  memories for lifetime. The Underground Railroad to

          4  preserve that is so important for this country, it

          5  shows the cooperation and love between the races.

          6                 What I grew up in showed something

          7  very different to that. I want to take a sentence or

          8  two out of Dr. Swan's quotes where he says that

          9  there is ample inferential evidence of a

         10  relationship of Duffield Street residents to the

         11  major churches in the area and ultimately to the

         12  City and State network, but because of the secrecy

         13  of the operation, no historian can comfortably deny

         14  its existence.

         15                 When you look through the enormous

         16  files on file at the Landmarks Commission, what they

         17  discuss is mitigating loss. They say that it's

         18  impractical prior to demolition to do studies to

         19  show corroborating artifacts. I think it's very

         20  clear that the enormous amount of evidence that

         21  we've heard tonight, rather this afternoon,

         22  demonstrates very clearly that, you know, this is

         23  something of absolutely national importance for the

         24  history of this country. It's a testimony to

         25  freedom, it's a testimony to sacrifice. It's
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          2  something that the City of New York needs to

          3  preserve, and I want to stress that you do not have

          4  to use the measuring stick of the National Park

          5  Service, in terms of its demonstrating the criteria.

          6  This one to five, you know, measuring stick. You

          7  have your own authority, you have your own license,

          8  you can landmark these buildings if you see fit. You

          9  do not have to do the governance of the National

         10  Park Service or the Consultants Guide on what is

         11  important to landmark.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Again, I

         14  just want to remind people, we don't have the

         15  authority to vote on this matter. This is an

         16  oversight hearing, and a hearing on, evidentiary

         17  hearing and that's it. We're not going to be voting

         18  on this issue one way or the other.

         19                 MR. CURT: Hi. My name is Kevin Curt.

         20  I work for the New York Hotel Trades Council. We

         21  represent over 25,000 hotel workers in New York

         22  City. We have many hundreds of hotel workers in the

         23  City Council district at issue. I thank you for the

         24  opportunity to read this brief statement.

         25                 Our union is deeply concerned about
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          2  the proposal to destroy property that is highly

          3  probable historical significance, and is most likely

          4  deserving landmark status.

          5                 If indeed this property was used as a

          6  haven in the underground railroad, it would be a

          7  disgrace to lose it so that someone could put up a

          8  parking lot.

          9                 Our City has often been a leader in

         10  respecting history. On the other hand, we're also

         11  the City that tore down the old Penn Station and old

         12  Metropolitan Opera House. In this case, wouldn't it

         13  be better to be prudent?

         14                 It would be a tragedy to dismiss the

         15  historical value of this property and the symbolism

         16  it would have for human rights just so some

         17  developer can make a quick buck.

         18                 I respectfully ask this Committee to

         19  carefully consider this matter before giving another

         20  developer license to make money at the expense of

         21  the entire community.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Are you

         24  speaking on behalf of yourself or President Peter --

         25                 MR. CURT: President Peter Ward.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Peter

          3  Ward, okay. You didn't say that in your --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: The president

          5  contacted my office. He's speaking on behalf of the

          6  president.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And all the

          9  members.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. I

         11  just want to be clear. Tell Mr. Ward I said hello.

         12                 Judith Guttman, Marvin Guttman,

         13  Edward Josey, Tamar McFarlane, Shawne' Lee and

         14  Scherrille Murray.

         15                 Weren't you here before?

         16                 MS. MUHLMANN: Yes. I'm going to read

         17  this for Edward C. Josey, and to give you not a hard

         18  time, I read only one sentence because the rest is

         19  all repetition.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         21                 MS. MUHLMANN: You want to hear it?

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So you're

         23  reading it on behalf of whom?

         24                 MS. MUHLMANN: Edward C. Josey,

         25  President, NAACP.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          3                 MS. MUHLMANN: The homes on Duffield

          4  Street should not be demolished but investigated for

          5  landmark status. That's the most important thing he

          6  says in this thing. The rest is --

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay,

          8  thank you.

          9                 Ms. Guttman.

         10                 MS. GUTTMAN: Always

         11  counter-intuitive. My name is Judith Guttman. I'm

         12  the President of the Parkway Historical Society. I'm

         13  a member of the 4 Borough Neighborhood Preservation.

         14  My remarks are just at the Chair. It's a pleasure to

         15  stand before you, again, Mr. Chairman, as someone

         16  dedicated to preservation of black history in my own

         17  neighborhood. Last time we met I showed you a 1946

         18  letter from President Harry Truman, establishing the

         19  first integrated plan community in New York City, if

         20  not the United States, to house the multi-racial

         21  staff at the UN, Parkway Village, home to Rory

         22  Wilkins and Ralph Bunch. The letter was only an

         23  unsigned copy but you did not toss it aside, instead

         24  you asked me to dig deeper and try to get the best

         25  document closest to the original. It was terrific
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          2  advice.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Are you

          4  talking about this property?

          5                 MS. GUTTMAN: Yes, I am. I'm getting

          6  right to it.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right.

          8                 MS. GUTTMAN: It was terrific advice

          9  and --

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You're

         11  taking the long road.

         12                 MS. GUTTMAN: Sorry. It was terrific

         13  advice, and I am following it. I am here today to

         14  urge the same for Duffield, for the Duffield Street

         15  archive. This potential museum deserves the most

         16  rigorous and independent scholarship. Once buried,

         17  another link to the New York City Underground

         18  Railroad will be forever severed, and we cannot

         19  afford to lose a single link.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         22  I apologize for not making your 40th Anniversary

         23  this week.

         24                 MS. GUTTMAN: Sixtieth.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Sorry,
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          2  60th.

          3                 Martin Guttman. Martin Guttman, oh,

          4  right, you spoke. Tom R. McFarlane. Going once,

          5  going twice? Shawne' Lee. Going once, going twice.

          6  Scherille Murray. Wow. No one else. Anyone else that

          7  desires to speak? Going once, going twice -- she

          8  spoke on that already. She gave the most significant

          9  part and she's a resident. If there was anything

         10  more relevant. We'll take copies of it for the

         11  testimony. We'll take copies of it for the testimony

         12  on record, but I think she interpreted it rather

         13  well. I'll apologize to Reverend Josey, if I see

         14  him.

         15                 With that, I want to declare this

         16  hearing of the Duffield Street landmark -- no,

         17  that's not it. The Duffield Street Underground

         18  Railroad hearing closed. I want to thank all of you

         19  for participating. I think we all learned a little

         20  bit today. And I'll remember to tell Jessica Lappin

         21  that she owes me one.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 3:54 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )
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